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PREFACE

IN this book I have followed the lines taken in former volumes
of the series. I have described Wesley and his work, and
have recorded the progress of the constitution of the Methodist
Church during an important part of the eighteenth century. It
will be seen that Wesley’s ‘ sphere of influence’ suddenly ex-
pands. America takes its place in the list of ‘stations.” I have
devoted considerable space toits introduction into that country.
Having visited America twice, I am aware of the position
occupied by Methodism in the United States to-day. The
Methodists and the Baptists occupy in the States the highest
places among the Protestant Churches. Millions of members
belong to each of them. The task of describing the intro-
duction of Methodism into the American Colonies has not been
easy ; but I have read several of the histories written by men at
different stages of its advance, and have had much help from
American correspondents. As to the latter, I wish to say that,
as I have taken my own course in my description of the
introduction of Methodism into America, my correspondents
are in no case responsible for opinions I have expressed on
questions still in dispute.

I have found that, in matters concerning John Wesley’s
work, my position as President of the Wesley Historical Society
still secures for me many advantages. The ‘ experts’ of the
society have willingly come to my aid. My thanks are hereby
given to them. They are also due to the Rev. John Elsworth,
who is not only an expert in Methodist history but also in
making an index.

June, 1927.
J.s.s.

GO LCEY
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I
ABUNDANT LABOURS

IN 1757, when the London citizen determined to forsake his
shop and spend a day in the fields, his thoughts would probably
turn to Tottenham Court Road and its rural neighbourhood.
It was then a country of meadows and gardens, in which he
could ramble at peace. The lover of *far distances’ had only
to lift up his eyes to see the heights of Hampstead ridged
against the sky. A few houses dotted the intervening space.
If the wanderer had not visited the road for a year he would
be startled by seeing, near its beginning from the High Street,
a new building. Speaking to a passer-by, he would learn that
it was a chapel that went by the name of * Whitefield’s Taber-
nacle.” He would go on his way wondering. It is difficult at
the present time to picture Tottenham Court Road of those
far-off days. But, walking along the crowded pavement, we
must halt, and try to recover the past as we stand near one
of the successors of the building that excited the surprise
of the London citizen in the middle of the eighteenth
century.

On May 2, 1756, George Whitefield wrote to Lady Hunting-
don telling her that he had taken ‘a piece of ground, very
commodious to build on, not far from the Foundling Hospital.’
He informed her that he had opened a subscription list, and
that the amount already contributed was £600. He was con-
vinced that a place in which the gospel would be preached was
needed in that part of the town. It must be remembered that
his conviction had been sharpened by his recent experiences.
He had preached several times in a chapel in Long Acre, and
had roused the fury of the actors in the theatres of that neigh-
bourhood. He had been burlesqued on the stage, and the
Long Acre chapel had become a centre of riotous attack. He
says nothing in his letter about John Wesley’s chapel in West
Street, Soho ; but it is clear that he was convinced it did not

9



BT REEE ABUNDANT LABOURS

: 122 et all the mieeds of the West End of London. Lady Hunting-

don was much impressed by his letter. She and some of her
friends gave him strong financial support; the money con-
tributed soon amounted to a sum that warranted the immediate
erection of the building. At the beginning of June, 1756, the
foundation-stone was laid ; on November 7, in the same year,
the ‘ Tabernacle ’ was opened ‘ for divine worship, according
to the forms of the Church of England.’*

After John Wesley had got possession of the West Street
Chapel he on several occasions consulted Archbishop Potter,
Bishops Gibson, Secker, and Lowth, and was encouraged by
them in his enterprise. He says that they never blamed him
for acquiring the chapel in all the conversations he had with
them ; and that, so far as he knew, no one in England ever
thought that his acquisition of the chapel was ‘leaving the
Church.’* But much had happened since that time. Although
Whitefield intended that divine worship in the new ‘ Tabernacle’
should be conducted ‘ according to the forms of the Church of
England,’ he was aware that something more was required to
protect the chapel against mob attacks. He seems to have
suggested a solution of the difficulty which will interest all who
are acquainted with the history of the Conventicle Act. He
and his advisers agreed that it would be advisable to place the
chapel under Lady Huntingdon'’s ‘ protection.” Those who have
studied the Act will know that special privileges were accorded
to religious meetings held in noblemen’s houses. The right of
search could only be exercised by persons distinctly specified
in the Act, and this provision was of considerable use in
the case of meetings held in Lady Huntingdon’s residence.
Encouraged by this fact, Whitefield and his advisers thought
they had found a way of escape. They took high legal opinion
on the question. That opinion was in accordance with the
anticipation of all who were capable of understanding the pro-
visions of the Conventicle Act. It was as follows : ‘ No noble-
man can license a chapel, or in any manner have one, but in
his dwelling-house ; the chapel must be private, that is, not
with doors to the street, for any persons to resort to at pleasure,
for then it becomes public. A chapel cannot be built and used
as such without the consent of the parson of the parish ; and

1 Life of the Countess of Huntingdon, i. 206-207.
8 John Wesley and the Methodsst Societies, 134-135.



ABUNDANT LABOURS 1

when it is done with his consent, no minister can preach therein
without licence of the bishop of the diocese.” This opinion
caused the ‘ protection scheme ’ to be laid aside ; and White-
field came to the sound conclusion that the chapel must be
licensed under the Toleration Act. He and John Wesley
had already taken that course in the case of some of their
preaching-houses, and the practice slowly and surely became
established.*

‘ Whitefield’s Tabernacle’ was soon filled. It had to be
enlarged, and in after-years it was rebuilt. We will linger for
a while in Tottenham Court Road, in 1757, in order to empha-
size a fact often overlooked. We must remember that the
chapel built in 1756 was not the only ‘ Tabernacle ’ existing
in London ; and we must not forget that in various parts of
this country similar buildings had been erected. As we think
of them we are dissatisfied with the description of Whitefield
once given by an enthusiastic admirer. He likened him to
the angel in the Apocalypse who was seen ‘flying in mid-
heaven, having an eternal gospel to proclaim unto them that
dwell on the earth, and unto every nation and tribe and tongue
and people.” No man stood more firmly on the earth than
Whitefield. We presume that the allegorist was thinking of
Whitefield’s frequent visits to America ; but the figure adopted
scarcely does justice to his concentrated work in this country.
America certainly claimed and received much of his attention,
but what are the facts of the case? In 1755 he returned from
America, and remained in England until 1763. Then, after
spending two years in America, he came back to England in
the summer of 1765 and stayed here for four years. He once
more landed in America in September, 1769. On September 30,
1770, he died there at the early age of fifty-five years. These
figures show how great was the proportion of the time
he gave to England. In this country his work was constant
and remarkably successful. He hastened through England
and Wales, Scotland and Ireland, proclaiming ‘an eternal
gospel’ to multitudes of people. He had his own view of
certain aspects of that gospel. They led him into friendly
differences with other evangelists, but those differences gave
him special opportunities of usefulness in Scotland and Wales.
It is necessary to emphasize the importance and permanence

1 Life of the Countess of Huntingdon, i. 206-207.



12 ABUNDANT LABOURS

of his influence in this country. We remember his own doleful
estimate of its evanescent character when contrasting the
results of his work with those secured by Wesley’s superior
methods of organization; but we think it was made in a
despondent moment. One of the best-known children of
Despondency is Delusion.

While we have lingered in Tottenham Court Road in the
light of the distant past, we have seen more distinctly
‘the parting of the ways’ along which the Wesleys and
Whitefield were travelling. But we must not forget that
their old friendship had been re-established, and that it
prevailed in coming years. Their paths were not far
asunder. The interval between them did not prevent those
who walked in them from speaking cheering words of
salutation. We may dismiss our anxieties concerning the
Wesleys and Whitefield.

In 1757 Charles Wesley discontinued his work as an itinerant
preacher. Every reason for that discontinuance has not been
discovered ; but we think that Thomas Jackson, in his Life
of Charles Wesley, has suggested the direction in which a
successful search might be conducted. Dealing with the
problem, after stating that the reasons for the change of Charles
Wesley’s practice have never been fully disclosed, Jackson
says :

It is probable that they were various, but in the absence of all direct
evidence we have nothing but conjecture to offer. Not a document in
his handwriting, bearing the date of 1757, when he is said to have
become stationary, can be found ; not even the fragment of a letter, of
the same period, addressed to him by his brother; so that no original
testimony bearing upon the question can be adduced. Mr. Berridge,
the eccentric Vicar of Everton, who was partly contemporary with
him, attributes the cessation of his itinerancy to his marriage ; but this
could only be one among other causes. . . . A regard for the feelings
and the society of his wife, with the care of his children, doubtless
contributed to detain him at home; yet the principal cause of his
settlement, in all probability, was the state of feeling which existed in
many of the Societies and preachers with regard to the national Church.
He deemed it a matter of absolute duty that they should all remain
in strict communion with her. His brother thought separation highly
inexpedient ; but he could not view it in that heinous light in which it
appeared to Charles. In reference to this subject he was therefore
inclined to moderate counsels, and satisfied himself with gentleness and
persuasion in dealing with those who were disaffected towards the
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Establishment ; while Charles was prepared for the adoption of strong
and compulsive measures. Here was, therefore, an obvious difficulty.
Charles could not visit the principal Societies in Great Britain and
Ireland as a mere friend, or as one of the preachers. He must appear
as possessing a co-ordinate authority with his brother; and, as their
views differed so very materially, they could not, in regulating the affairs
of the Societies, act in perfect concert. Hence he appears to have
thought it the best course for him to retire, and leave the people and
preachers generally in the hands of John, whose talents for government
were of the highest order. Charles could write hymns with a facility
and a power which no man of his age could equal ; and few could surpass
him as an awakening and effective preacher ; but he had no aptitude
for controlling and harmonizing the discordant spirits of men. For
the maintenance of discipline in cases of difficulty his faculties and habits
were not at all suited. His uprightness, generosity, and the kindness of
his heart were unquestionable, but his impetuosity created prejudice,
and left a soreness in the minds which his brother could easily conciiiate
and direct. Though he ceased to travel, his union with the Methodists
remained to the end of his life, and he rendered most important service
to the cause of true religion, though in a more limited sphere than he
had been accustomed to occupy.:

Thomas Jackson'’s carefully expressed opinions do not cover
the whole case, but they help us to understand some of the
reasons of Charles Wesley's retirement from the work of an
itinerant preacher. We watch that retirement with regret.
But it is well to cultivate the habit of searching for bright light
in a dark cloud. We find it, in this case, in the fact of Charles
Wesley's long residence in Bristol. We have had exceptional
opportunities of studying Bristol Methodism. We have
known some of the ‘ ancients ’ who could recall incidents of the
days immediately following the death of John Wesley. Charles
Wesley occupied a high place in their esteem. The Methodism
of Bristol has been distinguished by its special tone. Making
inquiries concerning its origin, we have often been assured
that it has arisen, in great part, from the long residence of
Charles Wesley in the city. His home was in Bristol from
September, 1749, to May, 1771.

The Methodists of Bristol had reason to be content with
Charles Wesley’s decision, but it greatly increased the weight
of the burden John Wesley had to bear. We must now fix
our attention on John Wesley, and watch him as he carries on
his work during this period of transition. In estimating the

! Jackson's Life of Charles Wesley, ii. 135-136.
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weight of the burden he had to carry we must remember that,
at the time, he had not regained his full physical strength. We
admire his courage ; but our sympathy is often aroused when
we see him forcing his way through a mass of difficulties which
his conscience would not permit him to avoid. In London,
in addition to preaching in the Foundery and other places, it
must be remembered that, at West Street, Snowsfields, and
Spitalfields, the sacrament of the Lord’s Supper had to be
administered. At West Street the number of communicants was
very great. He says that his services there on a Sunday ‘ took
him up between four and five hours’; and we know that
preaching and giving the sacrament at West Street was only
a part of his Sunday work in London. If we follow him
during the opening months of 1757, we shall understand his
position.

On Sunday, February 6, John Wesley merely says that the
number of communicants at Spitalfields made the day ‘ a little
more laborious’; but on Sunday, February 27, we hear a
painful note of weariness. After the service at Snowsfields
he found himself much weaker than usual ; he feared he would
not be able to go through the work of the day, which he
estimated as being ‘equal to preaching eight times.” It is well
known that under all trying circumstances he was accustomed
to resort to private prayer. That habit reveals the secret of
his victorious life. Thinking of West Street and the sacrament
there, he asked that God would send him help. As soon as he
had done preaching at ‘ the Chapel’ a clergyman, who had
come to town for a few days, offered to help him. His comment
is: ‘So when I asked for strength, God gave me strength ;
when for help, He gave this also.’” On Saturday evening,
March 12, he was at Snowsfields. He tells us that ‘ for the
want of time and help ’ it had become necessary to preach and
administer the Lord’s Supper there once a month. At the
close of the service he was exhausted, and a vision of the next
day’s work at West Street depressed him. Once more he
prayed, entreating God to send him * help at the Chapel.” To his
relief, a clergyman ‘he had never seen before’ offered to
assist him. His load became lighter. He preached at West
Street on Sunday, March 13, and the load must have been
lifted altogether from his mind. When he commenced the
sacramental service he found another clergyman at his side.
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Let us look at his companion. He had been ordained ° priest ’
that morning, and had hastened from Whitehall to West Street
because he feared that Wesley would have no one to help him.
Who was he? His anglicized name was John Fletcher. We
see the radiance of Wesley's gladness in his words: ‘ How
wonderful are the ways of God! When my bodily strength
failed, and no clergyman in England was able and willing to
assist me, He sent me help from the mountains of Switzerland !
And a help-meet for me in every respect. Where could I have
found such another !’

John Fletcher occupies such a prominent place in the history
of Methodism that we must pause to point out the links that
united him with Wesley. He was born on September 12, 1729,
at Nyon, in Switzerland, a town about fifteen miles north of
Geneva. His father had been an officer in the French service,
but had left it when he was married. After a time he became
a colonel in the militia of his own country. When his son,
John Fletcher, was very young he sent him to the University of
Geneva, hoping that he might become a clergyman. But in
this he was disappointed. John Fletcher’s heart was set on
the army. Notwithstanding all persuasion, he determined
to have his own way. Without the consent of his parents he
went to Lisbon, gathered together a company of his own
countrymen, accepted a captain’s commission, and engaged to
serve the King of Portugal on board a man-of-war that was
getting ready to sail to Brazil. Before the ship sailed he met
with an accident, which disabled him for a time. The ship
sailed without him. She was lost at sea and heard of no more.
John Fletcher left Lisbon, his passion for the military life being
undiminished. An uncle, a colonel in the Dutch service,
procured for him a commission. He set out for Flanders.
But once more he was disappointed. Peace was proclaimed,
and his vision of the chance of fighting vanished. His uncle
died soon afterwards, and with great regret, John Fletcher
abandoned his intention of being a soldier. At this crisis it
occurred to him that ‘it would not be amiss to spend a little
time in England.’

Landing in England, he found himself in difficulties arising
from his slight knowledge of the language. Hearing of an
opening in a school at South Mimms, in Hertfordshire, which
belonged to a Mr. Burchell, he went there and began to study
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English. When the school was removed to llatfield he went
with it. The charm of his character had captured Mr.
Burchell, ‘ who loved him as his own son.” In 1752 a French
minister who had made his acquaintance procured him a
place as tutor to the two sons of Mr. Thomas Hill, who lived
at a mansion then called Tern Hall, in Shropshire. Mr. Hill
was a Member of Parliament. It was his custom to take his
family with him when he went up to London to attend the
sessions of the House of Commons. A journey when John
Fletcher was one of the company arrests our attention.
Stopping at St. Albans, the tutor went out to see the town.
He stayed so long that Mr. Hill set out for London without
him, leaving a horse for him to ride. Fletcher got back to the
inn, mounted his horse, and overtook the party in the evening.
Mr. Hill asked him why he had stayed behind. This was his
explanation : ‘ As I was walking, I met a poor old woman,
who talked so sweetly of Jesus Christ that I knew not how
the time passed away.” Mrs. Hill then said, ‘ I shall wonder
if our tutor does not turn Methodist by and by.” He replied,
‘ Methodist, madam ! Pray what is that ?’ She answered,
‘ Why, the Methodists are a people that do nothing but pray ;
they are praying all day and all night.” ‘ Are they ? ’ said he.
‘ Then, by the help of God, I will find them out, if they be
above ground.” He discovered them in London and was
admitted to the Society. From that time, whenever he was
in London, he met in the class of Mr. Richard Edwards.

John Wesley was of opinion that it was in January, 1754,
in the second year after Fletcher had removed to Tern Hall,
that the great change in his religious experience occurred.
After much mental conflict he saw clearly his way to the
Cross, and rejoiced in the assurance of the forgiveness of his
sins. All his bonds were broken ; he breathed a purer air;
he was able to say with confidence, ‘ The life I now live, I live
by faith in the Son of God, who loved me, and gave Himself
for me.” His joy in the deliverance that had come to him made
him an evangelist. He began to exhort others to ‘ behold
the Lamb of God who taketh away the sin of the world.’
Then came the conviction that he ought to seek for ‘ orders’
in the Church of England. We have seen him at Whitehall
in 1757, and have watched him as he hurried to assist John
Wesley at the West Street Chapel. At this point it is only
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necessary to say that he was not only diligent in preaching
in the chapels at West Street and Spitalfields, but wherever
the providence of God opened a door he proclaimed the gospel.
He preached, not only in English, but, under special circum-
stances, in French. Spitalfields, the home of many Huguenot
weavers, furnished him with opportunities for preaching
in his native language. Having pointed out the links
uniting the man from °the mountains of Switzerland’
with the weary worker in London, we must again fix our
attention on John Wesley.!

On February 28 John Wesley went to Norwich. He had
long desired to see ‘ the little flock ’ there, but had hesitated
to revisit the city, because, by one of the provisions of his
lease of the Norwich Foundery, he was bound to rebuild part
of that structure, and he had not the money for the work.
At last the money was given him, ‘ by one of whom he had no
personal knowledge ’ ; so he rode off with a light heart. Stay-
ing for a few days in Norwich, he returned to London with
Thomas Walsh, who had been preaching in the city ‘ not with-
out a blessing.” On March 14 he went to Canterbury with
Walsh. He preached in the evening and the next morning.
The morning service delighted him. He was refreshed in
spirit at the sight of the large number of soldiers who crowded
to hear him. His comment is significant. He says, ‘ And is
not God able to kindle the same fire in the fleet which He has
already begun to kindle in the army?’ He returned to
London ; once more John Fletcher assisted him in administer-
ing the sacrament. It seemed as if light was breaking through
the clouds that had oppressed him. On Good Friday, April 8,
he met the Society in London, and read over and enlarged
upon Joseph Alleine’s Directions for a Thorough Conversion
to God. The members were deeply impressed, and Wesley
desired those who were able to meet him on Easter Monday
to come to Spitalfields, so that they might renew their vows
of service. On Monday evening about twelve hundred
members of the Society responded to his appeal. This
Covenant Service made great demands on his strength. He
had expected help, but was disappointed. He says: ‘I held
out till between seven and eight. I was then scarce able to

! Wesley’s Works, xi. 276-289, 8vo ed. In this book references to Wesley’s Works
are to the 1831 ed. -
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walk or speak, but I looked up and received strength. At
half-hour after nine God broke in mightily upon the congrega-
tion. ‘ Great ” indeed ‘‘ was our glorying ” in Him ; we were
“filled with consolation.” And when I returned home
between ten and eleven I was no more tired than at ten in
the morning.’

On Tuesday, April 12, John Wesley set out, at five o’clock
in the morning, on a tour of visitation of the Midland and
Northern Societies. He seems to have had companions,
but their names are not mentioned. He had not ridden more
than two hours when rain began, which was driven by ‘a
most furious wind." It was one of those seasons in which
storms sometimes continue through Aprilinto May. For weeks
Wesley had to face the howling wind and lashing rain, but he
went steadily on his way. Reaching Bedford, he found that
his home was to be with Mr. William Parker, the mayor.*
He was heartily welcomed. His opinion of the mayor is
recorded in his Journal ; it may be commended to the con-
sideration of high municipal authorities : * He hath not borne
the sword in vain. There is no cursing or swearing heard in
these streets ; no work done on the Lord’s Day. Indeed, there
is no open wickedness of any kind now to be seen in Bedford.
Oh, what may not one magistrate do who has a single eye and
a confidencein God ! ° He was much impressed by the mayor’s
vigorous policy, and preached that evening and the next
morning ‘ the law as well as the gospel.’

Following John Wesley in his long journey through the
Societies, it is necessary to remember that his visitation
occurred during the distracting time of the Seven Years’ War.
That war affected many countries; indeed, it seemed as if
all the principal nations of the world had met in the shock of
arms. Owing to the fact that a Hanoverian king sat on the
English throne, British troops shared the perils, defeats, and
triumphs of Frederick the Great in some of his battles against
Austrian, French, Russian, and other continental armies.
Confining ourselves to that aspect of the war which more
especially concerns our own country, we note the fact that
the Seven Years’ War, by sea and land, was carried on, not
only in Europe, but also in India and America. At the point
we have reached, the anxiety in England concerning the result

! For William Parker see John Wesley's Journal, iv. 84-86.
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of the war had nearly reached the dangerous stage of panic.
It was well that during this critical period the victories of
Clive in India and the triumphs of our fleet nearer home
brought relief to the over-strained feelings of the British
people. The wild excitement with which victories were
celebrated may be taken as a measure of the depression that
had been caused by the unfortunate events which marked
some of the earlier stages of the war. As time went on, the
apprehension of defeat and the fear of invasion gradually
subsided ; but that stage of confidence had not been reached
in 1757 when John Wesley rode through England.

When this country is in danger, the popularity of the navy
and army is suddenly increased. It did not need the hoisting
of the signal to create Wesley’s enthusiasm for sailors and
soldiers. Those who have followed his career will have had
evidence of that fact. He was often indebted to soldiers for
protection against mobs, and for the help they gave him in
his evangelizing work. In the °first race’ of Methodist
preachers the names of several soldiers will be found. We
also meet with some instances in which the origin of Methodist
Societies may be traced to old army men who, settling in
towns and villages, gathered a few people together, and cared
for their religious condition before Wesley and his preachers
visited the neighbourhood. We have seen how quickly Wesley
saw the uniform in his Canterbury congregation. We will now
follow him as he travels to Leicester. On Thursday, April 14,
he left Bedford. In the evening he preached in Leicester,
probably in a building that was known as ‘ The Barn,” which
stood in Millstone Lane. He found a congregation there
which he estimated at a thousand people. Forty or fifty
soldiers were present. John Brandon, the leader of a small
Society, was also there. Brandon had been a dragoon, and
had settled in Leicester. It is probable that he was the first
Methodist in that town.* We judge that he was the pioneer
preacher in Leicester, and remained there for a considerable
time. A letter which Wesley wrote to his clergyman friend,
Walter Sellon, on December 1, 1757, suggests that fact. Sellon
had wished him to send an additional preacher to Leicester,
Ashby, and the adjacent places; and Wesley replied, ‘ Only

! According to Myles, Brandon became a lay preacher in 1755 ; he retired from the
work in 1766. Chronological History, 446, fourth ed.
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prevail upon John Brandon to spend a month or two in London,
or any other part of England, and I will immediately send
another. . . . But during the present scarcity of labourers
we cannot spare a second for that small circuit till you spare
us the first.’*

Leaving Leicester on Friday, April 15, John Wesley and
his companions turned their horses’ heads towards Birming-
ham. They had intended to go by the straight road, but
found the constant storms had made it ‘scarce passable’;
so they were obliged to go round by Coventry. However,
they reached Birmingham in the evening. The next day
Wesley met the Society and spoke to each member. His
comment shows his concern. He says, ‘ What havoc have
the two opposite extremes, Mysticism and Antinomianism,
made among this once earnest and simple people! Had it
not been good for those men not to have been born, by whom
these little ones have been offended? ° In the afternoon he
rode to Dudley and preached. On Sunday he had intended
to preach in Birmingham in the open air, but was prevented
by the streaming rain ; and so he had to find shelter in the
‘house.” He was going to Wednesbury, and he prayed that
God, if He saw good, would stay ‘ the bottles of heaven’ for
the sake of the people there. He set out in the drenching
rain with his companions. As they approached the town
the rain stopped, and he preached twice in the open air to
great congregations. As soon as he finished the evening
service the rain returned and continued during a great part
of the night. On Tuesday, April 19, we see him riding between
Nantwich and Poole. Suddenly a thick black cloud came
across him and his companions. A violent wind rushed upon
them ; it nearly bore them off their horses. It was fortunate
that the danger soon passed, ‘ the wind fell, and the cloud
bore clear away.” The next day Chester was reached, the
congregation in the evening being quiet and serious. To
Wesley’s joy, he found that the Society, which had passed
through many turmoils, was nearly a third part larger than
when he was there in the previous autumn.

On Thursday, April 21, Wesley rode to Liverpool. The
condition of the Society there demanded special attention.
A lay preacher, who had been received in 1755 and expelled

! Wesley’s Works, xiv. 200, 8vo ed.
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in 1757, had produced a great disturbance; about half the
Society had been swept away. It was necessary that Wesley
should stay for several days in the neighbourhood in order
that he might repair the damage that had been done. On
Sunday he attended the services in St. Thomas’s Church.
It had been consecrated in 1750, and the Methodists regarded
it as their ¢ parish church.” At the time when he attended the
services there—in April, 1757—it bore evidence of the destruc-
tive force of ‘ the great storm.” The upper part of the high
spire had been blown down. The roof of the church and the
gallery, pews, and pavement had suffered from the descending
masses of stone. Sitting among the ruins, Wesley heard two
timely and suggestive sermons, one on ‘ Counting the cost
before we begin to build,” and the other on ‘ Be ye angry, and
sin not.” He thought that both sermons were ‘ exactly suit-
able to the present case of many in the congregation.’:

When Wesley left the neighbourhood of Liverpool he made
his way to Yorkshire. Visiting Haslingden, he listened to
the stories concerning the earthquake near Heptonstall, which
had also been felt by many persons at Bingley and in the
neighbourhood of Preston. It had been preceded by a hoarse
rumbling, and the tremor of the earth had run, from east to
west, nearly sixty miles. He was intensely interested in
natural phenomena, and we can imagine the keenness with
which he listened to the stories of the people who had felt the
shock. When he visited Roughlee, the centre of the persecu-
tions we have described in another place, he met with an
experience which confirmed his convictions concerning the
dangers of tranquillity. He found that those who had ‘ stood
firm in the storm had melted away in the calm.’* He was
saddened by the news. He went on to Keighley. At the
beginning of the service he had ‘ neither voice nor strength
left ° ; but he gave out his text and began to preach. Then,
after awhile, his voice was strengthened and his message
was clearly delivered. On Saturday, May 21, he had ‘ a little
conference ' with the preachers in Keighley. We have no
record of the subjects that were considered, but suppose they
related to questions which had arisen in the immediate neigh-
bourhood. In the afternoon he went to Bingley, and on that

1 St. Thomas’s Church stood midway between the Custom House and Pitt Street
Chapel. 1t was demolished in ?06.
3 See John Wesley and the Advance of Methodism, 102, 115.
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May day he must have been charmed with the music ringing
through ‘the throstle-nest of England.” He preached to
an audience that impressed him by its ‘ gentility,” and still
more by the way in which his straightforward sermon was
received. The next day, after preaching at Bingley at five
o’clock in the morning, he mounted his horse, and, with a
companion, rode to Haworth. ‘A December storm’ met
them on the mountain, but a great congregation gathered in
the church for the service. After the sermon, nearly a thousand
communicants were present at the administration of the
sacrament. In the afternoon, as the church would not con-
tain more than a third of the people, he went into the church-
yard and preached to the multitude. As soon as he began
to speak the rain came down; but no one seemed to regard
it. They bhad come to hear the great preacher, and listened
to him in spite of the storm.

On Monday, May 23, John Wesley and his companion set
out on a long ride. They took horse at four o’clock in the
morning. They were going through the Lake District. Those
who are familiar with  lake rain ’ will understand the signifi-
cance of his entry in his Journal: ‘It rained till noon without
any intermission, and we had heavy showers in the afternoon.’
However, he reached Ambleside. Resting there, he set out,
on the next day, for Whitehaven, going by way of Keswick.
He confesses that when he got within a few miles of White-
haven he was so tired that he could scarce either ride or walk.
He had to preach in the evening. But his usual remedy of
‘ more work for overwork ’ acted. Before he had preached a
quarter of an hour all weariness was gone. On Wednesday
he was in the saddle again. He rode through a desolated
country. He was surprised to see, not only hedges and
shrubs without a green leaf upon them, but abundance of
trees likewise naked as in the depth of winter. Upon inquir-
ing about the cause of the desolation, he was told that, some
time before, a violent wind had gone through this part of the
country. It had thrown down chimneys, walls, and barns;
it had torn up trees; it had scorched every green thing it
touched as with fire, so that all the leaves immediately fell
off. Not only bushes and fruit-trees, but elms, oaks, and
firs, had withered away to the very roots.

On Whit-Monday, May 30, we hear the voice of John Wesley
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as he is preaching in the Wigton market-place at noon. Then
we see the travellers mounting their horses and riding towards
Solway Firth. They crossed it, and pursued their journey.
On June 1 we catch sight of them on the road to Glasgow.
When they are about a mile from the city they are greeted
heartily by a horseman who had ridden out to meet them.
He is no stranger to us. He is the Rev. Dr. Gillies, Wesley’s
friend, and his host on a former visit to Glasgow.* Dr. Gillies
again entertained him. In the evening Wesley preached in
the yard of the poorhouse. A ‘tent’—that is, a covered
pulpit—had been placed there for his accommodation; it
fronted the infirmary. Most of the patients were at or near
the windows. Adjoining the infirmary was the hospital for
lunatics. After he had preached, an event occurred which
throws light on his advance in wisdom and charity. Four
children were brought to him to be baptized. Which form
of administering the sacrament should he adopt? In earlier
days that question would have been swiftly answered. But,
since those times, he had learned many a lesson that had
broadened his views. He had been at the kirk in the morning
when several children had been baptized ; and, in the Glasgow
poorhouse, he adopted the Scottish method, to the great
satisfaction of those who witnessed the ceremony.

After preaching the next morning at a place not named,
Wesley went in the afternoon, probably with Dr. Gillies, to
the college, and saw the new library and the collection of
pictures. He had the artist’s eye and temperament, and he
rejoiced in the pictures of Raphael, Rubens, Van Dyck, and
other great painters. He regretted that, owing to the small-
ness of the building, there was not room to place these pictures
of the great masters to advantage. The next day he walked
through all parts of the old cathedral, ‘ a very large and once
beautiful structure.’” With his companion he went up ‘the
main steeple,” and got a prospect both of the city and the
surrounding country. He says, ‘ A more fruitful and better
cultivated plain is scarce to be seen in England. Indeed,
nothing is wanting but more trade, which would naturally
bring more people, to make a great part of Scotland no way
inferior to the best counties in England.” It is refreshing to
watch him in his moments of relaxation from work, and to

1 John Wesley and the Advance of Methodism, 247.
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listen to the enthusiastic expressions of his delight in things
that are venerable and beautiful.

On Sunday, June 5, Wesley was in the presence of the crowd
once more. Preaching in the open air in the afternoon, it
was judged that two thousand people, at least, went away
not being able to hear; but several thousands heard very
distinctly, ‘the evening being calm and still.” After the
preaching he met a number of persons who were members of
‘the praying Societies.” Wesley earnestly counselled the
members to meet Dr. Gillies every week, and gave them the
sound advice ‘not to talk loosely and in general, as their
manner had been, on some head of religion, but to examine
each other’s hearts and lives.’ In that counsel he struck
the predominant note of the Methodist class-meeting.

On Monday, June 6, Wesley began his journey toward
England. The records in his Journal show that small Methodist
Societies had been formed in several places in Scotland ; but
in them he missed the vivacity which characterized so many
of those south of the Border. Before he reached Newcastle
his physical trouble recurred ; but he held on his way. He
reached the Orphan House on June 14, and for the rest of the
month he made it the centre of incessant work in the towns
of the neighbourhood. In glancing over the records in his
Journal we notice several entries that are worthy of mention ;
but we will content ourselves by indicating two which have
exceptional value. He holds up the Society of colliers at
Plessey as a pattern to all the Societies in England. ‘ No one
ever misses his band or class; they have no jar of any kind
among them, but with one heart and one mind * provoke one
another to love and to good works.” * That shows the opinion
of Wesley as to the spirit which should exist in every Methodist
Society. Then, as to the administration of discipline in those
distant times, we notice an event which occurred at Sunder-
land. After preaching there in the evening, he met the
members, and told them that none could stay in the Society
unless he would part with all sin—particularly robbing the
King, selling or buying run goods, which he could no more
suffer than robbing on the highway. This he enforced on
every member the next day. A few would not promise to
refrain ; so these he was obliged to ‘cut off.” About two
hundred and fifty were of a better mind. The ‘ smuggling ’
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evil existing in Sunderland he had faced in Cornwall, and he
knew the mischief it had done in the Western Societies.
Strengthened by experience, he faced the evil. In the course
he took he was carrying out the Rules of the Society. He was
true to the principle that the deliberate and continued breach
of any of those rules made a member liable to exclusion. He
lived in the days of heroic and salutary administration.



II
SAMUEL WALKER

DuriING the month of July, 1757, John Wesley completed his
visitation of the Midland and Northern Societies. Then he
made his way to London, where the Conference met on
Thursday, August 4. Once more we are disappointed. The
Journal reference to the proceedings of the Conference is brief.
We know that the business occupied a week, and that conversa-
tions on important subjects occupied considerable time ; but,
so far as John Wesley’'s Journal is concerned, we have to
content ourselves with the assurance that ‘ from the first hour
to the last there was no jarring string, but all was harmony and
love.” But we cannot dismiss this Conference without making
further inquiries. Wesley’s assurance suggests that some of
the subjects considered might have disturbed the calm of those
halcyon days. We will put aside the Journal and look else-
where for information.

Consulting the Lives of Early Methodist Preachers, we find a
few sentences which show that the Conference of 1757 con-
sidered a question of finance that possesses great interest.
They occur in the Life of Alexander Mather, who became
conspicuous among the early preachers. John Wesley had
great confidence in him. About 1754 he employed him as a
leader of a band in the London Society, and also as the leader
of a class. But he saw that he was fitted for still higher
service. In the beginning of March, 1756, he asked him to go
with him to Ireland as a travelling preacher. He consented ;
but he said that if he abandoned his business his wife would be
left without any maintenance. Wesley at once promised that
Mrs. Mather should be provided for during her husband’s
absence. Mather thought it would be wise to see the stewards
of the London Society and consult them on the subject. He
did so. They asked him, ‘ What will be sufficient for your
wife 7 ° He answered, ‘ Four shillings a week.” But this small

26
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sum they were unwilling to allow; so Mather stayed at his
business. However, in August, 1757, we judge that the
Conference took up the matter, and tried to make an arrange-
ment for the support of the wives of the preachers. Mather
says : ‘ This was the beginning of the settlement for preachers’
wives ; which, with the addition of four guineas a year,
continues to this day.” Myles, commenting on this fact, states
that before Mather’s admission as a travelling preacher ‘ the
preachers’ wives and families were very badly provided for ;
sometimes the stewards attended to their wants, and at other
times overlooked them. At all times their provision was
precarious.’* We know that Wesley in previous years had
sought to make arrangements for the maintenance of the
preachers’ wives and children ; but Mather and Myles are right
in pointing to 1757 as the time when a decisive step was taken
to meet a serious difficulty.

The need of a solution of the problem of the support of the
preachers’ wives is revealed in a letter written by John
Nelson to Charles Wesley on March 17, 1758.* The postscript
casts light on the difficulty we are considering. Nelson’s
spelling is rather eccentric; but, reduced to modern English,
the postscript is as follows :

This part I would have you keep to yourself, for if I be hurt I would
not have any one to be hurt with me. I think you will sympathize
with me, and pray for me, for I am cut off from ever coming to Bristol
or London again without God works a miracle. For that I had towards
supporting my family from London is taken off, and the stewards have
sent me a letter that I must expect no more help from them ; and we
have but ten shillings per week in all. And that is to keep a servant
out of, and wages to pay to her, which takes four shillings at least out
of it; and we have coals and candles for the house, and soap to find,
which will take two more, and all the good of the house to find, and keep
in repair, and my meat when in the Round, and in my absence another
preacher for it. So that my family hath not one shilling a week to find
them both meat and clothes, so that I am going to hew stone again,
and I think to quit the house, for after near eighteen years’ labour I
find it will not be meat and clothes. O sir, pray for me that I faint not
at last. This keeps my head above water, to see that God continues
to convert sinners by my word, and that so many finish their course
with joy. So that I think He will either provide or take us to Himself.

; 1 L;vesdo] Early Methodist Preachers, ii. 171 ; Myles's Chronological History, 81,
ourth ed.
t The letter will be found in W.H.S. Proceedings, iv. 104-105.
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I desire that no one may know of this but yourself till I see how
matters will turn.

This ‘ cry from the deep ' moves our compassion. It increases
our admiration for John Nelson ; but he would have been the
first to confess that other preachers also bore the cross of
poverty in that day of heroic suffering.

We must now pursue our search for further light on the
proceedings of the Conference. After it was held, John Wesley
visited the Societies in the West of England. On Septem-
ber 16 we see him at Helston, in Cornwall. He had been busy
among the Cornish Societies, but at last found an opportunity
to write a long letter to Samuel Walker of Truro. In this
letter we get information concerning an important part of the
proceedings of the Conference. The paragraph from his
letter we are about to quote is not to be found in the well-
known third edition of his Works, edited by Thomas Jackson ;
but we find it in an abbreviated copy of this Helston letter in
the Arminian Magazine of 1780—that is, in a magazine which
was published by Wesley.* The paragraph is as follows:
At our late Conference I proposed the question, ‘“ What can
be done in order to a close union with the clergy who preach
the truth?” We all agreed that nothing could be more
desirable. I, in particular, have long desired it, not from any
view to my own ease or honour, or temporal convenience of
any kind, but because I was deeply convinced it might be a
blessing to my own soul, and a means of increasing the general
work of God.” This recovered paragraph establishes the fact
that at least one aspect of ‘ the Church question’ was con-
sidered at the Conference of 1757. If the Conference confined
its attention to the question stated by Wesley we can under-
stand the harmonious character of its proceedings. But when
we read the Helston letter to Samuel Walker, which deals with
many other points, we find it difficult to believe that the
conversation had no wider range.

We have no desire to disturb the repose of the long con-
troversy between John Wesley and Samuel Walker. Time
has given its verdict on the questions they discussed. But at
this point it will be useful to make some reference to that con-
troversy as it reveals the position of Wesley at the time when

} Tyerman, in his Life and Times of John Wesley, reproduces the magazine version
of the letter. See ii. 279-281.
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it occurred. It must be remembered that the correspondence
between Wesley and Walker continued for several years, and
that it was characterized by goodwill and courtesy. The dis-
putants were friends ; their frank declaration of their strong
convictions never interfered with that friendship. Walker
was a staunch and enthusiastic Church of England man;
Wesley had a great regard for the Church, but was keenly
conscious of its defects.

We have in our possession a letter from John Wesley to
Samuel Walker dated November 20, 1755. Jackson included
it in his edition of Wesley’s Works.* Wesley in this case seems
to have availed himself of the assistance of an amanuensis ;
but the letter was signed and directed by him. The following
interesting postscript appears in the writing of the amanuensis :
* All but the last paragraph of this I wrote three weeks ago.
But the serious illness of my wife prevented my finishing it
sooner.” In the first paragraph Wesley mentions a letter
which he had received from the Rev. Thomas Adam, the
Rector of Winteringham, in Lincolnshire, which he had
answered. In Wesley’s Works, a letter to Adam is printed
which bears the date October 31, 1755. The date strengthens
our conviction that the letter to Walker was written in the
same year.

In Wesley’s letter to Walker we have an opportunity of
seeing some of the opinions concerning the Church of England
he held in 1755. We have made a reference to these opinions in
our book on Jokn Wesley and the Advance of Methodism ; but
we must deal more fully with this important matter at this
stage. In the 1755 letter Wesley says:

1. Those ministers who truly feared God, near an hundred years ago,
had undoubtedly much the same objections to the Liturgy which some
(who never read their works) have now. And I myself so far allow the
force of several of those objections that I should not dare to declare my
Assent and Consent to that book in the terms prescribed. Indeed they
are so strong, that I think they cannot safely be used with regard to
any book but the Bible. Neither dare I confine myself wholly to Forms
of Prayer, not even in the Church. I use indeed all the Forms; but I
frequently add Extemporary Prayer, either before or after Sermon.

2. In behalf of many of the Canons, I can say little ; of the Spiritual
Courts, nothing at all. I dare not therefore allow the authority of the

} Works, xiii. 174. In the Works it bears the wrong date—* October, 1758.’
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former, or the jurisdiction of the latter. But I am not yet required to
do it. So that difficulty does not lie yet.

3. Whether it be lawful to attend the ministrations of one whom I
know God has not sent to minister, seeing he expressly disclaims that
call of God which is at least as necessary as the call of man, is really a
question which, as I said before, I cannot answer to my own satisfaction.
Neither can I tell.

4. How far that command of our Lord, ‘ Beware of False Prophets,’
obliges me to refrain from hearing such, who put darkness for light and
light for darkness, I am still in doubt ; whether quietly attending them
while they do this be not, in effect, the bidding them God speed, the
strengthening their hands in evil, and encouraging others to hear them,
till they fall into Hell together.

I am still desirous of knowing in what particular manner you think
the present work of God could be carried on without the assistance of
lay preachers. This I will fairly weigh, and give you my thoughts
upon it.

Some little things occurred to me in reading over your sermons, which
I had a desire to communicate to you. In the great points I cannot
observe any difference between us. We both contend for the Inward
Kingdom, the mind that was in Christ Jesus, the Image of God to be
new-stamped upon the heart. I am sometimes much discouraged at
finding so little of this in myself. Assist, both with your advice and
prayers, your very affectionate brother and servant.

In this letter we see that in 1755 Wesley admits that he
shares some of the opinions of the Nonconformists of the seven-
teenth century, and objects to several matters which appear
in the Liturgy. He had been studying the history of the period,
and had been impressed by the experiences of his grandfathers,
John Westley and Samuel Annesley. He felt that the Non-
conformists had been true to conscience, and that the opinions
for which they had suffered could be defended. As to the
Canons, he could say little in favour of many of them. He
goes further when dealing with the Spiritual Courts ; he has
not a word of commendation for them. He confesses that
he dare not allow the authority of the Canons or the jurisdic-
tion of the courts. As to declaring his ‘ Assent and Consent
to everything contained in the Book of Common Prayer,’
that was impossible. We remember that before his ordination
he had scruples concerning the Athanasian Creed, but subdued
them. The more he studied the contents of the Book of Com-
mon Prayer the keener was his conviction that it needed
stringent revision.* Another point arises out of the 1755

1 In this matter he occupied the position now held by a multitude of the clergy
and members of the Church of England.
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letter. Dealing with the question of attending the ministry
of a clergyman who makes no pretence of being called of God
to the Christian ministry, he confesses that his judgement is
in suspense; he cannot determine the question to his own
satisfaction. We must remember that this problem confronted
thousands of the members of his Societies in places where
ungodly and persecuting ministers occupied the pulpits of the
English Church. It is well to have such a frank unveiling of
the secret convictions of John Wesley. It enables us to under-
stand his hesitation and reticence. But the hour for open
speech struck after a time ; the word for which many waited
was at last clearly uttered.

Turning to the letter written by Wesley when he was in
Helston in 1757, we note that in it there are no signs of retreat
from the position he had taken up two years before.* The
principal point discussed in the Helston letter concerns a
question which had been asked in the London Conference :
‘ What can be done in order to a close union with the clergy
who preach the truth?’ The Conference had decided that
such a union was desirable, but did not devise any scheme by
which it might be effected. We presume it was understood
that serious difficulties were in the way, and that such a union
could not be brought about without careful consideration.
The number of evangelical clergy in the country at that time
was small, and any union with them would affect only a few
parishes. The Methodist Societies were rapidly increasing.
In some towns large preaching-houses had been built. In
them, as in the ‘houses’ in the country, congregations had
been gathered together and Societies had been formed consist-
ing of members of the Church of England, Dissenters, and
persons who had not been accustomed to attend any place of
worship. It had been suggested that the Methodists should
withdraw from all towns and villages in which there was a
clergyman ‘ who preached the gospel,” and that the Methodist
Societies should be handed over to him. It was a startling
proposal, and could not be hastily adopted. The Helston
letter gives us some light on the difficulties of the problem.

It is interesting to see how this plan would have worked in
Cornwall. In the Helston letter the name of Mr. Vowler
occupies a prominent place. He was the curate of St. Agnes

! For the Helston letter, see Weslcy’s Works, xiii. 169-174.
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and was one of Samuel Walker’s friends. On Sunday, Sep-
tember 4, Wesley was in St. Agnes, and went to church twice.
He was much impressed with Mr. Vowler’s preaching. He
describes it in striking words. He says that he preached ‘ two
such thundering sermons as he had scarce heard for twenty
years.” Mr. Vowler was delighted to see him in the congrega-
tion and invited him to his house. He went, and they had a
hearty conversation with each other. This visit to Mr. Vowler
had an important result. Samuel Walker heard of it from
Wesley, and the news stirred him up to put a series of questions
to his informant which have a strict bearing on the matter
now under consideration.

Wesley, in his letter to Walker, had expressed his belief that
Mr. Vowler was ‘a gracious person, and a gospel minister.’
This statement evoked the question, ‘ Why did you not, in
justice to your people, leave them to him?* Wesley’s reply
was ‘ (1) No one mentioned or intimated any such thing, nor
did it once enter into my thoughts. But if it had, (2) I do not
know that every one who preaches the truth has wisdom and
experience to guide and govern a flock. I do not know that
Mr. V., in particular, has. He may, or he may not. (3) I
do not know whether he would or could give that flock all the
advantages for holiness which they now enjoy: and to leave
them to him, before I was assured of this, would be neither
justice nor mercy. (4) Unless they were also assured of this,
they could not in conscience give up themselves to him ; and
I have neither right nor power to dispose of them contrary to
their conscience.’

In Walker’s letter to Wesley he had declared that the
Methodists belonged to Mr. Vowler ‘ by legal establishment.’
That assertion looks strange in the light of the present day ;
but in the eighteenth century it was often made. Wesley’s
reply indicated his clearer view. He held that, so far as the
law was concerned, if the members of his Societies received the
sacrament from a clergyman three times a year, and attended
his ministrations on the Lord’s Day, they satisfied all the
requirements of the law. But he was not content to ignore
the fact that in his Societies throughout the country a host of
people had no wish to be considered members of the Church
legally established. He, therefore, asked this question, ‘ Do
you think that the King and Parliament have a right to
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prescribe to me what pastor I shall choose? If they prescribe
one which I know God never sent, am I obliged to receive him ?
If he be sent of God, can I receive him with a clear conscience
till I know heis? And even when I do, if I believe my former
pastor is more profitable to my soul, can I leave him without
sin? Or has any man living a right to require this of me? ’
He closes this part of his reply to Walker’s question by assert-
ing that, even in the case of ‘ gospel ministers’ in England,
before he could leave his Societies to them with a clear con-
science all the considerations he had indicated must be weighed.

John Wesley knew the condition of opinion in the Methodist
Societies throughout the country better than any other man ;
and he was convinced that any attempt to hand them over,
even to ‘gospel ministers,’ would be resented. He says,
‘ With regard to the people: Far from thinking that * the
withdrawing our preachers ”’ from such a Society without their
consent would prevent a separation from the Church, I think
it would be the direct way to cause it. While we are with them
our advice has weight, and keeps them to the Church: but
were we totally to withdraw, it would be of little or no weight.
Nay, perhaps resentment of our unkindness, as it would appear
to them, would prompt them to act in flat opposition to it.
** And will it not be the same at your death? ”’ I believe not ;
for I believe there will be no resentment in this case, and the
last advice of a dying friend is not likely to besosoon forgotten.’:

These quotations from the Helston letter will be sufficient
to indicate the trend of this part of the correspondence
between Wesley and Walker. It will be admitted that Wesley’s
replies to Walker’s criticisms are worth consideration. But a
solemn voice was soon to be heard that emphasized them.
Time’s solutions of difficult problems often seem to be delayed ;
but, now and again, it speaks quickly. Wesley’s letter was
dated September 16, 1757, and on July 30, 1758, Mr. Vowler
died. We know nothing concerning his successor. He may
have been ‘ a gospel minister ’; if not, we have reason to be
thankful for the firm stand that John Wesley took against the
suggested withdrawal of his preachers from the parish of St.
Agnes. The difficulties involved in Samuel Walker’s proposal
receive another melancholy illustration. On April 27, 1760,
Walker preached his last sermon in Truro. His strength had

! Wesley’'s Works, xiii. 170~-171.
Cw
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failed ; it was imperative that he should rest. He sought
recovery at the Hot Wells in Bristol, and in other places ; but
those who watched him with deep affection saw that the end
was near. In December he accepted an invitation from the
Earl of Dartmouth to stay with him at his residence in Black-
heath. But, though nursed with great kindness and skill, it
seemed impossible he could recover. A few weeks before his
death he removed to a lodging near the earl’s house. There
he died, on Sunday, July 19, 1761, in his forty-eighth year.
He had previously requested to be buried in the parish in which
he should die, so he was laid to rest in the Lewisham church-
yard.

In our book on John Wesley and the Advance of Methodism,
we have described the formation of Walker’s Societies in Corn-
wall.* Those connected with St. Mary’s Church, Truro, were
divided into two classes, the first consisting of men only ; the
second, of married men, their wives, and unmarried women.
What became of this Society ? After Walker’s removal from
Truro the majority of his ‘ people ' seceded from the parish
church and met in a ‘room.” The writer of an interesting
article in the Proceedings of the Wesley Historical Society tells
us that these seceders formed * the nucleus of a new Independ-
ent Society in the town.” The reason of their secession was
that, with the death of Samuel Walker, ‘ gospel preaching ’
ceased to be heard in St. Mary’s Church. In process of time
the ‘ room ’ gave place to a Congregational chapel which was
erected in 1770. We leave these incidents to the reflections
of the reader.?*

John Wesley’s visitation of the Societies in Cornwall lasted
until the end of September, 1757. He found much to encour-
age him; his jJournal is bright with records of interesting
incidents. On Tuesday, September 6, he went to Camborne,
and rejoiced to hear that the gentleman who ‘ pressed ' Thomas
Maxfield no longer persecuted the Methodists, and would not
allow any one else to persecute them. With his usual eagerness
to record the good deeds of those who had been his opposers
he tells us that during the dearth that had just occurred
in the neighbourhood this influential man had relieved great
numbers of the poor and saved many families from perishing.*

1 See 297-298. * W.H.S. Proceedings, iv. 191-192. .

? For Thomas Maxfield’s *impressment’ see Jokn Wesley and the M ethodss:
Socseties, 350-351.
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We find another record which allures us. We have seen
Wesley at Helston, sitting at a table and writing his famous
letter to Samuel Walker. Now we find him turning over the
pages of a book that has captured his attention. It had been
published in 1754. Its title was Observations on the Antiquities,
Historical and Monumental, of the County of Cornwall. We do
not wonder at his interest in it. He often reminds us of Words-
worth’s assertion, ‘ We live by admiration, hope, and love.’
All who have followed him sympathetically know that
wonderful things made a strong appeal to him. Sometimes
they led him into speculative excursions in which we decline
to follow him. But we can imagine how he would turn over
the pages of this book, and revel in its descriptions of Cornish
antiquities. He becomes enthusiastic in his praise of the
author. He says, ‘ He is a fine writer, and quite master of his
subject, who has distinguished with amazing accuracy the
ancient Saxon monuments from the more ancient Roman, and
from those of the Druids, the most ancient of all.” Modern
research among the monuments of prehistoric times has made
the antiquary cautious in his reference to the Druids. He
would probably shake his head over the words ‘amazing
accuracy ' in Wesley’s eulogium. Still, we venture to think
that his admiration of the work of the writer of the book he is
reading gives us an opportunity of seeing one of the outstanding
features of his character. Who was the writer? He was
Dr. William Borlase, one of the fiercest persecutors of Wesley
and the Methodists in Cornwall.®

Another incident that occurred during this visit to Cornwall
enables us to see ‘ the living Wesley.” When he preached at
Redruth on Sunday, September 18, he saw many French
prisoners ‘ mixed with the usual congregation.” They were
on parole, having given their word of honour not to attempt
to escape. The Seven Years’ War was at its height. We have
seen that Wesley had enthusiastically supported the English
Government in these days of bitter trial.* His loyalty to
his own country was without a flaw; but the sight of the
French prisoners roused his sympathies. In the evening he
preached at Gwennap to a great congregation. It rained all
the time, but none went away. We gather from one of his

1 See John Wesley and the M ethodsst Socseties, 188, 250~253.
3 John Wesley and the Advance of Methodssm, 316.
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remarks that the French prisoners were there again. He says,
‘ A shower of rain will not fright experienced soldiers.” He was
deeply interested in ‘ his friends the enemy.” He inquired about
them, and of them he records ‘a remarkable occurrence.’
We will relate it in his own words. ‘A few days ago some
hundred English, who had been prisoners in France, were
landed at Penzance by a cartel ship. Many of these passed
through Redruth, going home, but in a most forlorn condition.
None showed more compassion to them than the French.
They gave them food, clothes, or money, and told them, “ We
wish we could do more, but we have little for ourselves here.”
Several who had only two shirts gave a naked Englishman one.
A French boy, meeting an English boy who was half naked,
took hold of him and stopped him, cried over him a while,
and then pulled off his own coat and put it upon him !’ That
is a bright picture shining through the mirk of war.

John Wesley got back to Bristol on Saturday, October 8.
He had to ride in heavy rain for several miles. He took cold,
and was obliged to rest for a week. Then, on Sunday, Octo-
ber 16, he recommenced his work. He paid special attention to
the classes. It is useful to note his comments on the condition
of the spiritual work in several places in the neighbourhood
of Bristol. At Kingswood he found the members ‘steady,
but not zealous ’ ; his warning words have still their lesson for
modern Methodists : ‘ It is impossible they should stand here
long ; they must go on, or go back.” On the Monday he was
in his element among ‘ the honest colliers ' at Coleford. He
says, ‘These have the zeal which their brethren at Kingswood
want ; in consequence of which they are the most numerous
as well as the most lively Society in Somersetshire.” The next
day he preached at Bradford-on-Avon. He found himself in
the presence of a very different congregation. They were
‘ well dressed and well bred,” and yet ‘the Coleford spirit’
was among them ; they cheered him by ‘ their evident hunger
and thirst after righteousness.” He needed the encouragement
he found at Coleford and Bradford, for the condition of the
Society in Bristol was disappointing. The Society, which
had consisted of nine hundred members, had shrunk to little
more than half that number. Wesley, who ‘lived by hope,’
was much concerned. In his record of the Bristol shrinkage
we hear an unusual note of depression: ‘ We were indeed
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brought very low.” But before he left the city a new song was
put into his mouth. On Friday, October 28, a solemn fast was
observed ; and from that time the work of God revived in
Bristol.

It was during this visit that Wesley’s power of endurance
was severely tested. On October 25 he was riding back to
Bristol after preaching at Bath and Eastcott, near Lavington,
on the preceding day. Reaching Hanham, a man stopped him
and told him that the school-house at Kingswood was burnt
down. It was an exaggerated report. When Wesley rode up
to the big school, that had cost him so much labour and dis-
appointment, he found that, though the building had been
on fire, it had wonderfully escaped destruction. The roof
and the floor beneath had been damaged ; the rest of the
school had received but little harm. And so the cloud of a
threatened calamity passed away.

When Wesley got back to London on November 7 he rejoiced
to find that the revival flame which had cheered him in Bristol
had also begun to shine there. It was ‘increasing more
and more.” This was encouraging. He visited Norwich
and other places; then, when he returned from the country,
he found that he had to calm a tumult caused ‘by some
imprudent words spoken by one who seemed to be strong in
the faith.” He had the parties concerned face to face, but
failed to reconcile them. From this failure modern ministers, -
who have tried to ‘ compose disputes’ among good people,
may receive consolation. In December he managed to secure
a short rest at Lewisham, where he spent several days in finish-
ing A Preservative Against Unsettled Notions sn Religion. He
explains that it was designed for the use of all those who were
under his care, but chiefly for the young preachers. In Green’s
Wesley Bibliography we get a full view of the object and the
contents of this valuable collection of tracts. As to the object,
Mr. Green says, ‘ Wesley found that many of the members
of his Societies had been shaken from their steadfastness by
false teachers. Anxious to protect his flock, he, like a faith-
ful shepherd, strove to make the defences round the fold more
secure. With this end in view he collected together a number
of pamphlets which he judged contained pithy and forcible
arguments against the several seductive teachings that were
producing such disastrous results. Some of these pamphlets
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were original, and had been already published ; others were
adapted from various writers ; and all were now incorporated
in a single volume.” There were thirteen tracts in all, and
in the Bibliography their titles are recorded, and their contents
are briefly described.* '

In the Christmas week Wesley rode to Bristol. So came
to an end that busy year in which he had to assume the heavy
burden of the chief oversight of the Methodist Societies in
this country. We have followed him with sympathy, for it is
clear that much of his work was done when his health was not
equal to his task. But he dwelt near the source of the healing
streams of spiritual refreshment; and his perfect trust in
God made him strong to face and conquer all his difficulties.

1 Green's Wesley Bibliography, No. 191.



III
NEAR AND FAR HORIZONS

THE collection of pamphlets published by John Wesley towards
the end of 1758, under the title A Preservative Against Unsettled
Notions sn Religion, closes with a contribution from his own
hand. It is entitled ‘ Reasons Against a Separation from the
Church of England,’ and it demands special attention. It
contains a clear statement of John Wesley’s opinions concern-
ing such a separation a¢ that time. We have frequently directed
attention to John Wesley’s attitude towards the Established
Church, and we must now try to understand it more clearly.

When the first Conference was held in London, in 1744, the
question was asked, ‘ Do you not entail a schism on the Church ;
i.e. is it not probable that your hearers after your death will
be scattered into all sects and parties ? or that they will form
themselves into a distinct sect? ° The answer of the Con-
ference was: ‘1. We are persuaded the body of our hearers
will, even after our death, remain in the Church, unless they
are thrust out. 2. We believe, notwithstanding, either that
they will be thrust out, or that they will leaven the whole
Church. 3. We do, and will do, all we can to prevent these
consequences which are supposed likely to happen after our
death. 4. But we cannot with good conscience neglect the
present opportunity of saving souls while we live, for fear of
consequences which may possibly or probably happen after
we are dead.’* The decisions of the first Conference, if they
had been remembered in modern controversies, would have
prevented much irrelative discussion.

During the interval between 1744 and 1758 ‘ the thrust’
had been continuous. In many cases it had been administered,
or directed, by clergymen who organized and often led the
mobs that assailed the Methodists. Many of the Methodists
had refused to enter churches in which they were insulted and

1 See John Wesley and the Methodsst Socseties, 213.
»
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repelled from the sacraments. John Wesley sympathized
keenly with his persecuted people; he watched the action
of the clergy with indignation. But his love for the Church
of England was strong, and he was often in ‘ a strait betwixt
two.” Then he began to find that the question of ‘separation’
could not be put aside until his people answered it after his
death. We have indicated in John Wesley and the Advance
of Methodism some of his approaches towards a solution of the
problem. In a letter to his brother, dated June 23, 1755, he
mentions the case of Mr. Gardiner, who had been excom-
municated by the Bishop of London for preaching without a
licence. He and Charles Wesley had been threatened, in 1739,
with a similar fate by Archbishop Potter ; and he must have
remembered that event.* With Mr. Gardiner’s experience
in view, he says in his letter to his brother: ‘It is probable
the point will now be determined concerning the Church.
For if we must either dissent, or be silent, actum est! We have
no time to trifle! ' * Aware of his danger, and resolved on his
course, he continued his study of the constitution of the
Established Church. In 1756 he reduced the results of his
investigations to writing, and prepared to publish them. But
Samuel Walker, having seen his manuscript, and knowing
his opinions on the defects of the Church, persuaded him to
abandon his intention on the ground that his book would
rouse much angry discussion. He accepted Walker’s advice,
but retained his opinions. He was, therefore, left in the position
indicated in his letter of June 23, 1755. If the ecclesiastical
authorities silenced him he would sever his connexion with the
Established Church.

John Wesley went on his way, but the restlessness in the
Methodist Societies respecting attendance at the churches
caused him much concern. He was in no danger of forgetting
the policy accepted by the first Conference. He determined
to do all he could to prevent the consequences that were likely
to happen after his death. So, in 1758, he published his
Reasons Agasnst Separation from the Church of England. Let
us examine them.

Whether it be lawful or not (which itself may be disputed, being not

1 John Wesley and the Relsgious Societies, 305.
3 Jackson's Life of Charles Wesley, ii. 86.



NEAR AND FAR HORIZONS 41

80 clear a point as some may imagine), it is by no means expedient for
us to separate from the Established Church :

1. Because it would be a contradiction to the solemn and repeated
declarations, which we have made in all manner of ways, in preaching,
in print, and in private conversation ;

2. Because (on this as well as on many other accounts) it would give
huge offence to those who seek and desire occasion, to all the enemies
of God and His truth ;

3. Because it would exceedingly prejudice against us many who fear,
yea, who love God, and thereby hinder their receiving so much, perhaps
any further benefit from our preaching ;

4. Because it would hinder multitudes of those who neither love nor
fear God from hearing us at all ;

5. Because it would occasion many hundreds, if not some thousands,
of those who are now united with us, to separate from us; yea, and
some of those who have a deep work of grace in their souls ;

6. Because it would be throwing balls of wild-fire among them that
are now quiet in the land. We are now sweetly united together in love.
We mostly think and speak the same thing. But this would occasion
inconceivable strife and contention, between those who left, and those
who remained in the Church, as well as between those who left us, and
those who remained with us ; nay, and between those very persons who
remained, as they were variously inclined one way or the other ;

7. Because, whereas controversy is now asleep, and we, in great
measure, live peaceably with all men, so that we are strangely at leisure
to spend our whole time and streagth, in enforcing plain, practical, vital
religion (O what would many of our forefathers have given to have
enjoyed so blessed a calm ?), this would utterly banish peace from among
us, and that without hope of its return. It would engage me for one,
in a thousand controversies, both in public and private (for I should be
in conscience obliged to give the reasons of my conduct, and to defend
those reasons against all opposers) ; and so take me off from those more
useful labours, which might otherwise employ the short remainder of
my life ;

8. Because to form the Plan of a New Church would require infinite
time and care (which might be far more profitably bestowed), with
much more wisdom and greater depth and extensiveness of thought
than any of us are masters of ;

9. Because from some having barely entertained a distant thought
of this, evil fruits have already followed, such as prejudice against the
clergy in general; and aptness to believe ill of them ; contempt (not
without a degree of bitterness), of clergymen as such, and a sharpness
of language toward the whole order, utterly unbecoming either gentle-
men or Christians ;

10. Because the experiment has been so frequently tried already,
and the success never answered the expectation. God has, since the
Reformation, raised up from time to time many witnesses of pure
religion. If these lived and died (like John Arndt, Robert Bolton, and
many others) in the churches to which they belonged, notwithstanding
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the wickedness which overflowed both the teachers and people therein,
they spread the leaven of true religion far and wide, and were more and
more useful, till they went to Paradise. But if upon any provocation
or consideration whatever, they separated, and founded distinct parties,
their influence was more and more confined ; they grew less and less
useful to others, and generally lost the spirit of religion themselves in
the spirit of controversy ;

11. Because we have melancholy instances of this even now before
our eyes. Many have, in our memory, left the Church, and formed
themselves into distinct bodies. And certainly some of them from a
real persuasion, that they should do God more service. But have any
separated themselves and prospered ? Have they been either more
holy or more useful than they were before ?

12. Because by such a separation we should not only throw away the
peculiar glorying which God has given us, that we do and will suffer all
things for our brethren’s sake, though the more we love them, the less
we be loved ; but should act in direct contradiction to that very end,
for which we believe God hath raised us up. The chief design of His
providence in sending us out is undoubtedly to quicken our brethren.
And the first message of all our preachers is to the lost sheep of the
Church of England. Now would it not be a flat contradiction to this
design to separate from the Church? These things being considered,
we cannot apprehend, whether it be lawful in itself or not, that it is
lawful for us; were it only on this ground, that it is by no means
expedient.

Modern readers who examine these Reasons Against Separa-
tion from the Church of England will be impressed by the facts
that they contain several ‘ open questions,” and that John
Wesley fails to strike the resounding note of ‘ finality ’ in his
paragraphs. But they produced considerable effect at the
time of their publication. With one exception Charles Wesley
approved of the Reasons. When endorsing them he said,
‘I think myself bound in duty to add my testimony to my
brother’s. His Twelve Reasons against our ever separating
from the Church of England are mine also. I subscribe to
them with all my heart. Only with regard to the first, I
am quite clear that it is neither expedient, nor lawful, for me
to separate ; and I never had the least inclination or tempta-
tion so to do. My affection for the Church is as strong as
ever ; and I clearly see my calling ; which is, to live and die
in her communion. This, therefore, I am determined to do,
the Lord being my helper.’:

As Charles Wesley was gradually retiring into the back-
ground we must now fix our attention on John Wesley, whose

1 Myles's Chronological History, 81-84, fourth ed.
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influence with the Methodist preachers and people was becoming
predominant. On Saturday, January 14, 1758, he arrived in
London after his visit to Bristol. He was hoping to have a
little rest; but, if disappointed, he determined to welcome
work. - It soon came. The following Tuesday we see him on
his way to Wandsworth, that town shadowed by sad memories.
It is probable that, as he rode along, he brooded over the
condition of the little Methodist Society there. It had endured
severe persecution and had only escaped extermination by the
heroic struggles of a few faithful people. He calls Wandsworth
a ‘desolate place’; but he knew that deserts sometimes
‘ blossom abundantly.” He went on his way. News had come
to him that a gentleman from America who had settled in the
little town for a time wished to see him. Arriving at his house,
he found that a room had been prepared for a service. He
preached, and must have looked at his congregation with
exceptional interest. His zeal for foreign missions had been
shown by his departure for Georgia in long years before, and
it flamed in his heart to the end of his life. In the little
audience in Wandsworth he saw two negro servants and a
mulatto who belonged to his host. He watched them as he
preached, and they appeared to be ‘ much awakened.” The
thought that came into his mind and remained there was,
‘ Shall not His saving health be made known to all nations ? ’
At a subsequent service held on November 29, 1758, he had
the joy of baptizing the two negroes. His memorable entry
in his Journal is ‘ One of these is deeply convinced of sin, the
other rejoices in God her Saviour, and is the first African
Christian I have known. But shall not our Lord, in due time,
have these heathens also ‘‘ for His inheritance "’ ? ’

We are now in the presence of one of those incidents in John
Wesley’s career which remind us of the existence of an Unseen
Worker who brings men together from the ends of the earth,
and by their contact carries out His own profound designs.
Let us retire from the crowd for a time and strengthen our
faith in God by a few moments of quiet reflection. Who was
this gentleman from America? What had been his history ?
What was the result of his association with John Wesley ?

The name of the man who welcomed Wesley into his house
in Wandsworth was Nathaniel Gilbert. He was the son of
the Hon. Nathaniel Gilbert, who possessed a large estate in
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the island of Antigua. The Hon. Nathaniel Gilbert had a
second son named Francis, who will come prominently into
our story. The two young men pursued different paths.
Nathaniel was a planter and became the Speaker of the House
of Assembly in Antigua. Francis was placed by his father in a
large mercantile concern in St. John's, the chief town of the
island, which stands at the head of one of its principal bays.
Unfortunately, Francis Gilbert fell under the influence of a
man who led him astray. He became so much involved in
doubtful proceedings that he fled the island. For a time he
found refuge in Jamaica ; then he sailed to England. We
watch his progress until we see him in London in contact with
the Wesleys. Their influence over him was powerful.
Through attending their services he was led to think on his
ways. Light from the Cross, which brings new life to men,
shone upon him. He became a member of the Methodist
Society in London. Soon he was filled with an intense desire
that his brother in Antigua should share his experience of
salvation. He gathered up some of John Wesley’s publications
and sent them out to Nathaniel Gilbert. Among them Wesley’s
Appeals were included. They made a deep impression on his
brother. They kindled in him a strong desire to have a
personal interview with the author of such sane and heart-
searching pamphlets. He determined to go to England. He
left Antigua with his wife and some of their household servants ;
and that is why we have seen the little group listening to
John Wesley in the house at Wandsworth.

During this visit to London, Nathaniel Gilbert often heard
John Wesley preach, and we know that he also entered into
the brightness of the new life. When he returned to Antigua
in 1759, he told his friends and neighbours of the change he
had experienced. Then he commenced to hold meetings for
the religious instruction of his own slaves and those of the sur-
rounding estates. In these meetings, at first, he confined
himself to the reading of sermons and the singing of hymns.
It was inevitable that he should go further. He began to do
the work of an evangelist ; and, as people were impressed by
his exhortations, he was led to adopt the Methodist plan and
to gather them into classes. Some of the members of his own
family assisted him in his work ; and, after a time, he had the
joy of seeing a considerable number of negroes and others
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who, having entered into his religious experience, wished to
place themselves under his care. And so he kept on working,
hidden in the distance, watched by his Divine Master’s eye.
During his visit to England he had been introduced to John
Fletcher and had tried to persuade him to go with him to the
West Indian Islands and preach ‘ the glorious gospel of the
blessed God ’ to the planters and their slaves. In Tyerman’s
Life of Fletcher there is a letter that shows the result of his
appeal. Writing to Charles Wesley, on March 22, 1759,
Fletcher says: ‘ A proposal has lately been made to me to
accompany Mr. Nathaniel Gilbert to the West Indies. I have
weighed the matter ; but on one hand I feel I have neither
sufficient zeal, nor grace, nor talent, to expose myself to the
temptations and labours of a mission in the West Indies; and,
on the other, I believe that if God calls me thither, the time
is not yet come. I wish to be certain that I am converted
myself before I leave my converted brethren to convert heathen.
Pray let me know what you think of this business. If you
condemn me to put the sea between us, the command would
be a hard one, but I might possibly prevail on myself to give
you that proof of the deference I pay to your judicious advice.’
We cannot profess to be disappointed with Fletcher’s decision.
Nathaniel Gilbert won the honour of being the first Methodist
missionary. He stands at the head of a noble procession. He
died suddenly in 1774, leaving behind him in St. John’s,
Antigua, a Society of sixty members. His work did not
perish; it was threatened, but it endures.?

In recording the events of 1757 we tried to give some idea
of the work which had to be done by John Wesley when, owing
to his brother’s settlement in Bristol, he became solely respons-
ible for the supervision of the Methodist Societies throughout
the country. He had to bear a burden which often taxed
his strength to the uttermost. Up to the present we have
followed him closely, but now we must pass by many incidents
in his life and confine our attention to those events which are
of exceptional importance.

On Friday, February 3, 1758, Mr. Parker, the ex-Mayor of
Bedford, preached at the Foundery in London. We connect
this visit with the fact that on Friday, March 10, in St. Paul’s,

1 See Bretherton's Early Methodism sn and around Chester, 72-73; Moister’s
Hisstory of Wesleyan Missions, 111 ; Tyerman's Life of Fleicher, 36.
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Bedford, John Wesley preached the Assize sermon before a
very large and attentive congregation. His text was, ‘ We
shall all stand before the judgement-seat of Christ.” The
sermon was published at the request of the High Sheriff,
William Cole. The judge, Sir Edward Clive, immediately
after the service, sent Wesley an invitation to dine with him ;
but he excused himself, as he had to set out on the first stage
of his journey to Epworth. On Monday, March 13, he preached
in the shell of the ‘ new house ’ in his native town.

After visiting Manchester, Bolton, and Liverpool, Wesley
sailed to Ireland, where he stayed for more than four months.
His days, as usual, were crowded with work ; and the Societies
throughout the country received the inspiration of his presence
and counsel. We note that on Saturday, June 17, he met
Thomas Walsh in Limerick, and was saddened by seeing that
his old friend was ‘ but just alive.” Three of the best physicians
in the neighbourhood had attended him, but had given him
no hope of recovery. They agreed that by straining his voice,
and by frequent colds, he had contracted pulmonary consump-
tion. The disease had reached its last stage, and was beyond
the reach of human help. We seem to listen to Wesley'’s sigh
as he wrote in his Journal the melancholy words, ‘ Oh, what
a man, to be snatched away in the strength of his years!
Surely Thy judgements are a great deep !’ On the following
Wednesday Walsh was present at the ‘little Conference'’
held in Limerick. Fourteen preachers assembled. Wesley
sums up the business transacted in these words: ‘ We settled
all things here which we judged would be of use to the preachers
or the Societies, and consulted how to remove whatever might
be an hindrance to the work of God.” In a footnote the
editor of his Journal directs a ray of light on the proceedings
of the Conference. We hear Thomas Walsh pleading for a
preacher against whose doctrinal opinions objection had been
raised. This is what he is saying : ‘ Brother Davis is a wise
and good man, and these objections to his phraseology will
soon be done away when he becomes more acquainted with
the writings of the Methodists.” Wesley was of the same
opinion ; and Mark Davis continued to receive appointments
until 1769, when he retired from the itinerant work. On
April 8, 1759, Thomas Walsh died, to the great sorrow of the
Wesleys and the Societies. When he felt that the end of his
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journey was in sight he went back to Ballylin, the place of his
birth. Then he removed to Dublin, where he passed away.
He was interred in a graveyard which was subsequently
enclosed as the burial-ground of the parish of St. Nicholas
Without. In this ‘ resting-place ' many of the early Methodists
of Dublin sleep awaiting the day of resurrection ; and pilgrims
still seek out the grave of Thomas Walsh, and stand there
thinking quietly of that valiant soldier in the army of the
Lord.® ’
Ballylin is a name that quickens the attention of all whose
eyes watch the on-going ways of Methodist world-history.
The place lies near the settlements of the Palatines. We do
not wonder at Crookshank’s statement that, in his last sick-
ness, Thomas Walsh received the attention, not only of his
own family, but also of ‘ the Guiers, Emburys, and Hecks.’
When we described the work of Nathaniel Gilbert in Antigua
we felt that the curtain hiding the Western world was begin-
ning to move. But the names of these Palatines convince us
that it will soon ascend. Who can resist the suggestions of
this entry in Wesley’s Journal, made on Friday, June 23, 1758 ?

I rode over to Courtmatrix, a colony of Germans, whose parents came
out of the Palatinate about fifty years ago. Twenty families of them
settled here; twenty more at Killeheen, a mile off ; fifty at Ballin-
garrane, about two miles eastward ; and twenty at Pallas, four miles
farther. Each family had a few acres of ground, on which they built
as many little houses. They are since considerably increased in
number of souls, though decreased in number of families. Having no
minister, they were become eminent for drunkenness, cursing, swearing,
and an utter neglect of religion. But they are washed since they heard
and received the truth which is able to save their souls. An oath is now
rarely heard among them, or a drunkard seen in their borders. Court-
matrix is built in the form of a square, in the middle of which they have
placed a pretty large preaching-house ; but it would not contain one-
half of the congregation, so I stood in a large yard. The wind kept off
the rain while I was preaching. As soon as I ended it began.

The prophetic note of this description is deepened when we
remember that the preaching-house was erected through the
zeal of Philip Embury, who worked on the building with his
own hands.*

Wesley left Ireland on August 8. He reached Bristol,

! Crookshank’s History of Methodism sn Ireland, i. 137.
3 John Wesley's Journal, iv. 275-276.
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where the ‘ Yearly Conference’ commenced on August 12.
He says that ‘it was begun and ended in perfect harmony.’
We accept this assurance, but it leaves us unsatisfied. For-
tunately a fuller record of this Conference has escaped the
ravages of time. It appears in the Appendix to the first
volume of the Minutes of the Methodist Conferences, published
in 1862.* Having examined its contents, we shall have to
wait until we reach 1765 before we get steady and continuous
light on the proceedings of the Methodist Conferences.

The Minutes expressly state that John and Charles Wesley
and thirty-six lay preachers were present. An examination
of the list shows that of the lay preachers five or six served
‘in one place’; that is, they were men at that time called
‘local preachers.” A note is taken of the fact that fourteen
‘ travelling preachers ’ were absent. The number of itinerant
lay preachers at that time was about forty-five. As we look
at the men in the Bristol preaching-house we easily recognize
the ‘ veterans '—the men who belong to the first ten years of
Wesley’s mission. At their head, in point of years of service,
stands Thomas Maxfield; and in the group we especially
mark John Nelson, John Haime, Christopher Hopper, Paul
Greenwood, and William Roberts. We look in vain for
Thomas Mitchell, Thomas Lee, Robert Swindells, Joseph
Cownley, and Jacob Rowell. They are recorded as ‘ absent.’
Among the ‘ local preachers ’ present, we note Francis Walker,
Thomas Colbeck, and James Jones, faithful workers in their
own neighbourhoods.

The Conference gave its attention, first of all, to the question,
‘ Who are now proposed for travelling preachers? ° Fourteen
names were mentioned, considered, and recordedin the Minutes.
‘ The eye that brings with it the power to see ’ will linger on
two of these names. - One of the rewards of a close acquaintance
with Methodist history is that it becomes impossible to take
up such a list and find it meaningless. There are two names
in it that make us pause. The first is that of William
Thompson, who in after-years was Wesley’s successor in
the chair of the Conference. The second is that of a man
whom we have met in Ireland. His name is still honoured by
British and American Methodists. It is enough to say that,
at the Conference of 1758, Philip Embury was accepted as a

1 The Bristol Conference of 1758 was held in the ‘ New-Room.’



NEAR AND FAR HORIZONS 49

travelling preacher. Alexander Mather, who was appointed
by this Conference to Newcastle, a far-extended circuit which
reached as far as Musselburgh, in Scotland, gives us welcome
light on ‘ the prerequisites’ of a Methodist preacher at the
time we have reached. They were: ‘ (1) A knowledge of God,
as his God, as having pardoned all his sins. (2) A life and
conversation suitable thereto. (3) A clear conviction that
he was called of God to the work ; otherwise he could not bear
the crosses attending it. (4) Some fruit of his labour, in con-
vincing and converting sinners.”* These ‘ prerequisites ’ have
a familiar look ; they suggest the origin of the questions con-
cerning the ‘ grace, gifts, and fruit ° which have come down
to the present day.

The additional travelling preachers having been proposed,
the Conference turned its attention to matters of discipline
as they concerned both preachers and people. This section
of business was increasing in strictness, and it occupied the
rest of the day. On Monday, August 14, and on the next day,
the Conference seriously considered two doctrines of prime
importance. They were the constant themes of the early
Methodist preachers, and are conspicuous in the published
sermons of John Wesley. The whole of Monday was devoted
to the consideration of former decisions of the Conference on
the doctrine of Justification. Those decisions were closely
examined and freely discussed. As a result, ‘it was
unanimously agreed that there was no need to retract or alter
anything ’ that had been expressed in the previous conclusions
of the Conference on that doctrine.

The next day the doctrine of ‘ Perfection’ was fully con-
sidered. Keeping our eye on approaching years, we see the
need of frank discussion on this subject. It is well known
that John Wesley, in his sermons and writings, displayed great
caution when dealing with this doctrine. He weighed all his
words, and endeavoured to guard his people against the danger
which arises from extravagant views of what was often called
‘sinless perfection.” It was necessary that the preachers
should come to an understanding on this subject. From
the Minutes of this Conference it would appear that rumour had
attributed to Wesley certain teaching that was directly opposed
to his real convictions. In the Conference he had to defend

D 3 Leves of Early Methodist Preachers, ii. 178.
w
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himself; and it is imperative that we should record the ques-
tions and answers that indicate the course and conclusion of
the discussions.

Q. Did you affirm that perfection excludes all infirmities, ignorance,
and mistakes ?

A. We continually affirm just the contrary.

Q. Do you say, Every one who is not saved from all sin is in a state
of damnation ?

A. So far from it, that we will not say any one is in a state of damna-
tion that fears God and really strives to please Him.

Q. In what manner would you advise those, who think they have
attained, to speak of their own experience ?

A. With great wariness, and with the deepest humility and self-
abasement before God.

Q. How should young preachers especially speak of perfection in
public ?

A. Not too minutely or circumstantially, but rather in general and
scriptural terms.

Q. Have they that are perfect need of the merits of Christ? Can
they pray for forgiveness ?

A. (1) Every one may mistake, as long as he lives.

(2) A mistake in opinion may occasion a mistake in practice (as
in Mr. de Reanty).

(3) Every such mistake is a transgression of the perfect law.

(4) Therefore, every such mistake, were it not for the blood of
atonement, would expose to eternal damnation.

(5) It follows that the most perfect have continual need of the
merits of Christ, even for their actual transgressions, and may well say
for themselves, as well as their brethren, ‘ Forgive us our trespasses.’
Q. What does Christian perfection imply ?

A. The loving God with all the heart, so that every evil temper is
destroyed ; and every thought, and word, and work springs from, and
is conducted to the end by, the pure love of God and our neighbour.

The Conference closed on Wednesday, August 16, after the
stations of the preachers had been settled ; and John Wesley
remained in Bristol for a few days. It is with a sense of relief
that we see him resting in the city. There is a pause in his
fight against weakness and weariness. We know the reward
that comes to a man of his refined tastes when he steals away
from the grating noises of life and listens to the choruses of
the masters of sacred song. On Thursday, August 17, there is
an entry in his Journal which delights us. He says: ‘I went
to the cathedral to hear Mr. Handel’'s Messiak. 1 doubt if
that congregation was ever so serious at a sermon as they
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were during this performance. In many parts, especially
several of the choruses, it exceeded my expectation.” In a
former book we have expressed the opinion that,in The Messiah,
Handel sang the great doctrines that Wesley preached. We can
understand Wesley’s deep content when he listened to the music
of the gospel’ in Bristol Cathedral,and when hesawthereverent
assembly that was ‘content tohear Messiah’spraise for Handel’s.
sake.’t His reference to this visit to Bristol Cathedral is
brief but full of significance. Lingering there in the present day,
we re-create the scene. We watch the quiet audience ; but
our eyes are fixed on John Wesley. He seems to have for-
gotten the roar of the mob and the hardships of his life as an
evangelist. That life had caused some of his most cherished
friends to separate from him ; its hard work had wasted his
strength ; its experiences had made him the close acquaintance
of danger and irritating discords. Would it not be well to
rest for a time? Our question is answered when we look at
his firm and patient face. Then we think of other workers
that have denied themselves for the Master’s sake. We have
come to the cathedral from the hill of St. Brendan, and we
have been thinking of an Irish missionary who was well known
to him—a missionary whose Visions anticipated those of
Dante. In St. Fursa’s ‘ dream of heaven’ we have a picture
that should be remembered by every man who pauses in the
midst of exacting evangelistic work. St. Fursa and his angel-
guide tarry to listen to the singing of the heavenly choir.
‘ Then, forgetful of all toil and trouble, the sound of the
heavenly songs growing clearer and more melodious, it seemed
to Fursa that he alone was sung to ; and, wondering thereat,
he said, “ These songs are a great joy to hear.” The angel
answered, “ We may not often stay to hear them thus. We
are the ministers of man, and we must toil and labour in his
service, lest devils corrupting human hearts should make our
labour vain.” Again, as the saint is still wrapped in the
heavenly melody, the angel of the Lord spake, saying, *“ There
is no sorrow in heaven save one, no mourning here, but for
the lost soul of man.” ’*

After a short visit to Wales, John Wesley, on September 1,
returned to Bristol. By that date the news of the fall of

1 {101:: Wesley and the Advance %M ethodism, 238-240.
? Miss Margaret Stokes's Three Months n the Forests of Francs, 93.
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Louisbourg must have reached the city. Its capitulation
was an incident of great importance in the Seven Years’ War.
The fort had been defended with remarkable vigour by the
French under their governor, the Chevalier de Drucour.
Parkman says that, at the beginning of June, Louisbourg was
the strongest fortress in French or British America. But
Wolfe’s artillery was so effective that, after a siege lasting
nearly two months, the French were finally obliged to capitu-
late. On July 27, Ambherst, the British general, and Wolfe
entered the fortress in triumph. R. W. Jeffery, in his History
of the Thirteen Colonies, tells us that shortly afterwards ‘ the
vast fortifications were razed to the ground, and to this day
there remains nothing save some few ruined casements and
huge, grass-grown stones, lying in dismantled heaps upon the
edge of the restless Atlantic, to mark the spot where once
stood one of the greatest triumphs of Vauban'’s engineering art.’»
As we watch the progress of the siege we catch sight of Lieu-
tenant Webb, who lost an eye in one of the assaults made by
the British troops. We shall meet him again in the course
of this history. We also note Howell Harris's contingent of
Trevecca soldiers, who fought in the great battles of Louis-
bourg and Quebec.*

On Wednesday, September 20, John Wesley rode to Bath
and preached in a ‘ room ’ that would ‘ill contain the congre-
gation.” He found that the members of the Society had formed
the design of taking a piece of ground and building on it a
larger preaching-house. He encouraged them to proceed
without delay; and so we mark a new stage of progress in
the city. A month later he returned to London, reaching it
cheerfully on October 21. He had been absent for nearly eight
months. He did not stay there long. On October 30 he rode
to Norwich, and stayed there for a few days. He met the
Society, and found that the number of members had increased.
On November 3, James Wheatley called on him and offered
him the ‘ Tabernacle '—that is, offered to transfer the building
tohim. He hesitated to accept the offer until he had maturely
considered the proposal. The consideration lasted for some
weeks. On December 20 he was again in Norwich, and
Wheatley repeated his offer. But Wesley was in no haste. We

1 For the siege of Louisbourg see Parkman’s Montcalm and Wolfe,ii.52-76,Boston ed.
3 See John Wesley and the Advance of Methodism, 319.
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overhear a part of the conversation. Wesley urged the
objection, ‘ the congregation there will not hear me.” Wheatley
replied, ‘Sir, you cannot tell that, unless you will make a
trial.” It was arranged that the trial should be made the next
day. When the news was told, many of the ‘ Tabernacle’
people declared, ‘ No, he shall never come into that pulpit,’
and they determined to prevent it. But their threats were
vain. Wesley preached to large congregations on several
days without let or hindrance. As a result, prejudice seemed
to have vanished. Having weighed the matter thoroughly,
he yielded to the importunity of some of the Methodist members
and Wheatley’s offer was accepted. On Tuesday, December
26 the lease was signed, and the transfer of the building was
completed.

The eventful year 1758 brought Wesley into association with
John Berridge, a well-known clergyman. He had been
admitted to the Everton Vicarage in 1755. The next year the
great change occurred in his spiritual experience which led him
to take his place in the ranks of the evangelical clergy.
Receiving a message from him, through Mr. Parker, of Bedford,
Wesley set out for Everton on Thursday, November 9. He
met Berridge there, and preached in the evening and the next
morning at Wrestlingworth to large congregations. He also
preached in the Everton Church. His notice of Berridge is full
of significance. He says, ‘ For many years he was seek-
ing to be justified by his works ; but a few months ago he was
thoroughly convinced that *‘ by grace we are saved through
faith.” Immediately he began to proclaim aloud the redemp-
tion that is in Jesus, and God confirmed His word exactly as
He did at Bristol, in the beginning, by working repentance
and faith in the hearers, and with the same violent outward
symptoms.” The closing words arrest us. They recall
incidents that occurred during Wesley’s first visits to Wrest-
lingworth and Everton; but further reference to them must
be reserved.
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THE news of the surrender of Louisbourg brought relief to the
hearts of many anxious people in England ; but the relief was
only temporary. The war in North America had advanced
one step, but other victories had to be won before the supremacy
of Great Britain in that vast continent was put beyond dispute.
Quebec was not yet taken. It was still held by the French.
The loss of Louisbourg was keenly felt by them ; but, immedi-
ately, the military authorities determined to strengthen the
defences of Quebec and make the fortress impregnable. It was
not until nearly the end of June, 1759, that the English ships
and forces arrived and began the siege. But, during the opening
months of the year, five battalions had arrived from France
to strengthen the garrison ; and nearly all the colony troops,
and the militia from every part of Canada, had been poured
into the city. In addition, a thousand or more Indians had
come to lend their rifles and scalping-knives to its defence. It
is no wonder that the confidence of the garrison rose as the
time passed by and the English fleet failed to appear. When, at
last, it arrived, Quebec was ready for the assault.* For
nearly a year Englishmen who watched the course of events
in America had no reason to dismiss their anxiety.

America was not the only country towards which Englishmen
turned their thoughts when estimating the dangers that
threatened them during this year of supreme peril. The
conviction that France was preparing to invade England
became fixed in the national mind. The opinion of the
possibility of such an invasion was widespread among
reasonable people. Those who are acquainted with the
condition of the home army at that time will not ridicule their
fears. Their hope was in the fleet ; but they had to wait until
nearly the end of the year before their expectations of strong

! Parkman’s Monicalm and Wolfe, ii. 199, Boston ed.
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defence were fulfilled. Those who have come under the spell
of the prehistoric monuments of Brittany will have made their
way to Quiberon, in Morbihan. It lies in a somewhat desolate
country haunted by sad memories. But, as we look at the
bay, we seem to hear the far-off sound of the guns of fighting
ships struggling for victory. The battle-smoke of a November
day in 1759 clouds the sky. We think of Admiral Hawke,
and his gallant seamen, and their great triumph. And then
our thoughts turn to England. We picture the gladness of
the people who, in the long years ago, heard the news from
Quiberon, and put their fears of invasion far away.

John Wesley, on New Year’s Day, 1759, having received a
pressing letter from Bristol, mounted his horse and rode
towards the West. The next day he arrived in the city. We
do not know the contents of the letter, but assume that they
concerned the condition of the Society in Bristol, and the
distress which was afflicting the poor. Both subjects made a
special appeal to him. He tells us that the great end of his
journey to Bristol was ‘ to examine severally the members of
Society and to provide for the poor.’” The examination of the
Society gave him satisfaction. Then, on Sunday, January 7, he
preached a sermon setting forth the claims of the poor, and
his appeal secured a large collection. He returned to London.
On Sunday, January 14, he resumed his usual work, and stayed
there until the end of February. The fear of invasion at that
time had risen to panic in London. A ‘ Public Fast’ was
ordained, and special prayer-meetings were held. Charles
Wesley wrote eight hymns for use in these gatherings. One
has survived. ‘Come, Thou Conqueror of the nations’ still
holds a place in the Methodist Hymn-Book.* The reference in
it to ‘earthquakes, dearths, and desolations’ reminds us of the
terror of the ‘ Year of Jubilee,’” and the sufferings of the poorin
the ‘ Seven Years’ War.” It is with special interest that we
note the holding of prayer-meetings at Lady Huntingdon'’s
house. On February 27 John Wesley preached there, and,
after the sermon, administered the sacrament to those who
remained. During this visit to London he also went to
Wandsworth, staying there for two days, preaching in the
evenings in the town, and in the mornings at Mr. Gilbert’s
house.

1 Hyma 227.
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On March 1 Wesley commenced his visit to the North. He
did not return to London until August 7. When he got back
he was thoroughly tired, ‘ having rode in seven months above
four-and-twenty hundred miles.” It is only necessary to
record a few of the incidents of this extended tour. We are
especially interested in his visits to Everton. He preached
there on his outward and return journeys, and was confronted
with problems that reminded him of his early days in Bristol.
We have emphasized the fact that, at the time we have reached,
he considered that the Methodist congregations presented
‘an example of orderliness and devoutness ’ that should be
imitated by the congregations of all Churches. But, when
he preached at Everton, ‘ the physical prostrations’ which
had once been familiar to him in Bristol and elsewhere were
repeated, the services at Everton being especially disturbed
and disorderly. It must be remembered that Berridge had
recently experienced the great change of heart which comes
when a man, conscious of the burden of his sins, ‘sees
all his sins on Jesus laid." Sometimes that vision comes
quietly as the dawn. In other cases it is at noonday that
Christ appears suddenly to us in the way, and speaks the
gracious words, ‘ Thy sins are forgiven thee.” The assurance,
quickly given, is startling, and the sudden gladness is well-
nigh unbearable. The conversion of Berridge led him to
preach as he had never preached before. With overwhelming
earnestness he pointed to the Cross of a Saviour, ‘ who taketh
away the sin of the world.” John Wesley continued the
message, and the physical effects produced under Berridge's
preaching occurred. The scenes of twenty years ago shone
once more before his eyes; and, as he journeyed, he had to
face a problem that he had tried to solve, in other days, at
Bristol. :

All who are acquainted with the history of great revivals
of religion in this and other countries are familiar with the
problem which engaged Wesley’s attention. After much
pondering he reached certain conclusions which we will record.
On Sunday, November 25, 1759, he was at Everton, supplying
for Berridge, who had gone to preach before the University of
Cambridge. Preaching in Everton Church, he says that he
observed a remarkable difference, since he was there before,

3 See John Wesley and the Religious Societies, 284~288.
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in the manner of the work. ‘ None now were in trances, none
cried out, none fell down or were convulsed ; only some trembled
exceedingly, a low murmur was heard, and many were refreshed
with ““ the multitude of peace.”’ Commenting on the change,
he says:

The danger was to regard extraordinary circumstances too much,
such as outcries, convulsions, visions, trances ; as if these were essential
to the inward work, so that it could not go on without them. Perhaps
the danger ¢s to regard them too little, to condemn them altogether ;
to imagine they had nothing of God in them, and were a hindrance to
His work. Whereas the truth is: (1) God suddenly and strongly
convinced many that they were lost sinners, the natural consequence
whereof were sudden outcries and strong bodily convulsions. (2) To
strengthen and encourage them that believed, and to make His work
more apparent, He favoured several of them with divine dreams, others
with trances and visions. (3) In some of these instances, after a time,
nature mixed with grace. (4) Satan likewise mimicked this work of
God, in order to discredit the whole work. And yet it is not wise to give
up this part, any more than to give up the whole. At first it was,
doubtless, wholly from God. It is partly so at this day; and He will
enable us to discern how far, in every case, the work is pure, and where
it mixes or degenerates.

Let us even suppose that, in some few cases, there was a mixture of
dissimulation—that persons pretended to see or feel what they did not,
and imitated the cries or convulsive motions of those who were really
overpowered by the Spirit of God ; yet even this should not make us
either deny or undervalue the real work of the Spirit. The shadow is
no disparagement of the substance, nor the counterfeit of the real
diamond.

We may further suppose that Satan will make these visions an
occasion of pride. But what can be inferred from hence? Nothing,
but that we should guard against it ; that we should diligently exhort
all to be little in their own eyes, knowing that nothing avails with God
but humble love. But still, to slight or censure visions in general would
be both irrational and unchristian.!

Wesley’s explanation of the disturbances at Everton should
be borne in mind. Those who keep a quiet eye on the path
he had to travel know that he soon would have cause to
remember them. It is interesting to note that when Berridge
returned from preaching before the University of Cambridge
he told Wesley that, in the midst of his sermon, ‘ one person
cried out aloud, but was silent in a few moments. Several
dropped down, but made no noise, and the whole congregation,
young and old, behaved with seriousness.’

1 John Wesley’s Jowrnal, iv. 359-360.
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John Wesley spent most of the month of March in Norwich
and its neighbourhood. At Colchester he was much encouraged
with the state of the Methodist Society in the town. When
he reached Norwich he found that the attempt to unite the
members at the Tabernacle with those at the Foundery had
failed. The Society at the Tabernacle had consisted of ‘ many
hundred members’; but in a few months ‘ it had mouldered
into nothing.” He must have felt that his hesitation to take
over the lease of the building was justified. However, he made
up his mind to attempt to turn failure into success. Those
who are acquainted with the early history of Methodism in
Norwich will admit the difficulty of the task.

On April 2 John Wesley left Norwich and spent a fortnight
in Lincolnshire. At Epworth he preached in ‘ the new house ’
on April 9; and, on Easter Sunday, April 15, he preached
there again in the morning. He then rode to Haxey Church,
where he was much refreshed by the decency and seriousness
of the congregation. He held a service in Haxey, and says
that so large a congregation had never been seen there before.
Then he returned to Epworth and preached in the market-
place. Rain began towards the close of the sermon, but most
of the people listened attentively to him until the service
concluded. It was during this visit that he called on Mr.
Romley, the father of the curate who had repelled him from
the sacrament in Epworth Church. The old man, who had
reached the age of eighty-three years, had been one of Wesley’s
parishioners during the time when he actedashis father’s curate.
They had a pleasant talk together. He says that Mr. Romley
was ‘ lively—and sensible ’ ; and that, when he left the house,
he felt much comforted.

After his visitation of the Lincolnshire Societies, Wesley
turned his face to the North. Yorkshire, Lancashire, Cheshire,
Flintshire, Cumberland, and Scotland were reached, and in
all places the inspiration of his presence was felt. It was a
heavy task for a man who was gradually getting back his
physical strength. On his return journey, when he reached
Newcastle, on June 4, we do not wonder that he wrote these
words in his Journal: °Certainly if I did not believe there
was another world, I should spend all my summers here, as I
know no place in Great Britain comparable to it for pleasant-
ness.” But rest to him was an impossible luxury. The whole
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burden of responsibility for the inspection of the Methodist
Societies in Great Britain and Ireland lay on him, and the load
was constantly increasing in weight. When he had gathered
together a little strength he heard all the more clearly the
voice of conscience calling him to renew his work. He obeyed.
We would fain linger to depict some of the incidents of his
southward journey, but we must hold our hand. One incident,
however, we must record because of its relation to a series of
important events which we shall have to describe. On July 17
there is this record in his Journal: ‘ At seven in the evening
I preached to an immense congregation at the foot of a high
mountain near Otley.” The mountain is well known to those
who carry in their heart memories of Wharfedale. The Chevin
will rise before them encompassed with the beauty of its
surrounding scenery. But as we watch the great crowd
standing on the hill, quietly listening to Wesley on that summer
evening, we think of a great event that was soon to happen ;
an event which has given Otley a conspicuous place in the
history of the Methodist Church.

John Wesley reached London on August 7, worn out with
his work. On his way he had met with Henry Venn and his
family at the inn at Stevenage. Again the doors of the future
open before us. Venn was on his way to the north, having
left Clapham and become the Vicar of Huddersfield. At that
time Huddersfield was numbered among the villages of England ;
but Mr. Balleine reminds us that Venn’s parish included a
large country district and several outlying hamlets ; still, the
population of the whole parish was only four thousand.: We
have no record of the conversation between Wesley and Venn
at Stevenage; but the interview was of importance, as the
two travellers were soon to be brought more closely together
in their evangelizing work in Yorkshire.

The Conference of 1759 was held in London. It began on
Wednesday, August 8, and lasted for four days. Wesley’s
notice of the business is brief, but much can be read ‘ between
the lines.” He says, ‘ Great was the unanimity and love that
reigned among us throughout; and if there were any who
hoped or feared the contrary, they were happily disappointed.
Is not this another token for good ? Surely while we are thus

1 See John Wesley and the Advance of Methodism, 274 ; Balleine’s History of the
Evangelical Party, 72.
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striving for the hope of the gospel we shall not be delivered
to the will of our enemies.” He tells us that the time of the
Conference was almost entirely employed in examining whether
the spirit and lives of the preachers were suitable to their
profession. It will be seen that such an examination might
easily lead to recriminations that would disturb the harmony
of the proceedings; but Wesley was determined that his
preachers should deal honestly with each other, and that a
practice which had been recently introduced should be con-
tinued. Myles, in dealing with this part of the business of
the Conference, says: ‘ From this time, the moral, religious,
and ministerial characters of the preachers have been strictly
examined at the Conference in every year. The punishments
inflicted on an offending brother are: (1) A rebuke from the
President before the whole Conference. (2) The being put
back on trial. (3) Suspension for a year. (4) Expulsion
from the Body. These punishments are inflicted according
to the nature of the offence.”* The method of strict examina-
tion has been improved since the days of Wesley, but, in
spirit, it has been practised for more than one hundred and
sixty years.

From Myles we find that the discipline of preachers was
not the only subject specially considered at this Conference.
He gives a brief account of an important conversation which
took place on ‘Christian Perfection.” Soon after the Con-
ference, Wesley published a tract in which he gave a clearer
account of the character of this conversation. It appears
there was some danger that a diversity of sentiments might
insensibly steal in among the preachers on the question ; and
so the Conference, once more, largely considered ’ it. In
Wesley’s tract there is a full statement concerning the decisions
of the London Conference, and we shall find that they were
in harmony with those we have already reported as being
pronounced at the preceding Conference. It is well to record
them, as they contain some variations that reveal Wesley’s
maturing opinions concerning a doctrine that was soon to
become a subject of warm and dangerous debate in some of
the Methodist Societies.

In the Preface Wesley says: ‘ The following tract is by no
means designed to gratify the curiosity of any man. It is

1 Myles's Chromological History, 85.



WORK IN WAR-TIME 61

not intended to prove the doctrine at large in opposition to
those who explode and ridicule it; no, nor to answer the
numerous objections against it which may be raised even by
serious men. All I intend here is simply to declare what are
my sentiments on this head ; what Christian perfection does,
according to my apprehension, include, and what it does not ;
and to add a few practical observations and directions relative
to the subject.” He then reports the statements he had made
in the London Conference :

Q. What is Christian perfection ?

A. The loving God with all our heart, mind, soul, and strength.
This implies that no wrong temper, none contrary to love, remains in
the soul; and that all the thoughts, words, and actions, are governed
by pure love.

Q. Do you affirm that this perfection excludes all infirmities, ignor-
ance, and mistake ?

A. I continually-affirm quite the contrary, and always have done so.

Q. But how can every thought, word, and work, be governed by pure
love, and the man be subject at the same time to ignorance and
mistake ?

A. I see no contradiction here : ‘ A man may be filled with pure love,
and still be liable to mistake.” Indeed I do not expect to be freed from
actual mistakes, till this mortal puts on immortality. I believe this to
be a natural consequence of the soul’s dwelling in flesh and blood. For
we cannot now think at all but by the mediation of those bodily organs
which have suffered equally with the rest of our frame. And hence we
cannot avoid sometimes thinking wrong till this corruptible shall have
put on incorruption.

But we must carry this thought farther yet. A mistake in judge-
ment may possibly occasion a mistake in practice. For instance :
Mr. de Renty’s mistake touching the nature of mortification, arising
from prejudice of education, occasioned that practical mistake, his
wearing an iron girdle. And a thousand such instances there may be,
even in those who are in the highest state of grace. Yet, where every
word and action springs from love, such a mistake is not properly a sin.
However, it cannot bear the rigour of God’s justice, but needs the
atoning blood.

Closing his account of the discussion on Christian perfection
in the Conference in London, Wesley quotes ‘ the judgement
of all our brethren who met at Bristol in August, 1758."* We
are specially interested in the views expressed by Wesley in
the Conference of 1759 on this subject. We have to keep an
eye on coming events ; we know that a time was approaching

1 See ants, p. 50. )
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when a controversy would spring up that caused disaster to
an important part of the Society in London.*

The ‘ conversations ’ of the Conference of 1759 were carried
on at a time when London was seething with excitement. We
do not know when the news of the battle of Minden reached
England ; but, when it arrived, it kindled intense enthusiasm.
When John Wesley met Henry Venn at Stevenage, on August 7,
he may have heard of the result of the fight, but when he came
to London he would get particulars of the battle that would
make a strong appeal to him as a patriotic Englishman. The
battle was fought on Wednesday, August 1, between a French
force which numbered, according to Carlyle, 51,400 foot and
horse, and a British and Hanoverian army, under the com-
mand of Prince Ferdinand of Brunswick, which consisted of
36,000 men. In Smollett’s History of England and in Carlyle’s
History of Frederick the Great we may read stirring descriptions
of the encounter.*

There was one incident in that desperate fight that is still
remembered by students of our wars. With the forces under
the command of Prince Ferdinand there were six regiments,
then known as the 1zth, 2oth, 23rd, 25th, 37th, and s1st of
the British line. They still carry ‘ Minden ’ on their colours.
They had received from Prince Ferdinand the order, ‘ You shall
march on sound of drum." They understood ‘by sound of
drum’ the beating of their own drums. At the crisis of the
battle when the day seemed lost, they sounded their drums and
advanced against a mass of cavalry consisting of ten thousand
horsemen. The Hanoverians followed them as second line.
They passed through a murderous cross-fire of more than sixty
guns, and advanced against the enemy’s cavalry. Astonished
at the audacity of their attackers the French furiously charged
them. ‘No fire till they are within forty paces’ was the
order that passed along the English line. There were six
charges in all; but the British line, though once broken,
gathered itself together and drove the cavalry back in confusion.
The action lasted for about an hour. Contades, the French
officer who was in command at this point, saw that the battle

! Students of Methodist doctrines should read Wesley’'s Thoughts om Christian
Perfection, and his Plain Account of Christian Perfection. The former is dated
October 16, 1759 ; the latter 1766. The Thoughts re-appear in the Plasn Account,
which work was several times revised. See Wesley’s Works, xi. 366446, third ed.

# See Smollett’s History of England, xiv. 231-235. Carlyle's Hsstory of Fredersck
the Great, vi. 39-46 (seven-vol. edition).
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was lost. He said bitterly, ‘ I have seen what I never thought
to be possible—a single line of infantry break through three
lines of cavalry, ranked in order of battle, and tumble them to
ruin |’ There was nothing to do but to retreat. The French
loss was 7,086 ; the allies lost 2,882, full half of it falling
on the six British regiments. We can imagine the effect
produced in England when the story of this victory was
told. It really meant that George II might put aside
his fears of losing the kingdom of Hanover, and that
regiments that were sorely needed in England might
return to strengthen the defence of this country. That con-
sideration allayed the panic for a time. But ‘the law of
compensation ’ soon acted. If we look across the Atlantic on
July 31, the day before the battle of Minden was fought, we
shall see in the evening the failure of the attempt of Wolfe to
penetrate the lines of Montcalm at the foot of the hill on which
Quebec stands. He called off the attack, hoping for success
under better conditions. The news travelled slowly across the
Atlantic, and, for a time, men almost forgot the glory of
Minden.*

After the Conference, John Wesley rested for a few days and
then resumed his work. He visited Bedford and Everton and
then went to Norwich. On August 30 he preached at the
Tabernacle to ‘ a large, rude, noisy congregation.” Remember-
ing their previous training, he determined ‘ to mend them or
end them.” The next evening, after the sermon, he reminded
them of two things: the one, that it was not decent to begin
talking aloud as soon as service was ended, and ‘ hurrying to
and fro as in a bear-garden’; the other, that it was a bad
custom to gather into knots just after sermon and ‘turn a
place of worship into a coffee-house.” He therefore desired
. that none would talk under that roof, but go quietly and silently
away. His exhortation took effect at once. On Sunday,
September 2, he was pleased to observe that all went ‘as
quietly away as if they had been accustomed to it for many
years.” When he met the Society the next day he was con-
fronted by another difficulty. It was supposed that the
Norwich Society consisted of about five hundred members;
but, on making inquiry, he found that about one hundred and
fifty of them did not pretend to meet in class. We presume

1 The victory at Minden is still celebrated by some regiments in the British Army.



64 WORK IN WAR-TIME

that the attempted union of the Foundery and the Tabernacle
Societies accounted for such a condition of things. Wesley,
therefore, explained ‘ the nature and use of meeting in a class.’
As for those who did not meet, he says, in his Journal, that of
them he made ‘ no account ; they hang on but a single thread.’
On the following Sunday he met the Society again, and spoke
plain words to those who were present; many were profited,
and he did not know one who was offended. But he must
have felt that the Norwich Society demanded firm and judicious
management.

On Friday, September 14, John Wesley returned to London,
and the next day went to West Street Chapel to see if his orders
for its immediate repair had been carried out. The work had
been commenced, but it had been found that much more must
be done to the building. This is what he says: ‘ The main
timbers were so rotten that in many places one might thrust
his fingers into them. So that probably, had we delayed till
spring, the whole building must have fallen to the ground.’
The  chapel ’ being under repair, he was set free to visit other
places near London. Then, on Friday, September 28, he
reached Bristol.

John Wesley’s visit to Bristol, which lasted until nearly the
end of October, was marked by two memorable events. He
had much public work to do, but he managed to spend some
time in his ‘ calm retreat,’ his study at Kingswood School. He
says, ‘ All my leisure time during my stay at Bristol I employed
in finishing the fourth volume of Discourses ; probably the last
I shall publish.” It was his original intention to publish only
three volumes of Sermons, but pressure was brought to bear on
him which induced him to change his mind. Each of the first
editions of ‘the three volumes’ contained twelve sermons.
In a second edition of the third volume he added a sermon on
‘ Wandering Thoughts ’ ; when that was done, he thought that
he had kept faith with his purchasers and had fulfilled the terms
contained in his first advertisement of the forthcoming books.
But once more he took up his pen. When he had written seven
sermons, he paused. After thinking over the matter he came
to the conclusion that he had accomplished his task. His
principal design in publishing his sermons was to explain the
doctrines which he and his brother preached, and to show that
they were all derived from the Scriptures. After consideration
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he determined that he would write no more sermons; so he
filled up the fourth volume by including in it several tracts.
He selected two of his own. He had prepared his ‘ Thoughts
on Christian Perfection,” which we have mentioned ; and he
determined that, with his ‘ Advice to the People called
Methodists with regard to Dress,’ it should be published in the
new volume. Then, he added four tracts which he had
either abridged or translated from other authors. The ‘ fourth
volume,” published in 1760, therefore contained seven ‘ser-
mons ’ and six ‘ tracts '—a fact which must be kept in mind.

The second incident of Wesley's visit to Bristol, which claims
special attention, is full of interest. We do not know when the
news of the battle of Quebec, and of Wolfe’s victory and death,
reached England. The battle was fought on September 13 ;
and, in those days, the tidings of events in America travelled
slowly across the Atlantic. But the news reached England at
last, and a great load was lifted from the mind of the nation.
The incidents of that struggle on the ‘ Heights 6f Abraham,’
in which both Wolfe and Montcalm fell, are known to all who
take an interest in the history of this country. But some of
us almost forget the great fight as we try to catch sight of a
boat that is stealing along the St. Lawrence River through the
growing darkness. It is making its way to the landing-place
from which the British troops will climb up the steep ascent to
the battle-field. Aswe watch the boat we think of a never-to-
be-forgotten incident. We hear the voice of Wolfe. He is
reciting Gray’s ‘ Elegy written in a Country Churchyard.’
With deep pathos he repeats the words, ‘ The paths of glory
lead but to the grave.” Then there is silence, broken at last
as he says, ‘ Gentlemen, I would rather have written those
lines than take Quebec.” Those who wish to follow the course
of the great battle should read Parkman’s description of the
fight. In his pages the picture stands out with perfect
clearness. We can watch the movements of the two
armies, the fall of the heroic generals, the deeds of valour
wrought by French and British troops.* Though the capture
of Quebec did not complete the conquest of Canada, it
certainly brought great relief to the over-strained feelings of
the people of England.

The news of the taking of Quebec may have reached Wesley

! Parkman's Monicalm and Wolfe, ii. 288-297, Boston ed.
Ew '
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when he was in Bristol. It will be remembered that when
he was in Cornwall the condition and the kindness of the
French prisoners deeply affected him. On Monday, October
15, we see him on his way to Knowle, a mile from Bristol. He
had been informed that the French prisoners there were con-
fined in a little place ‘ without anything to lie on but dirty
straw, or anything to cover them but a few foul, thin rags,
either by day or night ; so that they died like rotten sheep.’
Stirred by this description, he went to Knowle and ascertained
the facts. They did not justify the charge brought against
the authorities ; but he was much moved when he saw the
actual conditions in which the prisoners lived. He returned
to Bristol, and in the evening he preached from the appropri-
ate text : * Thou shalt not oppress a stranger : for ye know the
heart of a stranger, seeing ye were strangers in the land of
Egypt.’ A collection for the prisoners was made, which
amounted to £18 ; the next day it was increased to £24. The
money was spent ‘ on linen and woollen cloth, which was made
up into shirts, waistcoats, and breeches. Some dozens of
stockings were added ; all which were carefully distributed
where there was the greatest want.” The Corporation of
Bristol bestirred itself and sent a large quantity of mattresses
and blankets to Knowle for the use of the prisoners. Not
content with awakening Bristol to acts of benevolence, Wesley
wrote a powerful appeal which was published in Lloyd’s Evening
Post. In answer to his appeal, contributions were gathered
in London and other parts of the country ; and he had the
satisfaction of stating that he believed, from the time of his
visit to Knowle, the French prisoners were ‘ pretty well pro-
vided with all the necessaries of life.’

We will close our account of Wesley’s experiences during
1759 by saying that, on Thursday, November 29, he was in
London. It was the day appointed for the General Thanks-
giving. The victories at Minden and Quebec had impressed
the English people, and made them conscious of divine care.
The chapel at West Street was ready for the occasion, and
John Wesley preached there morning and evening. Through-
out London the day was observed. Wesley's testimony is :
‘I believe the oldest man in England has not seen a thanks-
giving day so observed before. It had the solemnity of the
General Fast. All the shops were shut up ; the people in the
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streets appeared, one and all, with an air of seriousness ; the
prayers, lessons, and whole public service were admirably
suited to the occasion. The prayer for our enemies, in parti-
cular, was extremely striking ; perhaps it is the first instance
of the kind in Europe. There was no noise, hurry, bonfires,
fireworks in the evening, and no public diversions. This is
indeed a Christian holiday, a * rejoicing unto the Lord.”’
And the next day came the news that Sir Edward Hawke had
defeated and scattered the French fleet in Quiberon Bay.
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A SOUND OF ALARM

ON Sunday, January 13, 1760, John Wesley preached in West
Street Chapel, London. As we have said, it had been enlarged
and thoroughly repaired. In his Journal he makes a revealing
comment on this new beginning. He tells us that when he
acquired the chapel, eighteen years before, he little thought
the world would have borne with him so long. Then he adds
the triumphant words :  But the right hand of the Lord hath
the pre-eminence, therefore we endure unto this day.” The
reopening of ‘ the chapel ’ was an event of great importance ;
but the date at the head of this chapter turns our thoughts
from London and fixes them on a little town in a Yorkshire
dale. Following Wesley’'s journeys, we have already visited
it. We have seen him in Wharfedale, standing in the presence
of a large crowd at the foot of the Chevin, proclaiming ‘ the
glorious gospel of the grace of God.” We must forget West
Street Chapel for a time, and try to understand an event
which has given Otley a conspicuous position in the history of
Methodism.

We have seen that John Wesley and the Conference had
closely considered, on several occasions, the doctrine of
‘ Christian Perfection.” It had been examined with patience ;
its value had been declared ; the dangers incident to its pro-
clamation and personal profession had been pointed out;
but Wesley, in ‘examining’ the Societies throughout the
country, had seen that the practical influence of the doctrine
was comparatively slight. The teaching that God was ever
willing to pardon sincerely-repentant sinners was joyfully
accepted ; but in many places he found that the people failed
to recognize the fact that the Holy Spirit could so energize
them as to make them triumph over temptation and give them
a constant victory over sin. He longed for the coming of a
time when the Methodists would learn that ‘sinning and

68
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repenting ’ must not be the normal experience of a Christian.
When he himself began to awake to the glory of the spiritual
life, a book came into his hands that widened his horizon.
Jeremy Taylor’s Rule and Exercise of Holy Living made a
deep impression on him. That book turned his thoughts to a
subject that continually deepened in meaning. It is well
known that he never made any claim to have reached  perfec-
tion ’ ; but he never lost sight of the goal. He pressed forward,
longing to attain the daily approval of his sympathizing Judge.
The doctrine of ‘Christian Perfection’ was so strongly
emphasized by the early Methodists that many people think
it was originated by them. That is a dangerous delusion.
Since the day when Christ said, ‘ Ye therefore shall be perfect
as your heavenly Father is perfect,’ the standard has been
set up in the Christian Church. The possibility of the sinless
life has been acknowledged in the ancient and modern Church
for nearly fourteen hundred years. Before the Te Deum
Laudamus was written the cry had gone up to God, ‘Vouch-
safe, O Lord, to keep us this day without sin.” It has been
the passion-cry of thousands of those in all ages who have
known their danger and their own exceeding weakness.

When we think of the great event that occurred at Otley
on January 13, 1760, we call to mind certain sentences in
Newman’s sermon on ‘ Grounds for Steadfastness in our
Religious Profession.” He says: ‘I suppose that every
religious person is conscious of this—that he never has so
profited by God’s grace as he might have done; that he has
never fathomed God’s mercies towards him ; that God is
present with him to an extent, with a fullness, in a depth, which
he knows not.”* These words are appropriate to a description
of an event which we must now briefly describe.

In John Wesley’s Journal, and in his Short History of the
People called Methodists, we find accounts of the remarkable
meeting in Otley held on January 13, 1760. It commenced
at eight o’clock in the evening. About thirty persons met
‘ to pray, sing hymns, and provoke one another to love and
good works.” The proceedings followed the usual class-meeting
course. The members gave brief accounts of their religious
experience. Some of them, with deep sorrow, complained
of ‘ the burden they felt because of their consciousness of the

Y In Sermons on Subjects of the Day, 350.
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remains of ““ indwelling sin.”’ * They declared that they saw in
a clearer light than ever before the necessity of a deliverance
from it. When the meeting ended, a few left the room ; the
rest remained to pray. ‘The great and precious promises
of God ’ had been seen so clearly that a hope had been kindled
in them which had never before cheered them. One of them
was desired to pray. No sooner had he commenced than a
great spiritual emotion filled all hearts. It is expressly said
of most of them that ‘ they had no doubt of the favour of
God ; but they could not rest while there was anything in
them contrary to His nature.’” The prayer-meeting continued
for two hours. It was inevitable that there was much excite-
ment ; but at its close we are told that ‘ three believed God
had fulfilled His word, and cleansed them from all unrighteous-
ness.” The next evening the members met again for prayer.
The same wonderful influence rested on them. * One received
remission of sins, and three more believed God had cleansed
them from all sin.”*

In considering this great event, and its effect on the Methodist
Societies, we will avail ourselves of John Wesley’s statement
concerning the far-extended influence of the Otley meetings.
In 1781 he published his Concise Ecclesiastical History. It was
in four volumes. To the fourth volume, ‘ A Short History of the
People called Methodists’ is appended ; and in it we find a
description of the meetings in Otley in 1760. This is what
he says:

Here began that glorious work of sanctification, which had been
nearly at a stand for twenty years. But from time to time it spread,
first through various parts of Yorkshire, afterwards in London, then
through most parts of England ; next through Dublin, Limerick, and
all the south and west of Ireland. And wherever the work of sanctifica-
tion increased the whole work of God increased in all its branches.
Many were convinced of sin, many justified, many backsliders healed.
So it was in the London Society in particular. In February, 1761, it
contained upwards of three-and-twenty hundred members; in 1763,
above eight-and-twenty hundred.*®

As the subject of ‘ Christian Perfection’ came into special
prominence at this time, it will be serviceable to enlarge our
knowledge of John Wesley’s opinion concerning the meaning

1 John Wesley's Jowurnal, iv. 365-366. ? Wesley’s Works, xiii. 314, third ed.
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of the term and of the experience. Writing to his brother
Charles, about the year 1762, he says:

Some thoughts occurred to my mind this morning which I believe it
may be useful to set down : the rather because it may be a means of
our understanding each other clearly : that we may agree as far as ever
we can, and then let all the world know it.

I was thinking on Christian perfection, with regard to the thing, the
manner, and the time.

(1) By perfection I mean the humble, gentle, patient love of God and
man, ruling all the tempers, words, and actions : the whole heart, and
the whole life.

I do not include an impossibility of falling from it, either in part or
in whole. Therefore I retract several expressions in our hymns, which
partly express, partly imply, such an impossibility.

And I do not contend for the term sinless, though I do not object
against it.

Do we agree or differ here? If we differ, wherein ?

(2) As to the manner, I believe this perfection is always wrought in
the soul by faith, by a simple act of faith ; consequently in an instant.

But I believe a gradual work, both preceding and following that
instant.

Do we agree or differ here ?

(3) As to the time, I believe this instant generally is the instant of
death, the moment before the soul leaves the body.

But I believe it may be ten, twenty, or forty years before death.

Do we agree or differ here ?

I believe it is usually many years after justification; but that it
may be within five years, or five months, after it. I know no conclusive
argument to the contrary. Do you?

If it must be many years after justification, I would be glad to know
how many. Pretium quotus arrogat annus ? And how many days or
months, or even years, can you allow to be between perfection and
death? How far from justification must it be? And how near to
death ?

If it be possible, let you and me come to a good understanding, both
for our own sakes and for the sake of the people.?

This letter implies some difference of opinion between the
brothers on the subject of ‘ Christian Perfection.” Thomas
Jackson says, * What answer Mr. Charles Wesley returned to
this candid and sensible letter we have no means of ascertaining.
Full as he was of poetic fire, being the creature of feeling, it
was not his practice to analyse doctrinal principles with
logical exactness. He was far more expert at beating down
spiritual pride by a pithy rebuke, administered either in prose

2 Thomas Jackson’s Life of Charles Wesley, ii. 209-210.
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or verse.” The letter, however, is of importance to us in view
of coming events.

John Wesley left London on Monday, March 3, and did not
return there until Saturday, November 8. His long absence
was due to the fact that his widely-extended ° parish’
demanded his constant attention. During the eight months
of his absence from London, Charles Wesley sometimes supplied
his place. He was assisted by John Fletcher, who did not
become the Vicar of Madeley, in Shropshire, until October 17,
1760. He received other assistance. =~ We note that on April 4
Thomas Maxfield helped him in the adminstration of the
sacrament of the Lord’s Supper. Referring to this fact in a
letter to his wife written on the next day, he says : * My morning
subject was, ‘“ Behold the Lamb of God, that taketh away the
sin of the world!” He was evidently set forth as crucified,
both in the word and sacrament. Mr. Shirley offered to assist
me ; but I thought it best to spare him. Mr. Maxfield’s
help was sufficient.” With the assistance he received from
Fletcher and Maxfield he might have spent an enjoyable
time in London. He met his old friends Lady Huntingdon,
Mrs. Gumley, Colonel and Mrs. Gallatin, and others; and
London cast its spell on him. In the letter to his wife, from
which we have just quoted, he says : ‘ As I shall probably take
much more public care upon me than I have ever done here-
tofore, my office will require me to spend more time in town ;
PERHAPS TO SETTLE HERE.’* It is clear that his spirit was
rising. He was looking to the future with a new confidence ;
but the bright sky of the morning was soon darkened by clouds.

When John Wesley had set out for the North he
received a letter from Charles Wesley. It is not dated, but
Thomas Jackson thinks it was most probably written early
in March, 1760. It is well to reproduce it.

DEAR BROTHER,—We are come to the Rubicon. Shall we pass, or
shall we not? In the fear of God (which we both have), and in the
name of Jesus Christ, let us ask, ‘ Lord, what wouldest Thou have us
to do?’

The case stands thus. Three preachers, whom we thought we could
have depended upon, have taken upon them to administer the sacra-
ment, without any ordination, and without acquainting us (or even
yourself) of it beforehand. Why may not all the other preachers do

1 Jackson's Life of Charles Wesley, ii. 173.
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the same, if each is to judge of his own right to do it? And every one
s left to act as he pleases, if we take no notice of them that have so
despised their brethren.

That the rest will soon follow their example I believe ; because : (1)
They think they may do it with impunity. (2) Because a large majority
imagine they have a right, as preachers, to administer the sacraments.
So long ago as the Conference at Leeds, I took down their names. (3)
Because they have betrayed an impatience to separate. The preachers
in Cornwall, and others, wondered it had not been mentioned at our
last Conference. Jacob Rowell’s honesty I commend. Christopher
Hopper, Joseph Cownley, John Hampson, and several more are ripe
for a separation. Even Mr. Crisp says he would give the sacrament
if you bade him. The young preachers, you know, are raw, unprincipled
men, and entirely at the mercy of the old. You could persuade them
to anything ; and not you only ; Charles Perronet could do the same,
or any of the preachers that have left us, or any of the three at Norwich.

Upon the whole, I am fully persuaded, almost all our preachers are
corrupted already. More and more will give the sacrament, and set up
for themselves, even before we die; and all, except the few that get
orders, will turn Dissenters before or after our death.

You must wink very hard not to see all this. You have connived
at it too, too long. But I now call upon you to consider with me what
is to be done ; first, to prevent a separation ; secondly, to save the few
uncorrupted preachers; thirdly, to make the best of those that are
corrupted.?

Charles Wesley does not seem to have waited for his brother’s
answer to his peremptory appeal. In his letter he had
suggested a consultation on the subjects which had excited
his alarm. Instead of waiting for it, he began writing letters
to William Grimshaw and some of the ‘uncorrupted’ lay
preachers. He could not restrain his natural impetuosity.
On March 6 he wrote to Nicholas Gilbert, and the next day to
John Johnson. Towards the end of the month he sent letters
to William Grimshaw, John Nelson, and Christopher Hopper.
In reading these letters and others written about the same time
we cannot repress a feeling of regret that he wrote them.
The letters are to be found in Jackson’s Life of Charles Wesley,*
and those who are interested in the questions debated at that
time will form their own opinion of the character of their
contents. There is one point in them which we will submit to
the judgement of our readers before we quote Thomas Jackson’s
well-balanced verdict on Charles Wesley’s action at this time.
Wishing to secure the welfare of a stalwart like Christopher

} Jackson's Life of Charles Wesley, ii. 180~181. 3 See ii. 182-187.
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Hopper, he draws an appalling picture of the destiny of an
itinerant preacher. He says:

What must be your end ? This question ought to be asked, con-
sidered, urged, insisted on, till it be answered to your full satisfaction.

Here is a poor Methodist preacher who has given up his business (his
little all) for the sake of preaching the gospel. Perhaps he has got a
wife, and children, and nothing to keep them. By labouring like a
horse, and travelling like a post-boy, for ten or a dozen years, his
strength is exhausted ; yet he is able, and quite willing to do what he
can still. But how shall he get bread for his family ? That, Mr.
Superintendent will look to.

Well; be it so. Suppose neither he nor his children are starved
while my brother and I live, what must he do when we depart? Our
end cannot now be far of. What will then become of this old, faithful
preacher ? ‘ He must turn Dissenting or Church minister.” I grant it.
There is no medium.

‘ But will you’ (you ask us) ‘ now use all your interest to get him
ordained ? ° I answer for myself, ‘ Yes’; and will begin to-morrow,
or never blame him for turning Dissenter. Neither have I the least
doubt but the porter will be commanded to open the door, and to admit,
by imposition of hands, as many as have addicted themselves to God’s
service in the Established Church. I have more reason for believing this
than is commonly known ; and am assured, if our preachers do not
ruin themselves and the work by their own precipitation, our Lord will
take care of every one of them. If any of you prefer the service of the
Dissenters, I would let you depart in peace. If your heart is as my
heart, and you dare venture in the same bottom, then am I your faith-
ful servant for the residue of my days, and bound to do all I can for you
as to soul, body, and estate. -

If words mean anything, the foregoing paragraphs show that
Charles Wesley wished to take away some of John Wesley's
most trusted helpers, and get them ordained and introduced
to livings in the Church of England. In order to induce them
to accept his assistance, he pointed to the prospect of poverty
which awaited them if they remained in association with his
brother. But he undervalued the loyalty of ‘ the men of the
old brigade.” Including the offenders at Norwich, who were
Paul Greenwood, John Murlin, Thomas Mitchell, and, probably,
Isaac Brown, our records show that all the lay preachers we
have mentioned in describing this controversy ‘ died in the
work,” remaining true to Methodism to the end of their lives.
In reading the letters that passed between Charles Wesley and
William Grimshaw at this time, we note that each of them
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threatened to cease their association with John Wesley. But
that association was not broken save by the hand of death.

Before looking at another question which was discussed at
this time, we will place on record Thomas Jackson’s opinion of
Charles Wesley'’s conduct at this crisis. Speaking of the letters
at which we have glanced, he says:

The following letters, addressed by Mr. Charles Wesley to different
preachers, display his characteristic fear, uprightness, generosity, and
love of the Established Church. They also place his warmth and
impetuosity in striking contrast to the calm, practical wisdom of his
brother. Charles would at once resort to decisive measures, perhaps
80 as to dissolve the Society at Norwich, which was known to be very
intractable, and to silence the offending preachers. John would
moderate and gradually check irregularities which he could not at
once remove, but with the certainty of much evil. Charles would have
all the preachers who were not Churchmen separated from their brethren
and settled, if they chose, as Dissenting ministers, and the rest ordained
as clergymen ; not thinking that by these measures the Societies would
be broken up, and the itinerancy destroyed. John would rather employ
both classes of preachers in extending the work of God as widely as
possible ; deeming nothing upon earth so important as turning men from
sin to holiness. . . . In reading these letters, as well as that to Mr.
John Wesley, it must be remembered that the writer was a poet, and
that he was not addressing the public. He does not, therefore, measure
his terms, but uses the strong language to which he was professionally
addicted. When he speaks of the Methodist preachers, for instance,
as being ‘ corrupted,’ he intends no reflection either upon their doctrinal
sentiments or upon their moral conduct, but simply that they were
alienated in affection from the Established Church ; although in many
instances he knew that their alienation did not arise from the principles
of systematic Dissent, but from the lives and preaching ot the clergy.
Their ‘ corruption * was the desire which they sometimes expressed,
that the Societies and congregations generally might have the spiritual
advantages which their brethren in London and Bristol enjoyed, under
Mr. Charles Wesley’s own administration—the Lord’s Supper in their
own chapels, and divine service there on the forenoon of the Sabbath
day.*

During Charles Wesley’s visit to London another subject
weighed on his mind. In his letter to William Grimshaw,
written on March 27, 1760, he makes this statement; ‘ Our
preaching-houses are mostly licensed, and so are proper meet-
ing-houses. Our preachers are mostly licensed, and so are
Dissenting ministers. They took out their licences as Pro-
testant Dissenters. Three of our steadiest preachers give the

} Lsfe of Charles Wesley, ii. 181-182.
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sacrament at Norwich, with no other ordination or authority
than a sixpenny licence. My brother approves of it. All the
rest will most probably follow their example. What, then,
must be the consequence? Not only separation, but general
confusion, and the destruction of the work, so far as it depends
on the Methodists.” When reading some of Charles Wesley’s
letters we have to bear in mind Thomas Jackson’s apology for
him, based on the fact that he was ‘a poet.” In the state-
ment he made to Grimshaw we see signs of the exercise of a
vivid imagination. But Grimshaw accepted his description.
In his reply he says that the licensing of preachers and preach-
ing-houses was a matter that he never expected to have seen
or heard of among the Methodists. But he states that since
the last Conference many of the preachers in his neighbour-
hood had been licensed at the Quarter Sessions, and that
‘ several of the preaching-houses and other houses had also
been licensed.” His conclusion was that the Methodists were
no longer members of the Church of England ; that they were
as real a body of Dissenters from her ‘ as the Presbyterians,
Baptists, Quakers, or any body of Independents.” Accepting
Charles Wesley’s statements, the truth of which seemed to be
confirmed by his own observations, Grimshaw made up his
mind to separate from the Methodists. He determined to
remain in the Church of England, which he describes as * the
soundest, purest, and most apostolical, well-constituted
national Christian Church in the world.” It is not often that
we meet with such a complimentary description of the English
Church in the eighteenth century. Still, in his letter to Charles
Wesley he admits that the Methodist preachers and members
had so much to say in favour of their separation from it as
would not be easily ‘ obviated ’ in a Conference or otherwise.

In reading the letters of Charles Wesley and William Grim-
shaw at this crisis we have wondered if they saw that each of
them was, in part, responsible for creating the position they
denounced with such severity. Did Charles Wesley remember
Sunday, April 12, 1741, when he and the Kingswood ‘ bands’
were present in Temple Church, Bristol, and were again repelled
from the sacrament? On that occasion his High Church-
manship was sorely tried, and gave way under the trial. He
went back to Kingswood with his friends and administered the
sacrament to them in the ‘ unconsecrated ’ colliers’ school, and
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declared that, if a house had been wanting, he would have
justified the administration of the sacrament ‘ in the midst of
the wood.”* That act did not stand alone. It is not too much
to say that in the years before he ceased to itinerate he did
much to open the path in which the Methodists afterwards
walked. As to William Grimshaw, it is enough to mention
the fact that, in his letter to Charles Wesley, written in 1760,
he admits that he had preached, now and then, in a ‘ licensed
house ’ when he was in a place ‘ where he was a stranger, or
thought no notice would be taken of it.” The admission lacks
the spirit of a high chivalry ; but it shows that, when it could
be done without attracting the attention of the ecclesiastical
authorities of the Church of England, Grimshaw dared to
preach in a ‘ licensed * house.

The discussions that took place in 1760, which caused Charles
Wesley so much trouble of mind, bring out into clearness a
subject of vital importance. The licensing of preaching-
houses in certain localities had become a common practice ;
but the licensing of preachers was qnly beginning to be adopted
at the time we have reached. We venture to dissent from
Charles Wesley’s assertion that in 1760 the preachers were
‘mostly licensed.” In Johkn Wesley and the Advance of
Methodism we showed that the newly-built ‘ Room ’ in Bristol
was ‘ licensed ’ on October 17, 1748, and we recorded Charles
Wesley's protest against the action.* But he continued to
preach there, notwithstanding his conviction that the
‘ licensing of the Room was needless, useless, and senseless.’
John Wesley did not hold that opinion. As the number of
preaching-houses increased we have shown that in several
places certificates of ‘registration’ were obtained by the
trustees. Such °‘registration’ secured protection for the
buildings. That had been made clear by the Riot Act of 1715.
It contains a section making it felony, unlawfully, riotously,
and with force to demolish or pull down, or to begin to demolish
or pull down, any church or chapel, or any building for religious
worship certified and registered under the Toleration Act of
1689 ; and the section declares that damages may be recovered
from the hundred in which the damage to the building was
done.* The Riot Act protected a * registered ' meeting-house,

! John Weslev and the Methodist Societtes, 32. p. 58-60.
al:See Laws Against Nonconformity, by T. Bennett, LLD a small book of great
value
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and thereby conferred a great benefit upon Nonconformists.
But in 1766 a step was taken which was of great importance
to the Methodists. In that year a judgement of the Court of
King’s Bench was delivered in an interesting case. The
justices of Derbyshire had refused to register a Methodist
preaching-house. One of their reasons was that as Methodists
‘ do not dissent from the Church of England, but only pretend
to observe her doctrine and discipline with greater purity than
their neighbours, it may be a very serious question how far
they are the objects of the Toleration Act, and privileged to
meet in conventicles.” But the King's Bench held that ‘in
registering meeting-houses under the Toleration Act, the
justices had no discretion, but had merely a ministerial duty
to perform ’; and the justices were compelled to register the
meeting-house. But the judgement also contained the warn-
ing that ‘if the persons resorting to a registered meeting-
house did not bring themselves within the Toleration Act by
taking the necessary oaths, &c., such registering would not
protect them from the penalties of the law.’*

The decision of the Court of King’s Bench brought relief to
those who wished to protect the preaching-houses against the
assaults of riotous mobs. We must, however, note that it had
no direct bearing on the question of the protection of congre-
gations and preachers. Charles Wesley’s letters to William
Grimshaw raise the question of the licensing of the lay
preachers, a subject which calls for close attention. It must
be remembered that in 1760 the Seven Years’ War still raged ;
press-gangs were busy, and the unlicensed Methodist preacher
was their easy prey. In 1744, during the ‘ Young Pretender’
panic, John Nelson was hurried into the army. When he
appeared before the commissioners at Halifax, they found that
he did not possess a licence, so they sent him to prison. Later,
the preachers in Cornwall were seized and shared the same
fate. The eagerness of the persecutors of the Methodists in
Cornwall was so great that even John Wesley was arrested and
was marched off to begin a soldier’s life. However, the man
who had taken him into custody came to his senses on the way
to the commissioners and apologized for his mistake. Is it
any wonder that the protection of a licence was secured by
preachers in this dangerous period? In Charles Wesley’s

! See Dr. Bennett's Laws Against Nonconformsly, 219~220.
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letter to William Grimshaw he says, ‘ Our preachers are mostly
licensed, and so are Dissenting ministers.” We know that at
the time when he made this statement he was getting ‘ out of
touch ’ with the lay preachers, and therefore we doubt the
fullness of his knowledge concerning them. Against his
assertion we may place an extract from a letter written by
John Wesley on July 19, 1768. In it he declares that  the
greater part of the Methodist preachers are not licensed at all.’s
Preferring John Wesley's statement, it is interesting to note
some of the cases which have been discovered by diligent search.
We find that Robert Roberts, who became an itinerant preacher
in 1759, possessed a licence which he had obtained for his
protection when he was a local preacher. In 1761 Thomas Lee,
that valiant evangelist who suffered greatly from mob violence
at Newark-upon-Trent, showed his licence to the mayor and
the town clerk, and three of the rioters ‘ were bound over to
the assizes.” Thomas Taylor, when he was brought before the
mayor for making a riot in 1763, produced his licence and gave
his Worship a much-needed lesson on the contents of the
Act of Toleration.®

In John Wesley’s letter, written on July 19, 1768, we get
light on the manner of applying for these licences. It is
assumed that the letter was written to the Rev. Thomas Adam,
the Rector of Winteringham, Lincolnshire. The following
paragraphs are of importance :

REev. AND DEAR S1R,—One of Winteringham informed me yesterday
that you said no sensible and well-meaning man could hear, and much
less join, the Methodists ; because they all acted under a lie, professing
themselves members of the Church of England, while they licensed
themselves as Dissenters. You are a little misinformed. The greater
part of the Methodist preachers are not licensed at all; and several
that are, are not licensed as Dissenters. I instance particularly in
Thomas Adams and Thomas Brisco. When Thomas Adams desired a
licence, one of the justices said, ‘ Mr. Adams, are not you of the Church
_ of England? Why, then, do you desire a licence?’ He answered,
‘ Sir, I am of the Church of England, yet I desire a licence, that I may
legally defend myself from the illegal violence of oppressive men.’
T. Brisco being asked the same question in London, and the justice
adding, * We will not grant you alicence,’ hislawyerreplied, ‘ Gentlemen,
you cannot refuse it; the Act is a mandatory act. You have no
choice.” One asked the Chairman, * Is this true ? ° He shook his head,

! John Wesley’s Journal, v. 278. " Early Methodist Preachers, v. 23, 164.
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and said, ‘ He is in the right." The objection, therefore, does not lie
at all against the greater part of the Methodist preachers; because
they are either licensed in this form, or not licensed at all.

When others applied for a licence, the clerk or justice said, ‘ I will
not license you but as Protestant Dissenters.” They replied, * We are
of the Church; we are not Dissenters; but if you will call us so, we
cannot help it.” They did call them so in their certificates, but this did
not make them so. They still call themselves members of the Church
of England ; and they believe themselves so to be. Therefore neither
do these act under a lie. They speak no more than they verily believe.
Surely, then, unless there are stronger objections than this, both well-
meaning and sensible men may in perfect consistence with their sense
and sincerity, not only hear, but join the Methodists.1

Charles Wesley’s withdrawal from the itinerant life has
caused considerable discussion ; but the reason may be guessed
by those who are acquainted w1th his correspondence When
he was a courageous evangelist he could sing :

Ye different sects, who all declare,

‘ Lo, here is Christ ! * or, ‘ Christ is there!’
Your stronger proofs divinely give,

And show me where the Christians live.

The hymn was first published at the end of John Wesley's
Earnest Appeal to Men of Reason and Religion, issued in 1743.*
The hymn describes primitive Christianity as it is revealed in
the New Testament. It should be studied diligently in the
present day. After describing the days when there was ‘ A
little Church in every house,” Charles Wesley asks where he
shall wander to discover the successors of the primitive
Christians. He declares that the search for them was in vain.
It was at this point that he made his appeal to the different
sects which we have quoted. His challenge was answered by
discordant cries of ‘ Lo, here!’ But he says:

Your claim, alas! ye cannot prove,
Ye want the genuine mark of love;
Thou only, Lord, Thine own canst show ;
For sure Thou hast a Church below.

When we contrast the hymn in the Earnest Appeal with the

! John Wesley’s Journal, v. 278-279. Articles on the Conventicle Act and its
repeal appeared in the Proceedings of the Wesley Hislorscal Socsely. See xi. 82-93,
103-108 130-137.

2 See Wesley's Works, viii. 43-45, 8vo ed.
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following letter which Charles Wesley wrote to Samuel Walker
on August 21, 1756, we shall see that he had discovered the
Church of the ‘Primitive Christians.” Writing to Samuel
Walker, he says :

Your last brings a blessing with it. I hope to consider it fully with
my brother, who is expected every hour. I have not time to answer :
only in few words.

Lay preaching, it must be allowed, is a partial separation ; and may,
but need not, end in a total one. The probability of it has made me
tremble for years past; and kept me from leaving the Methodists.
I stay not so much to do good, as to prevent evil. I stand in the way
of my brother’s violent counsellors, the object of both their fear and
hate.

The Regulations you propose are the same in substance which I have
been long contending for in vain. God incline my brother’s heart to
admit of them ! I know he will not hear of laying aside his lay preacheys
in so many words. All I can desire of him, to begin is: (1) To cut oft
all their hopes of his ever leaving the Church of England. (2) To put
a stop to any more new preachers, till he has entirely regulated, dis-
ciplined, and secured the old ones. If he wavers still, and trims between
the Church and them, I know not what to do. As yet, it is in his power,
if he exert himself, to stop the evil. But I fear he will never have an-
other opportunity. The tide will be too strong for him, and bear him
away into the gulf of separation. Must I not, therefore, enter my
protest and give up the preachers formally to him ? Hoc Ithacus volit :
and they impatiently wait for it. The restless pains of bad men to
thrust me out from the Methodists seems a plain argument for my
continuing with them. I want light, would have no will of my own,
but prove what is that good and perfect will of God. In my next I
may have time for a more particular answer. Be so good to write
again ; and continue your prayers for, dear sir, your sincere tho’ weak
and despised Brother.*

If we survey the ground over which we have travelled in
John Wesley and the Methodist Societies and in this volume, we
shall understand some of the reasons why Charles Wesley
ceased to itinerate, and why he contemplated secession from
the Methodists.

During his visit to London in 1760, Charles Wesley had an
experience which deeply affected him. We have seen that on
April 4 he did not accept Mr. Shirley’s offer to assist him in
the administration of the sacrament. At that time Mr. Shirley,

! For a copy of the original letter see W.H.S. Procesdings, xv. 70~71; Tyerman's
Lifs Ig,w Wasley, il. 247-248 ' !
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who was a clergyman, was in London on tragic business. He
had left Ireland in order to attend the trial of his brother,
Lord Ferrers, who was accused of the murder of Mr. Johnson.
The day of trial was approaching ; and, out of keen sympathy,
Charles Wesley would not lay any additional burden on him.
When we say that Earl Ferrers was the cousin of Lady Hunt-
ingdon we shall understand that all her friends shared the
burden that oppressed her. In Smollett’s Continuation of the
Complete History of England the case of Earl Ferrers is described
and discussed. Looking at the murder from the standpoint
of a medical man, Smollett gives an opinion that it was
committed by a lunatic. That plea was raised at the trial in
the House of Lords, but was not accepted. The trial began
on April 16. Charles Wesley, George Whitefield, and his wife
were present. The next day it was continued and concluded.
On April 18 sentence of death was pronounced. The execution
was postponed until May 5, when it was carried into effect at
Tyburn. In the procession there was a mourning-coach filled
with the earl’s friends. He had arrayed himself in gay attire.
He expressed some displeasure at being executed as a common
felon, and had written to the King asking that he might be
permitted to die in the Tower, ‘ where the Earl of Essex, one
of his ancestors, had been beheaded in the reign of Queen
Elizabeth.” In his conversation with the chaplain, who was
wishful to obtain some statement concerning his sentiments on
religion that might be made known to the crowd, he said that
he did not think himself accountable to the public for his
private sentiments. He also expressed the opinion that he
thought it was criminal to disturb the established religion of
his country, and added that the great number of sects, and
the multiplication of religious disputes, had almost banished
morality. On the scaffold he refused to join the chaplain in
his devotions, but he repeated the Lord’s Prayer, which he said
he had always admired. The end soon came. Smollett, in
expressing his final opinion on the earl’s mental condition,
says: ‘ Without all doubt, this unhappy nobleman’s dis-
position was so dangerously mischievous that it became
necessary, for the good.of Society, either to confine him
for life, as an incorrigible lunatic, or give him up at once
as a sacrifice to justice.’*
1 Smollett’s Contsmuation, iii. 383.
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We can imagine the effect of this time of anxiety on such a
sensitive man as Charles Wesley. He tried to soothe the
agitated minds of Lady Huntingdon and her friends. But
from Friday, January 18, when the murder was committed,
to May 5, the day of execution, the strain on his emotions was
continuous. It is no wonder that when he returned to Bristol
his strength gave way. For almost a year following his visit
to London, we have only slight records of his work.



VI
LOOKING WESTWARD

WE must now turn from Charles Wesley and his attempt, in
1760, to prevent the departure of the lay preachers and many
of the members of the Methodist Societies from the Church of
England. It is difficult to ascertain the measure of his success,
but it is certain that his influence was waning. When he
ceased to be an itinerating minister, most of the Societies
saw little of him; he lost the persuasive force of personal
contact. The lay preachers, who had to face the violence of
mobs, contrasted his and their position. He had the advantage
of preaching in Bristol in a ‘licensed’ building, and was
protected in the city by the strong arm of the law. The
majority of the preachers throughout the country had no
such defence. When Charles Wesley argued that it was wrong
to seek for ‘ licences,’” he caused thoughts to arise in the hearts
of lay preachers and members of persecuted Societies. If we
would seek to understand the experiences of the lay preachers
in 1760 and the following years, we must read those intensely
interesting volumes The Lives of Early Methodist Preachers.
We shall then cease to wonder that, when Charles Wesley
attacked the granting of ‘ licences,’ and vehemently denounced
any signs of secession from the Church of England, he weakened
his influence with preachers and people.?

John Wesley left London on March 3, 1760; he did not
return there until November 8 of that year. On Tuesday,
March 4, he was in Birmingham. There had been disturbance
in the Society, but he says: ‘I rejoined several who had been
long separated from their brethren ; and left upwards of fifty
resolved to stand together in the good old path.” In the
evening he preached in the new ‘house’ at Wednesbury.*

1 Those who are well acquainted with the history of Methodism know that mob-
assaults on the Methodists continued for many years after the close of the eighteenth

century.
8 It was situated in Workhouse Lane, now known as Meeting Street.
84
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Once more he speaks highly of the Wednesbury Methodists.
He declares that ‘few congregations exceed this either in
number or seriousness.’ At five o’clock the next morning
the congregation far exceeded the morning congregation at
the Foundery. Again he expresses his delight, and says:
‘ Hunger after the Word has been from the beginning the
distinguishing mark of this people.” Looking at the on-going
way, we linger for a few moments in Wednesbury. In 1760
Alexander Mather was appointed to the Staffordshire circuit.
Among other places he held prayer-meetings at Wednesbury
at which he gave addresses full of encouragement to penitent
sinners. He exhorted them °to believe now; to come to
Christ now ; without any other qualification than a sense of
their own sinfulness and helplessness.” In one of these prayer-
meetings there was a lad, in his sixteenth year, who had been
accustomed to attend the Methodist services at Wednesbury.
He listened eagerly to Mather’s exhortation. He returned to
his home, which was in Newton Road, Great Barr, just over
the parish boundary of Handsworth. His father was a farmer
and gardener. With a companion he went into his father’s
old barn and earnestly prayed for the forgiveness of his sins.
The light came to him; he found peace through believing
in a crucified Saviour. He began at once to work for the
salvation of others and met with cheering success. His name
was Francis Asbury.!

Riding towards Yorkshire, John Wesley must have often
thought of the good news he had received from Otley at the
beginning of the year. The influence of a great revival was
beginning to be felt in places through which he passed. He
seems to have arranged for a meeting of Methodists in Leeds
at which he might have an opportunity of learning more about
the remarkable spiritual work that was progressing in that
town and its neighbourhood. The meeting was to be a gather-
ing of those ‘ who believed they were saved from sin.” On
Wednesday, March 12, the meeting was held, and Wesley
spent the greatest part of the day in examining its members
‘one by one.” In his Journal he gives us the result of his
careful examination. He says: °‘The testimony of some I
could not receive; but, concerning the greatest part, it is
plain (unless they could be supposed to tell wilful and deliberate

1 See Bishop Asbury, by F. W. Briggs, 17.
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lies), (1) That they feel no inward sin, and to the best of their
knowledge commit no outward sin; (2) That they see and
love God every moment, and pray, rejoice, give thanks ever-
more ; (3) That they have constantly as clear a witness from
God of sanctification as they have of justification. Now in
this I do rejoice, and will rejoice, call it what you please;
and I would to God thousands had experienced thus much,
let them afterwards experience as much more as God
pleases.’*

John Wesley’s judgement is all the more valuable because
he had been slow to believe in the possibility of a sinless life.
He had advanced, step by step, to the acceptance of the
position which he expresses in the foregoing paragraph. There
is a great significance in the phrase ‘ call it what you please.’
The possibility of living without committing sin should not
be excluded from the aims of those who accept the command :
‘ Like as He which called you is holy, be ye yourselves also
holy in all manner of living ; because it is written, ye shall be
holy ; for I am holy.”* The pursuit of holiness ennobles us.
There is within us a voice that cries out after a higher, and a
highest spiritual life. No one who studies Church History
will doubt that in innumerable cases that cry of the soul has
prevailed. Writing of Thomas & Kempis's Imitation of Christ,
a modern author has said :

We are told that, bistorically considered, the I'mitatio is to be viewed
as a final summary of the moral wisdom of Catholicism ; that it is a
picture of man’s moral nature; that it continually presents personal
moral improvement as the first and constant aim of every individual.
I do not say that any of this is untrue, but is moral the right word ?
Is not the sphere of these famous meditations the spiritual rather than
the moral life, and their aim the attainment of holiness rather than
moral excellence? As, indeed, another writer under the same head
better expresses it, is not their inspiration ‘ the yearning for perfection
—the consolation of the life out of self °? By Holiness do we not mean
something different from virtue ? It is not the same as duty : still less
is it the same as religious belief. It is the name for an inner grace of
nature, an instinct of the soul, by which, though knowing of earthly
appetites and worldly passions, the spirit, purifying itself of these, and
independent of all reason, argument, and the fierce struggles of the will,
dwells in living, patient, and confident communion with the seen and
the unseen Good. In this region, not in ethics, moves the Imitatio.

3 Journal, iv. 372. 81 Pet. i. 15-16.
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This definition of holiness is selected from an article in the
Nineteenth Century written by Lord Morley. It was quoted
in a leading article in The Times Literary Supplement of
September 27, 1923. In different words, but in substance,
it expresses John Wesley's view of the meaning of the profound
doctrine of Christian Holiness. It must be clearly understood
that, although the doctrine is often called ‘a Methodist
doctrine,” the statement is incorrect. The doctrine was
revived and emphasized in the eighteenth century by Wesley,
but it has come to us from the purest ages of the early Christian
Church.

On March 30 John Wesley sailed from Liverpool for Dublin.
After a voyage of two days he reached Ireland, and immediately
began his work. He was much encouraged by the seriousness
of the large congregations that assembled during the week,
and by the condition of the classes. The influence that was
bringing new life to the Yorkshire Societies seemed to have
reached Ireland. The Society was larger than it had been
for several years, and Wesley’s cheerful comment shows that
he anticipated still greater spiritual success. He stayed in
Ireland for five months, and was greatly encouraged by his
association with its warm-hearted people.

Two incidents occurred during this visit which demand our
attention. The first was of national importance ; the second
causes us to look away from Ireland to lands far beyond our
seas. John Wesley was an ardent patriot; nothing that
concerned the safety and welfare of his country was a matter
of indifference to him. The Seven Years’ War continued.
During a previous visit he had been concerned to notice the
carelessness of many Irishmen when the possibility of a French
invasion was mentioned. The Government had tried to
arouse them to a sense of their danger, but their warnings
produced little effect. Wesley, in private, emphasized these
warnings, but his efforts to prevent a catastrophe were in
vain. In October, 1759, several ships under the command of
M. de Thurot managed to escape the vigilance of the British
commander of the fleet stationed in the Downs. They sailed
from Dunkirk. The instructions given to M. de Thurot were
to make occasional descents on the coast of Ireland. At first
the French ships met with much misfortune, and the scheme of
attack on Ireland miscarried. The ships returned to Bergen,
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in Norway, and refitted. Then, in January, 1760, they sailed
again with the intention of landing soldiers near Londonderry.
But tempestuous weather prevailed. In spite of storms, the
little fleet managed to reach the islands that lie off the west
coast of Scotland. Provisions had run short, and soldiers and
sailors were in danger of starvation. The lack of food was
supplied by the islanders. At last the ships sailed from Isla
and reached Carrickfergus, a town on the shores of Belfast
Lough. On February 2r six hundred soldiers were landed
from the ships.

In Smollett’s Continuation of his History of England, published
in 1760, we have an account of the raid ; that account may be
supplemented by the description contained in John Wesley's
Journal.* At this point we will follow Smollett’s account.
He says:

Lieutenant-Colonel Jennings, who commanded four companies of
raw undisciplined men at Carrickfergus, having received information
that three ships had anchored about two miles and a half from the
castle, which was ruinous and defenceless, immediately detached a party
to make observations, and ordered the French prisoners, there confined,
to be removed to Belfast. Meanwhile, the enemy, landing without
opposition, advanced towards the town, which they found as well
guarded as the nature of the place, which was entirely open, and the
circumstances of the English commander, would allow. A regular
attack was carried on, and a spirited defence made, until the ammuni-
tion of the English failed : then Colonel Jennings retired in order to the
castle, which, however, was in all respects untenable; for besides a
breach in the wall near fifty feet wide, they found themselves destitute
of provision and ammunition. Nevertheless, they repulsed the assail-
antsin their first attack, even after the gate was burst open, and supplied
the want of shot with stones and rubbish. At length the colonel and
his troops were obliged to surrender, on condition that they should not
be sent prisoners to France, but be ransomed by sending thither an
equal number of French prisoners from Great Britain or Ireland : that
the castle should not be demolished, nor the town of Carrickfergus
plundered or burned ; and on condition that the mayor and corporation
should furnish the French troops with necessary provisions.

In the Carrickfergus fight an incident occurred which is
described by Smollett. We agree with him when he says that
it deserves to be transmitted to posterity as an instance of that
courage, mingled with humanity, which constitutes true
heroism. While the French and English soldiers were hotly

1See Continuation of Smollett's History, iil. 390395 ; Wesley's Journal, iv. 380-383.
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engaged in one of the streets, a little child ran playfully between
them, having no idea of the danger to which it was exposed.
A common soldier of the enemy, perceiving that the child’s life
was at stake, grounded his piece, advanced deliberately between
the lines of fire, took up the child in his arms, and conveyed it
to a place of safety. Then, returning to the firing line, he
lifted uphismusket, and, asSmollett says, ‘ resumed hishostility.’
The triumph of the French was short-lived. Hearing the
news of the defeat of Conflans at sea, and of the assembling of
- a strong British Army in Ireland, they returned to their ships
and set sail. But on February 28 an Englishfleet engaged them,
and they were forced to surrender after losing three hundred
men. The loss on the side of the English did not exceed forty
men killed and wounded.

On Monday, May 5, John Wesley preached in the market-
place in Belfast. He then rode to Carrickfergus. A furious
east wind blew in his face, but he reached the town. He
received an invitation from Mr. Cobham, a merchant, to lodge
in his house, and willingly accepted it when he understood that
M. de Cavenac was still there. He was a lieutenant-colonel in
the French Guards who had taken a conspicuous part in the
late action, and was detained in Carrickfergus by a severe
wound he had received in the fight. From Mrs. Cobham
Wesley received a vivid description of the battle. Then he
was introduced to the French officer. With him he had an
interesting conversation. Wesley could speak French, but to
his relief he found that M. de Cavenac could converse in Latin,
‘pretty readily.’ And so they talked together. Wesley
found his new acquaintance ‘ not only a very sensible man, but
thoroughly instructed, even in heart religion” On May 6
they had a long conversation on a subject of intense interest.
It concerned ‘ not only the circumstances, but the essence of
religion.” The French officer listened to Wesley’s description
of the experiences that lie at the heart of the Christian religion.
Now and then, with emotion, M. de Cavenac said, * Why, this
is my religion : there is no true religion besides it !’ There is
much that fascinates us in this incident so briefly described by
Wesley. It seems to foretoken a time when conversations,
not so much on the ‘ circumstances’ as on the ‘ essence’ of
religion, will allay the discord of the Churches, and bring
Christian people together into a closer unity.
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Glancing over the records of John Wesley’s visit to Ireland
in 1760, we come upon a notice of supreme interest. It occurs
in connexion with a visit to Limerick, where he held  a little
Conference ’ on Saturday, July 5. Ten preachers were present.
The numerical returns showed that there were in Connaught a
little more than 200 members ; in Ulster 250 ; in Leinster, 1,000 ;
and in Munster, 600—in all, 2,050 members. Inreporting these
numbers, Crookshank says: ‘In Limerick itself, however, there
had been a considerable decrease, through a lack of life,zeal,and
activity. In hope of quickening the members here, Wesley

preached in the old camp to more than twice the usual con-
' gregation, which on the two following evenings was more
numerous still and equally attentive, including a little army
of soldiers,and not a few of their officers. Thousands assembled
at the concluding service, filling all the lower ground, and
completely covering the surrounding banks.’:

With many thoughts in his mind, Wesley visited the Palatine
settlements in the neighbourhood of Limerick. He was deeply
affected by their condition. On July 16, he says, ‘I rode to
Newmarket, which was another German settlement ; but the
poor settlers, with all their diligence and frugality, could not
procure even the coarsest food to eat and the meanest raiment
to put on, under their merciful landlords, so that most of
these, as well as those at Ballingarrane, have been forced to
seek bread in other places, but the greater part in America.’*
Wesley’s mention of Ballingarrane arrests us. We think of
Philip Embury and his Methodist associates in that place. In
a pamphlet written by Dr. Lewis R. Streeter, who has closely
considered the origin of Methodism in America, we find the
following names of some of the emigrants who sailed from
Limerick on board the Perry, under the command of Captajn
Hogan. He says that the following ‘ Irish-German members
of the Ballingarrane Society were on board : Philip Embury
and his wife ; Embury’s brothers, Peter, David, John, and their
wives ; Paul Heck and his wife, Barbara ; Jacob Dulmage, his
wife, and Jacob, their adult son ; and Valentine Tetler.”* We
know that before the ship sailed, Embury, standing on the
Perry, preached his farewell sermon to Palatines and others

! Crookshank’s History of Methodism in Ireland, i. 146—147.

? Journal, iv. 397-398.

3 Review of Question of Priority, 12. See also Dr. Abel Stevens's History of
Amerscan Methodism, 34, abridged ed.
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who had assembled on the quay of Limerick harbour. Then
the ship set sail. She arrived at New York on August 10, 1760.
At this point we lose clear sight of Embury for some years.
He became a communicant at Tnmty Church, New York.
At a later stage we shall meet him again.

John Wesley sailed from Dublin for Chester on August 24.
He had considerable difficulty in obtaining a passage to Eng-
land. On the voyage, which lasted about three days, the
ship was twice becalmed. The delay interfered with his
arrangements. The Conference had been summoned to meet
in Bristol. When he landed, his difficulties increased. Horses
broke down, and the condition of the roads prevented haste.
Dr. Hunt says: ‘ In 1760 English roads were little better than
they were a century before ; mere trackways, which in parts
were sloughs in winter and scored with deep ruts in summer.
Travelling over them was slow and often dangerous.’* Arthur
Young complains bitterly of the roads over which he travelled
in 1760-1770. One turnpike-road was a bog, with a few
flints scattered on top, another was full of holes and deep ruts,
and on one of his journeys the road was so narrow that when
he met a wagon, the wagoner had to crawl between the
wheels to come to help him lift his chaise over a hedge. It was
not until the last quarter of the eighteenth century that good
roads became general. We can imagine Wesley’s disappoint-
ment as he thought of the preachers waiting for him in Bristol.
However, he got there on August 28. The preachers had waited
for him from the beginning of the week. Another difficulty
arose. He had arranged to set out for Cornwall on the follow-
ing Monday, so he had to get the business of the ‘ Annual
Conference ’ into two days. The editor of his Journal con-
siders that this seventeenth English Conference was ‘ one of the
shortest, perhaps the shortest,” that Wesley held. Myles, ever
eager to indicate a point bearing on the constitutional system
of Methodism, says: ‘ This circumstance clearly shows there
could be no Methodist Conference while Mr. Wesley lived,
unless he were present, or had appointed the person who
held it.’s

On Monday, September 1, John Wesley set out from Bristol

! The Political History of England, x. 250.

* Myles’s statement must be read in the light of the fact that at the Conference of

1780, which began on August 1, the preachers, in Wesley’s absence, made Christopher
Hopper the president until W&sley arrived. See Early Methodsst Preachers, i. 219,
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on a visitation of the Cornish Societies, and did not return there
until October 3. An event, during his stay in the city, stands
out with exceptional clearness. From his Oxford days to the
end of his life he was interested in the English prisons. In
1760 it is not too much to say that most of them were in a
loathsome condition ; but we have seen the beginning of a
change in London.* That change was conspicuous in Bristol.
In the Bristol Chronicle it was reported that ‘ a charity sermon
was preached in the afternoon of October 16, in Newgate, for
the relief of the poor debtors.” John Wesley’s Journal shows
the name of the preacher. Wesley not only preached, but
inspected the prison. His report is of national importance.
As a prelude we will quote an extract from his letter to the
London Chronicle, written on January 2, 1761. °‘ Of all the
seats of woe on this side hell, few, I suppose, exceed or even
equal Newgate. If any region of horror could exceed it a
few years ago, Newgate in Bristol did; so great was the
filth, the stench, the misery, and wickedness, which shocked all
who had a spark of humanity left. How was I surprised,
then, when I was there a few weeks ago!’

He then proceeds to give the following account of his visit ¢

What a change is in this place since I knew it first! (1) Every part
of it, above stairs and below, even the pit, wherein the felons are con-
fined at night, is as clean and sweet as a gentleman’s house : it being a
rule that every prisoner wash and thoroughly cleanse his apartment
twice a week. (2) Here is no fighting or brawling. If any think
himself aggrieved, the cause is immediately referred to the keeper,
who hears the contending parties face to face, and decides the affair
at once. (3) The usual grounds of quarrelling are taken away, for it is
very rarely that any one cheats or wrongs another, as being sure, if
anything of this kind is discovered, to be more closely confined. (4)
Here is no drunkenness suffered, however advantageous it might be
to the keeper and tapster. (5) Norany whoredom, the women prisoners
being narrowly observed, and kept apart from the men, and no women
of the town being now admitted, no, not at any price. (6) All possible
care is taken to prevent idleness. Those who are willing to work at
their callings are provided with tools and materials, partly by the
keeper, who gives them credit at a moderate profit, partly by the alms
occasionally given, which are divided with the utmost impartiality.
Accordingly at this time, a shoemaker, a tailor, a brazier, and a coach-
maker are all employed. (7) On the Lord’s day they neither work
nor play, but dress themselves as clean as they can, to attend the

1 See John Wesley and the Advance of Methodism, 132.
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public service in the chapel, at which every person under the roof is
present. None is excused unless sick, in which case he is provided both
with proper advice and medicines. (8) To assist them in spirituals as
well as temporals, they have a sermon preached every Sunday and
Thursday. And a large Bible is chained on one side of the chapel,
which any of the prisoners may read. By the blessing of God on these
regulations, the whole prison has a new face. Nothing offends either
the eye or ear, and the whole has the appearance of a quiet serious
family.?

Wesley’s description of the change effected in the Bristol
Newgate was published in the London Chronicle, and must
have excited the envy of the men and women who, at the
hazard of their lives, were accustomed to care for neglected
prisoners. Among them the Wesleys and other Methodists
occupy places of high distinction. In addition to his visit to
Newgate, John Wesley went to Knowle to ascertain the con-
dition of the French prisoners. He found many of them
almost naked again. He preached a ‘charity sermon’ in the New
Room in the Horsefair on a Sunday evening at eight o’clock,
and made a collection for the prisoners; he gave orders that
the money should be laid out in linen and waistcoats, which
were given to those most in want.

It was during John Wesley’s visit to Cornwall that an event
occurred of great national importance. The news would
travel slowly, but when he was in Bristol it must have arrived
and become a topic of exciting conversation. When Wolfe
gained his great victory over Montcalm on the Plains of Abra-
ham the end of the war in Canada came into view, but Montreal
still remained in possession of the French. Early in the spring
of 1760, a French army of more than eight thousand men
marched towards Quebec to attempt its recovery ; but, although
the English garrison only numbered about three thousand
men, it marched out of the gates of Quebec and bore the assault.
There was a desperate fight ; and the small English force was
compelled to retreat into the city. Famine set in ; it seemed as
if capitulation was inevitable. But, on May 9, Brigadier
Murray who was in command of Quebec was told that a ship-
of-war was beating up the river and making for the town.
The news spread. The ramparts overlooking the St. Lawrence
were crowded with officers and men. The question was,
‘ Would the ship show the red flag of England or the white flag

! John Wesley's Journal, iv. 436-417.
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of France? ° The British colours were flying on Cape Diamond.
Then, on the stranger ship, a flag rose slowly to the masthead.
The wind unfolded it ; and the garrison saw the red cross of
St. George. She was the British frigate Lowestoffe. She
anchored before the Lower Town and saluted the garrison
with twenty-one guns. In a week’s time she was joined by
the Vanguard, a ship of the line, and the frigate Diana. There
were six French vessels higher up the river under the command
of ‘ the gallant Vauquelin.” The British ships attacked them.
Parkman says that Vauquelin did not belie his reputation.
He fought his ship with persistent bravery till his ammunition
was spent, refused even to strike his flag, and, being made
prisoner, was treated by his captors with distinguished honour.
The other vessels made little or no resistance. One of them
threw her guns overboard and escaped ; the rest ran ashore
and were burned. As the French vessels contained stores of
food and ammunition for the troops besieging Quebec, their
commander at once raised the siege, leaving much of his artillery
behind him, and all his sick and wounded. The news of the
victory was sent to England. When it became known, it
was received with astonishment. Horace Walpole expressed
the common surprise when he said America was ‘ like a book
one has read and done with ; but here we are on a sudden
reading our book backwards.’:

The successful defence of Quebec added much to the strength
of the British hold on Canada. But, so long as Montreal was
in the hands of the French, Canada could not be considered as
conquered. But Amherst, who had distinguished himself at
Louisbourg, was making his way through the wilderness ; and,
in the morning of September 6, after overcoming the risks of
the rapids, his troops landed at La Chine, nine miles from
Montreal. He then advanced and encamped above the town ;
the next morning Murray and his troops arrived and camped
below it. The Marquis de Vaudreuil, the French Governor of
Canada, was with the troops in Montreal. Its defence was
impossible ; on September 8 he signed the capitulation. ‘ By
it Canada and all its dependencies passed to the British Crown.
French officers, civil and military, with French troops and
sailors, were to be sent to France in British ships. Free
exercise of religion was assured to the people of the colony,

1 Parkman’s Monicalm and Wolfe, ii. 356-358, Boston ed.
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and the religious communities were to retain their possessions,
rights, and privileges. All persons who might wish to retire
to France were allowed to do so, and the Canadians were
to remain in full enjoyment of feudal and other property,
including negro and Indian slaves.’:

The conquest of Canada was hailed in England with general
applause. But there, and elsewhere, shrewd men saw that
it might have a grave effect on the relation of the American
colonies to the Government of England. The invasion by
French troops, and by their Indian allies, would become terrors
of the past. The defence by British troops would no longer
be needed. Questions began to be asked, which, in a few
years, received vehement replies.

We will close the record of this remarkable year by saying
that, on Saturday, October 25, 1760, King George II died
suddenly. He was in his seventy-seventh year. He was
succeeded by his grandson, George III, whose long reign did
not end until the beginning of 1820. John Wesley’s record
of the death of George II is somewhat difficult to understand.
In his Journal, on October 25, he writes, ¢ King George was
gathered to his fathers. When will England have a better
prince? ’ We know that Wesley was distinguished for his
loyalty to the reigning monarch; but if the word ° better’
refers to the King’'s moral character, and his devotion to the
interests of England, we wonder at the question. But, per-
haps, he was thinking of the King’s attitude towards himself
and the Methodist people. So far back as 1741 the King had
determined to stop the rioters in London who were attacking
the Wesleys. When the report of these outrages was mentioned
in his Council, the King was indignant. He declared that
‘no man in his dominions should be persecuted on account
of religion while he sat on the throne.” That declaration was
made known to the Middlesex magistrates, and the persecution
of Methodists by mobs gradually ceased in London.* The
declaration of the King probably influenced the magistrates
in some of the largest towns, such as Bristol and Newcastle-
on-Tyne ; but as we have shown, it had little effect elsewhere.
John Wesley never forgot the action of George II in 1741, and
he may have thought of it in Bristol when he heard the news

1 Parkman's Montcalm and Wolfe, ii. 374, Boston ed,
8 Ses John Wesley and the M ethodsst Societies, 39—40.
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of the King’'s death. He must have been encouraged when
he learned that George III, in his first speech from the throne,
had given his people the strongest assurances ‘that it was
his fixed purpose, as the best means to draw down the divine
favour on his reign, to countenance and encourage the practice
of true religion and virtue, and maintain the Toleration
inviolable.’:
1 Myles's Chronologicab History, 85.



VII
SUNSHINE AND CLOUD

IN the tenth volume of The Political History of England we
find an estimate of the influence of Methodism in England at
the time we have now reached. The volume was written by
Dr. William Hunt, a clergyman, who is well known to present-
day students of ecclesiastical and political history. Dr. Hunt
says :

Between 1760 and 1801 the national Church, the proper instrument of
national reformation, was passing through a period of transition. Its
vitality was somewhat injured by its controversy with the deists, and
still more by the action of the State. It was a powerful political engine,
and as such it was used by statesmen. Convocations remained silenced,
and Church preferments were made to serve political ends, and were
regarded both by clergy and laity as little more than desirable offices.
Clergymen begged bishoprics and deaneries of Newcastle with unblush-
ing importunity, sometimes even before the men they aspired to succeed
had even breathed their last. Neither they, nor the ministers who
treated Church patronage as a means of strengthening their party, were
necessarily careless about religion. Newcastle and Hardwicke, for
example, were religious men, and the personal piety of some preferment-
seeking bishops is unquestioned. It was a matter in which the Church
was neither better nor worse than the age. The ecclesiastical system
was disorganized by plurality and non-residence ; the dignified clergy
as a whole were worldly-minded, and the greater number of the rest
were wretchedly poor. The Church was roused to a sense of its duty to
society by Methodism and evangelicalism, two movements for a time
closely connected, though after 1784 Methodism became a force outside
the Church. By 1760 the persecution to which John Wesley and his
fellow workers had sometimes been exposed was over and Methodism
was gaining ground. It very slightly touched aristocratic society,
chiefly through the efforts of the Countess of Huntingdon, who, in
spite of her quarrel with Wesley’s party, must be regarded as one of
the leaders of the movement; its influence on the labouring class,
specially in large towns and in the mining districts, was strong, and it
gained a considerable hold on people of the middle class.?

3 The Polstical History of England, x. 264.
Gw 97
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Dr. Hunt'’s position as a clergyman of the Church of England
gives the paragraph we have quoted exceptional value. Its
importance arises from the fact that it gives us insight into
the condition of the Church of England during forty years
of the eighteenth century, and explains, to some extent,
its attitude towards Methodism. The Methodist reader will
be surprised at some of its statements. He will wonder what
Dr. Hunt means when he says, ‘ After 1784 Methodism became
a force outside the Church’; but, passing by that sentence,
he will pause at the assertion that the persecution of John
Wesley and his fellow workers ceased in 1760. It is true that
the increasing respect of English people for John Wesley led
to a gradual diminution of mob violence in his case. In the
course of years it ceased ; but, as we have said, the persecu-
tion of his ‘ fellow workers ’ continued for many years beyond
the close of the eighteenth century.

The year 1761 brought Wesley abundance of work. We
will confine our attention to its outstanding incidents. On
January 20 he visited Yarmouth, going there from Norwich.
In Norwich he had made inquiries about Yarmouth, and
had received alarming accounts of its condition. He was
told that the town was as eminent for ignorance and wicked-
ness as any seaport in England. This description attracted
him, and he determined to visit the place. But cautious
people warned him against making any attempt to preach
there. He was told that some had endeavoured to call the
people to repentance, ‘ but it was at the hazard of their lives.’
That description had no terrors for Wesley, and he determined
to go to Yarmouth. He knew that Howell Harris’s regiment
had been in the town during the previous summer, and that
Harris had preached there ‘ night after night.’ Standing in
the crowd in his ‘regimentals,” Harris was protected from
attack, none daring to make him afraid. As a consequence
of his services many people were ‘stirred up, to seek God.’
Knowing that Wesley was in Norwich, some who had been
impressed by Harris’s preaching sent an earnest request that
he would visit the town. That message determined him to
attempt the ‘ forlorn hope.” In the evening of January 2o
he preached in ‘a house’ which was ‘more than filled.’
Instead of the tumult which was expected, ‘ all were as quiet
as at London.’ The next day he preached at six o’clock in
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the morning. At eleven he preached his ‘ farewell sermon.’
At these services he saw not one who was not ‘ deeply affected * ;
but we seem to hear his sigh when he writes in his Journal,
‘Oh, fair blossoms! How many of these will bring forth
fruit unto perfection? ’ Returning to Norwich, he made an
attempt to reduce ‘the lambs at the Tabernacle to order.’
His task was lightened by the fact that many of Wheatley’s
former congregation had left the Society. He tried to persuade
himself that ‘all jealousies and misunderstandings had van-
ished,” and that the people were, at last, ‘ well knit together ’ ;
but he rejoiced with trembling when he remembered ‘ the
unparalleled fickleness of the people in those parts.” Quitting
the city, he rode to Lakenham, and preached to a large congre-
gation. Finding that no Society had been formed there, he
proceeded to remedy that serious defect. His task was
comparatively easy, for many of the people expressed their
willingness to meet in class.

John Wesley returned to London on February 7, and stayed
there until March 9. He was much encouraged by finding
that the revival that had commenced at Otley had deeply
affected many of the London members. He journeyed North,
and found that the work was spreading among the Societies
in Staffordshire. His hopes brightened. Reaching Leeds on
March 23, he met a number of the preachers in conference in
the evening and the next morning. He inquired into the
state of the Societies in Yorkshire and Lincolnshire, and his
record is: ‘I find the work of God increases on every side,
but particularly in Lincolnshire, where there has been no work
like this since the time I preached at Epworth on my father’s
tomb.” He must have felt disappointed at the absence of
Grimshaw, whom he had specially invited to attend this
conference of Yorkshire preachers. We have seen that Charles
Wesley'’s letters had made a considerable impression on him ;
but Grimshaw’s excuse for his absence was that he objected
to the wild and unscriptural views on Christian perfection
which some of the preachers held. As Wesley’s object in
holding this special conference was to correct these errors and
to give instruction which would lead the preachers into scrip-
tural views of this profound doctrine, we wonder why Grimshaw
missed this great opportunity of assisting his old friend.

On March 24, before he left Leeds for Manchester,
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John Wesley wrote a letter to Christopher Hopper. In it we
get light on two subjects. He says: ‘ My best friend (such she
undoubtedly is, in a sense) remains still in London. I do not
expect any change till theapproachofdeath. AndIamcontent.
With regard to me, all is well.” Those who are acquainted
with the history of his married life will be able to understand
his allusion. We are more particularly interested in the post-
script added to this letter. In it there is a note of alarm which
we rarely hear in Wesley’s correspondence. It awakens us to
the fact that a great peril was threatening some of the
Methodist Societies at this time. To a man whom he trusted
Wesley writes: ‘ Alas! Alas! So poor Jacob Rowell says,
““ Mr. Wesley has nothing to do with his round,” and that ““ all
the Societies in it but Barnard Castle are willing to separate.”
In God’s name, let one of you go into that round without
delay ! "

We are surprised to see that Jacob Rowell led the way in the
attack on Wesley’s right to govern the Methodist circuits and
Societies ; but it is certain that the subject was being discussed.
We shall see that in 1763 and 1766 the question was raised in
the Conference. It must be remembered that in some places
Wesley’s attempt to secure the attendance of the Methodists
at the sacramental services in the Church of England made them
restive. They would willingly have received the sacrament
from the hands of their own preachers, but they declined to
attend churches in which their presence was resented. Many
of those who attended the churches did so out of respect for
Wesley’s opinions and directions, but they hoped for the
coming of a day when they would cease to approach the
Lord’s table as unwelcomed guests. We think, however, that
Jacob Rowell’s statement that, with the exception of
Barnard Castle, all the Societies in his circuit were ‘ willing to
separate,” suggests ‘ separation from the Church of England’
rather than ceasing all connexion with Wesley and the
Methodist Societies.

On March 24 Wesley took horse early and rode to Hudders-
field, where he breakfasted with Henry Venn. We know
nothing of the subjects of their conversation, but can surmise
them. After visiting several of the Societies in Lancashire,
Wesley set out for Scotland. On April 28 he met his steadfast

1 John Wesley’s Works, xii. 289.
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friend, Christopher Hopper, in Edinburgh. They “rods - fo Lirait

Dundee, were storm-bound for a day, and then passed through
Montrose to Stonehaven. In this town they met an old friend,
Dr. Memyss, a medical man, who was to be Wesley’s host in
Aberdeen. Those who follow Wesley’s work with care often
find a quickening of their belief in Providence. If we are to
understand the reason of Wesley’s visit to Aberdeen we must
go back to Wrexham, that town in North Wales which is
distinguished by the majestic tower of its church. It was in
Wrexham that Dr. Memyss joined the Methodist Society.
About 1747 he settled in Aberdeen, and became a member of
the congregation under the charge of the Rev. John Bisset,
who is described as ‘ an evangelical minister ’ of one of the
churches of the city. In 1756 Mr. Bisset died. Being in
London, Dr. Memyss waited on John Wesley, and represented
to him the pressing need for evangelical preaching in Aberdeen.
In response to his appeal, Wesley sent Christopher Hopper to
Scotland. After forming a Society in Dundee, he went on to
Aberdeen and Peterhead, remaining in Aberdeen during the
years 1759-1760.1

John Wesley’s visit to Aberdeen must have made a deep
impression on his mind. He was accustomed to discourtesy
and assault, but in Aberdeen he was received with honour.
When he arrived on Saturday, May 2, he sent a message to the
Principal of Marischal College, Dr. George Campbell, asking
for permission to preach in the College Close. It was at once
granted. When he reached the College it began to rain, and
he was desired to go into the hall, where he preached to a large
congregation. At the early morning service the next day,
notwithstanding the continued rain, a large congregation met
him in the hall. On that Sunday he went to the kirk and heard
two useful sermons ; one was preached by Principal Campbell
and the other by the Divinity Professor, Dr. Alexander Gerard.
On that Sunday Wesley preached to a ‘ huge multitude ’ in the
College Close, and all who could hear ‘ seemed to receive the
truth in love.” After this service he met the Methodist Society,
and added about a score of members to the little company.
The next day, before noon, twenty more persons came to him
asking for admission to the Society. After these interviews,

) See Sketch of Methodism s Aberdesn, by C. D., 1901, quoted in a note in Wesley’s
Jowmnal, iv. 449.
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Aberdeen. He thought it not unlike Queen’s College, in
Oxford. As he went up to see the hall he noticed a large
company of ladies with several gentlemen. He says: ‘ They
looked and spoke to one another, after which one of the gentle-
men took courage and came to me. He said : * We came last
night to the College Close, but could not hear, and should be
extremely obliged if you would give us a short discourse here.”
I knew not what God might have to do, and so began without
delay on “ God was in Christ reconciling the world unto
Himself.” I believe the word was not lost ; it fell as dew on
the tender grass.” In the afternoon, as he was walking in the
library of the Marischal College, the Principal and the Divinity
Professor came to him. Dr. Gerard invited him to his lodgings,
and they spent a pleasant hour together. In the evening he
preached to a great crowd of eager people who were ready
‘ to trample each other underfoot ’ in their desire to hear him.
They came under the spell of his voice ; the crushing ceased ;
they listened as ‘if they would devour every word.” On
Tuesday, May 5, he accepted the Principal’s invitation, and
spent an hour with him in his house. The interview was most
friendly. Wesley was charmed with * the easy good breeding
of a man of sense and learning.” At the evening service in the
hall the Principal and all the professors were present. There
was a great crowd, and Wesley asked that all the windows
might be set open. Even then the hall was ‘as hot as a
bagnio’; but the attention of the people was fixed on the
preacher. The next day he dined at Mr. Ogilvie’s, one of the
Aberdeen ministers, and says : * A more open-hearted, friendly
man I know not that I ever saw. And, indeed, I have scarce
seen such a set of ministers in any town of Great Britain or
Ireland.” In the evening he stood once more in the College
Close and preached to an earnestly attentive congregation.
Then he summed up the result of his visit to Aberdeen in the
words : ‘I have now “ cast "’ my ‘‘ bread upon the waters "’ ;
may I “find it again after many days !’

John Wesley’s visit to Aberdeen gave him new inspiration
for his work in Scotland. As he rode towards Edinburgh he
must have felt that his store of pleasant memories had been
increased. When he reached the city, on May 9, the law of
compensation acted. He had designed to preach near the
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Infirmary on the Sunday, but was informed that some of the
managers ‘ would not suffer it.” Changing his intention, he
went on Sunday to the ‘ Room ’ in which the Methodists were
accustomed to meet, and preached there morning and evening.
His notice of the services indicates his surprise at the presence
of some of ‘ the rich and honourable ’ of the city in the congre-
gations. He bears them witness that they endured °plain
dealing,” whether they profited by it or not.

Wesley left Scotland and spent several weeks in the North
of England. We are especially interested in the important
interviews with William Grimshaw and with Henry Venn that
took place in July. They had a direct bearing on the future of
Methodism in Yorkshire. We have mentioned the fact that
Grimshaw was not present at the special conference held in
Leeds in March. He had written to John Wesley apologizing
for his non-attendance. In his letter he mentioned the two
most material points that threatened to sever his ‘ happy
relation ’ with the Methodist Connexion—' Imputed Righteous-
ness’ and ‘ Christian Perfection.” We cannot forget that in
his correspondence with Charles Wesley he had also expressed
himself strongly on the question of the severance of the
Methodists from the Church of England, and had declared his
intention of ceasing to act in union with John Wesley if he
encouraged the movement towards separation. But it would
appear from his letter to John Wesley that the doctrines of
‘imputed righteousness’ and ‘sinless perfection’ were the
most material points on which he differed from the Methodists.
A correspondence took place which ended in his being con-
vinced that, so far as John Wesley and the Conference were
concerned, their views were in harmony with his own. The
upshot was that he declared his determination to continue in
close connexion with Wesley ‘ even unto death.” So far as
his work was concerned, he stated his intention to be as useful
as he was able, or was consistent with his parochial and other
indispensable obligations, chiefly in the Haworth ‘round,’
and at times abroad.®

On Sunday, July 12, John Wesley preached in Haworth
to a great crowd. The church would not contain the people,
who had come from all parts; but Grimshaw had provided
for this difficulty. He had fixed a scaffold outside one of the

1 See Whitehead'’s Life of Wesley, ii. 291-293.
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windows, which enabled Wesley to quit the church after the
prayers had been read in the morning. The people streamed
into the churchyard and listened to the sermon. In the after-
noon the congregation was still larger. Wesley might well say:
‘ What has God wrought in the midst of those rough moun-
tains!’ The next morning he preached once more, taking
for his subject ‘ the manner of waiting for perfect love.” He
selected this subject to satisfy Grimshaw, ‘ whom many had
laboured to puzzle and perplex about it.” ‘So once more,’
he says, ‘ their bad labour was lost, and we were more united,
both in heart and judgement, than ever.” After this morning’s
service at Haworth, Wesley went to Colne, a town which was
once ‘inaccessible to the gospel.”* He preached in a yard
which could not contain the people. He expresses an opinion
that he might have preached at the Cross without the least
interruption. The next morning he preached at a place near
Haworth on ‘ Be ye perfect, as your Father which is in heaven
is perfect.” Grimshaw told him afterwards ‘ that this perfec-
tion he firmly believed and daily prayed for; namely, the
love of God and man producing all those fruits which are
“ described in our Lord’s Sermon upon the Mount.’

We must now refer to the interviews with Henry Venn,
which took place during Wesley's visit to Yorkshire. Venn'’s
ministry in Huddersfield was very successful. His church was
crowded. During the week he statedly visited the different
hamlets in his wide parish. His biographer says it was his
custom in these visitations to collect some of the inhabitants
at a private house, whom he addressed ‘ with a kindness and
earnestness which moved every heart.’ It is no wonder that
his success led him to believe that the work of the Methodists
was not needed in his parish. In previous interviews with
John Wesley he raised the subject and made suggestions which
if adopted would have ended Wesley’'s connexion with this
district in Yorkshire. We always watch Wesley with care
when he has to face such proposals when made by a friend.
With his foes he was firm; with his friends he sometimes
reveals a weakness of determination which surprises us. In
two letters to Ebenezer Blackwell, of Lewisham, he tells him
of the course and the conclusion of his interviews with Henry
Venn. Writing from Bradford on July 16, 1761, he says:

1 See John Wesley and the Advance of Methodism, 9g-106.
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Mr. Venn was so kind as to come over hither yesterday, and spend
the evening with us. I am a little embarrassed on his account, and
hardly know how to act. Several years before he came to Huddersfield,
some of our preachers went thither, carrying their lives in their hands,
and with great difficulty established a little, earnest Society. These
eagerly desire them to preach there still; not in opposition to Mr.
Venn (whom they love, esteem, and constantly attend), but
to supply what they do not find in his preaching. It is a
tender point. Where there is a gospel ministry already, we do not
desire to preach ; but whether we can leave off preaching because such
an one comes after is another question ; especially when those who were
awakened and convinced by us beg and require the continuance of our
assistance. I love peace, and follow it ; but whether I am at liberty to
purchase it at such a price I really cannot tell. ’

While writing this letter it is no wonder that Wesley’s
thoughts turned towards his old friend Samuel Walker, with
whom he had discussed the question of the removal of the
preachers from some of the Cornish towns. He mentions him
in his letter to Blackwell, and expresses his sorrow at the news
that he is near death. He soon heard that Walker had died
at Blackheath on July 19, and he sorrowed at the thought that
when there was so great a want of faithful labourers such a
man should be removed.

The final result of the conversations with Venn is given by
Wesley in a letter to Blackwell dated August 15, 1761. He
says: ‘Mr. Venn and I have had some hours’ conversation
together, and have explained upon every article. I believe
there is no bone of contention remaining, no matter of offence,
great or small. Indeed, fresh matter will arise, if it be sought ;
but it shall not be sought by me. We have amicably com-
promised the affair to preaching. He is well pleased that the
preachers should come once a month.”: Wesley was satisfied
with the arrangement; but compromises seldom end such
debatable matters. We look forward a few years. In 1771
Henry Venn accepted the rectory of Yelling, in Hunting-
donshire. What effect did his departure from Huddersfield
produce? His biographer shall give the reply.

After Mr. Venn left Huddersfield, the people who had profited by his
preaching were repelled from the parish church by discourses which
formed a marked contrast to those they had lately heard within the
same walls ; so that they were dispersed in various directions, some to
neighbouring churches, some to dissenting chapels. Several of them

1 For letters to Blackwell, see Wesley's Works, xii. 174-175, 8vo ed.
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at length determined upon building a chapel, in the hope that they
might be united together in one body, under a pastor of their own choice.
Mr. Venn gave his sanction and assistance to this plan, and advised the
people to attend the chapel after it was built. It was his first hope that
the Liturgy would be used in the new chapel at Huddersfield. Writing
to a friend, he says, ‘ You, and all the people, know how I love the
Liturgy, and would a thousand times prefer it to any other way of
worship.” But in this, and in many more important respects, his
expectations were disappointed. In a short time, also, another vicar
came to the living, from whose instructions he would never have wished
his people to secede; but few, comparatively, returned to the parish
church.?

On August 22 John Wesley returned to London, having
been absent from the city since March 9. He spent a fortnight
there, and then went to Bristol. During his brief stay in
London he must have seen that the Societies there needed his
special care. He tells us that during this visit he had to
guard ‘both the preachers and people against running into
extremes on the one hand or the other.” It is clear, from
Myles’s explanation, that these ‘extremes’ related to the
revival of the great doctrine of ‘ Christian Perfection.” He
says that they were: ‘ (1) Despising this work altogether, on
account of the extravagancies of some who were engaged in it.
(2) Justifying all those extravagancies, as if they were essential
to it.”* In this balanced statement we see a revelation of
Wesley’'s own attitude towards the revival. Wesley says, in
another place, ‘ The work of God was swiftly increasing.
Meantime the enemy was not wanting in his endeavours to
sow fares among the good seed. I saw this clearly, but durst
not use violence, lest in plucking up the fares I should root up
the wheat also.” He had an opportunity of counselling the
preachers at the Conference which assembled in London on
Tuesday, September 1. The Minutes of this Conference seem
to have been taken by Thomas Johnson and John Jones, but
both versions are lost. From other sources we find that White-
field and other clergymen attended on several occasions, but
Charles Wesley was not present. In 1761 he was in a very
unsatisfactory state of health. He was laid aside from his
public work, and had to retire to Bath and seek restoration
there. From a casual reference to the business of the Con-
ference contained in a letter to him, written by John Wesley

! Life of Henry Venn, edited by the Rev. Heury Venn, B.D., 168.
8 Myles’s Chronological History, 86, fourth ed.




SUNSHINE AND CLOUD 107

on September 8, we judge that the question of the relation of
the Methodists to the Church of England was once more con-
sidered. The letter contained the following paragraph: ‘I
do not at all think, to tell you a secret, that the work will ever
be destroyed, Church or no Church. What has been done to
prevent the Methodists leaving the Church you will see in the
Minutes of the Conference. I told you before with regard to
Norwich, dixi. I have done at the last Conference all I can
or dare do. Allow me liberty of conscience, as I allow you.”*

After a visit to Bristol and the Societies in the neigh-
bourhood John Wesley returned to London on October
31. We read the records of his visit to the West with interest.
In Bristol he had the satisfaction to observe ‘a considerable
increase of the work of God.” The congregations were exceed-
ingly large. Glancing over the year’s work, he says: ‘It
seems God was pleased to pour out His Spirit this year on
every part both of England and Ireland, perhapsin a manner we
have never seen before, certainly not for twenty years.” It
must have cheered him, during his visits to Kingswood, to find
both the Society and the school ‘in a flourishing state.” As
to the school, his long patience at last was being rewarded.

At the beginning of November Wesley faced the difficulties
that were springing up in the London Societies. He began a
course of sermons at the early morning services on Monday,
November 2; and on Monday, December 21, he retired to
Lewisham and wrote Farther Thoughts on Christian Perfection.
The pathetic entry in his Jowrnal must have been written some
time after 1761. It is as follows: ‘ Had the cautions given
herein been observed, how much scandal had been prevented !
And why were they not? Because my own familiar friend was
even now forming a party against me.” On December 29
there is an entry in the Journal that prolongs this doleful note.
He says: ‘In order to remove some misunderstandings, I
desired all parties concerned to meet me. They did so, all
but Thomas Maxfield, who flatly refused to come. Is this only
the first step towards a separation? Alas for the man! Alas
for the people ! ° Wesley, when the meeting was over, wrote the
words we have now quoted from his Journal. They were
written with great sorrow of heart, and with a consciousness
of approaching danger.

! John Wesley’s Journal, iv. 476-477 ; Jackson's Lsfe of Charles Wesley, ii. 197.



VIII
A VISIT TO IRELAND

THE year 1762 was long remembered in England. It marks
the close of the ‘SEVEN YEARS' WAR. The year began
with an event which seemed to suggest that the struggle
might be long continued ; but, as a fact, that event tended
to shorten it. Spain, entering into an alliance with France,
invaded Portugal, a country that was in close alliance with
Great Britain. But a counter-stroke was delivered that did
much to end the war. The English fleet sailed to the West,
and harried the Spanish possessions in America. The attack
was so successful that France wearied of the war. In November
the plenipotentiaries of England, France, and Spain met and
agreed on preliminaries of peace. Parkman, stating the
essential points of the arrangement, says :

France ceded to Great Britain Canada and all her position on the
North American continent east of the River Mississippi, except the city
of New Orleans and a small adjacent district. She renounced her
claims to Acadia, and gave up to the conqueror the island of Cape
Breton, with all other islands in the Gulf and River of St. Lawrence.
Spain received back Havana, and paid for it by the cession of Florida,
with all her other possessions east of the Mississippi. . . . In the West
Indies, England restored the captured islands of Guadeloupe, Mariga-
lante, Desirade and Martinique, and France ceded Grenada and the
Grenadines, while it was agreed that of the so-called neutral islands,
St. Vincent, Dominica, and Tobago should belong to England, and St.
Lucia to France. In Europe France restored Minorca and England
restored Belleisle ; France gave up such parts of Hanoverian territory
as she had occupied, and evacuated certain fortresses belonging to
Prussia, pledging herself at the same time to demolish, under the
inspection of English engineers, her own maritime fortress of Dunkirk.
In Africa France ceded Senegal, and received back the small island of
Gorée. In India she lost everything she had gained since the peace of
Aix-la-Chapelle ; recovered certain trading stations, but renounced the
right of building forts or maintaining troops in Bengal.

On the day when the preliminaries were signed, France made a secret
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agreement with Spain, by which she divested herself of the last shred of
her possessions on the North American continent. As compensation
for Florida, which her luckless ally had lost in her quarrel, she made over
to the Spanish Crown the city of New Orleans, and under the name of
Louisiana gave her the vast region spreading westward from the
Mississippi towards the Pacific.?

These preliminaries were embodied in the definitive treaty
concluded at Paris on February 10, 1763. When reading them
we seem to be watching the unveiling of a new world. We
think of General Oglethorpe in Georgia and his troubles with
the Spaniards in Florida. Then we recall the stories of the
results of his absence from Savannah when his presence there
might have prevented much of the mischief that befell John
Wesley. But these recollections become dim as we look out
upon the immense wildernesses that spread westward to the
Mississippi. Then even that vision fades as we remember the
fact that soon the western boundary of the country occupied
by the emigrants from Europe will be the waves of the Pacific.
It is impossible to realize the vastness of the country that came
into the possession of Great Britain as the result of the Treaty
of Paris. Still less can we understand its vastness at the
present time. Professor Pollard has tried to assist us. He
says: ‘The area of U.S., excluding Alaska and overseas
possessions, is over three million square miles. The density of
England’s population is 700 per square mile. If the United
States became as populous, it would contain over 2,000 million
people ; more than the present population of the world.”* And
this great country was soon to become a mission-field in
which Methodism has won some of its most remarkable
victories.

John Wesley, little dreaming of what awaited his preachers
and Societies in America, went on steadily with his work. On
Friday, January 1, 1762, a great meeting of the Societies in
London was held in the Spitalfields Chapel. Nearly two
thousand members were present at the Covenant Service. We
note that in the administration of the sacrament Wesley was
assisted by John Berridge, the Vicar of Everton, Thomas Max-
field, who had been ordained by Dr. Barnard, the Bishop of
Londonderry, and Benjamin Colley. Benjamin Colley was a

1 Parkman’s Montcalm and Wolfe, ii. 405-406, Boston ed.
2 Factors in American History, 2, note.
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Yorkshireman, whohad united himself to the Methodists in 1761.
He alsohad received episcopalordinationand had been invited by
WesleytoLondon, wherehe officiated asa clergymanin the Metho-
dist chapels. Wesley rejoiced at the assistance he received at
this service from three ordained men.* On January 12 he
reached Norwich, and four days later he transcribed the names
of the members of the Methodist Society in that city. His
record should be considered. Hesays: ‘ Two hundred of them
I made no account of, as they meet no class. About four
hundred remained, half of whom appeared to be in earnest.’
Norwich was still his difficulty, but that place did not stand
alone. Returning to London, he was confronted by the danger
that was causing anxiety to many of the most reliable members
there. On February 5, as was his custom, he met at noon
‘ those who believed they were saved from sin.” On this
occasion he found it necessary to warn them ‘ of the enthusiasm
which was breaking in, by means of two or three weak though
good men, who, from a misconstrued text in the Revelation,
inferred that they should not die.” His record of this ‘ warning’
deepens our regret that at this time it was necessary for
him to be so frequently absent from London. Mischief was
working in the Societies there which was soon to reveal itself
in a startling manner. But, when he had finished transcribing
the list of the members in the London Society, we find him
enjoying the sunshine of a pleasant fact. When he had finished
the list he says: ‘It never came up before to two thousand
four hundred: now it contains above two thousand and
seven hundred members.’

On March 12 the National Fast was observed all over London
with great solemnity. Wesley took part in the services of the
day, being convinced that ‘ even the outward humiliation of
a nation may be rewarded with outward blessings.” Three
days later, ‘ not without regret,’ he left London and commenced
his prolonged journeys through the country Societies. He did
not return until August 19. When he came back he had to
make this discouraging entry in his Jowrnal: ‘As 1
expected, the sower of tares had not been idle during my five
months’ absence.’

On April 3 John Wesley sailed from Parkgate for Ireland, on
board the Nonpareil, a ship commanded by Captain Jordan,

1 Atmore’s Methodist Memorial, 78 ; Wesley’s Journal, iv. 482, note.
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whom he knew. We can understand his regret at leaving
London, but we must remember that Ireland called for special
attention at this time. He had not been there for nearly two
years ; and, from the accounts he had received, certain matters
in some of the circuits there demanded his personal attention.
On April 4 he landed at Dunleary and preached in Dublin
in the evening.* His visit to Dublin cheered him. Whatever
may have happened in other parts of Ireland, Dublin
Methodism was in a state of spiritual prosperity. It was
Eastertide. The congregations throughout the week were
‘ uncommon,’ and the visitation of the classes brought Wesley
great comfort. On Sunday, April 18, the Journal entry is:
‘ As often as I have been here I never saw the house thoroughly
filled before.” The next day he left Dublin, looking back with
satisfaction on the days he had spent there.

As we follow Wesley in his visitation of the Societies in
Ireland, we find that the reports which had reached him and
caused him anxiety were, in some cases, justified. Arriving in
Newry, on April 19, he found that ‘ offences ' had broken the
Society in pieces, and only thirty-two members were left out of
nearly a hundred. When he came to Carrickfergus the congre-
gation was small. The violent rain kept away the delicate and
curious hearers. Departing from his usual custom, he delayed
the early morning service till a quarter before nine o’clock.
But his experiment failed. The time fixed was too early for
‘a great part of the town, who could not possibly arise before
ten.” At Newtownards he found another ‘ poor shattered
Society,’ reduced from fifty to eighteen members. But he faced
the difficulties there ; and when he said ‘ farewell * he rejoiced
to know that the Society had been increased in number. He
left between thirty and forty members ‘ full of desire and
hope and earnest resolutions not to be almost, but altogether,
Christians.” Later in his visit to Ireland he went to ‘ poor
dead Portarlington.” His explanation of the condition of the
people in that place throws light on the weakness of some of
the Societies in Ireland at that time. He says: ‘ And no
wonder it should be so while the preachers coop themselves
up in a room with twenty or thirty hearers.’ He set them an

1 In Wesley's Journal, at this point, a record of William Grimshaw's death is
inserted. It commences with the words, ‘ It was at this time that Mr. Grimshaw fell

asleep.’ It contains a long description of Grimshaw’s work and character. Itis difficult
to account for Wesley's mistake. Grimshaw died a year later, on April 7, 1763.
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example. He went straight to the market-place, and there
cried aloud : ‘ Hearken! Behold a sower went forth to sow.’
His action had an immediate effect. On Sunday, July 18, at
the five o’clock morning service, the room was crowded. At
eight o’clock he went into the market-place and preached on
the appropriate text : ‘ How shall I give thee up, Ephraim? ’
The people listened with ‘ solemn attention.’

The inspiration of Wesley’s example was needed in Ireland
at that time. In 1762 the country was in a very disturbed
condition. It must be remembered that the Methodists began
their mission in what may be called the Roman Catholic section
of the island. They had to stand the brunt of the fierce
assaults of Roman Catholic and Protestant mobs. Shortly
before the stage we have reached, events occurred which must
have led to an increase of their danger. In Munster, the
largest province of Ireland, which contains the six counties of
Clare, Cork, Kerry, Limerick, Tipperary and Waterford, wild
excitement prevailed. A peasant association, known by the
name of the ‘ Whiteboys,” had been formed, which continued
to disturb the country for many years. In 1762 acts of great
cruelty and outrage were committed, and the Government
appointed a special commission for the trial of members of this
association. A strong attempt was made to repress its pro-
ceedings ; but the attempt had only a partial success. The
influence of the example of the Whiteboys lasted through many
sorrowful years, as those who have followed the fortunes and
misfortunes of Ireland with sympathy know full well.

In John Wesley’s Journal we have an account of the
‘ Whiteboy ’ movement in its earliest stage. It enables us to
understand its influence in Munster, and to draw our conclusions
as to its effects on the Methodist work in the south-west of
Ireland. On Monday, June 14, 1762, Wesley was in Cork, and
procured ‘ an exact account of the late commotions.” Hesays:

About the beginning of December last, a few men met by night near
Nenagh, in the county of Limerick, and threw down the fences of some
commons, which had been lately enclosed. Near the same time others
met in the county of Tipperary, of Waterford, and of Cork. As no one
offered to suppress or hinder them, they increased in number continually
and called themselves Whiteboys, wearing white cockades and white
linen frocks. In February there were five or six parties of them, two
or three hundred men in each, who moved up and down, chiefly in the
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night; but for what end did not appear. Only they levelled a few
fences, dug up some grounds, and hamstrung some cattle, perhaps
fifty or sixty in all. One body of them came into Clogheen, of about
five hundred foot and two hundred horse. They moved as exactly as
regular troops, and appeared to be thoroughly disciplined. They now
sent letters to several gentlemen, threatening to pull down their houses.
They compelled every one they met to take an oath to be true to Queen
Sive and the Whiteboys ; not to reveal their secrets ; and to join them
when called upon.! It was supposed eight or ten thousand were now
actually risen, many of them well armed, and that a far greater number
were ready to rise whenever they should be called upon. Those who
refused to swear they threatened to bury alive. Two or three they did
bury up to the neck, and left them where they must quickly have
perished had they not been found in time by some travelling by. At
length, toward Easter, a body of troops, chiefly light horse, were sent
against them. Many were apprehended and committed to jail; the
rest of them disappeared. This is the plain, naked fact, which has been
so variously represented.*

There can be no doubt that the terror created by the White-
boys in Munster affected other parts of Ireland. On April 27
Wesley preached at Clonmain, in the north of Ireland.
Two days later he rode to Monaghan. Describing his experi-
ences in that tour, he says that the commotions in Munster
had alarmed all Ireland. Then he describes his adventure in
Monaghan. Hardly had he and his companions alighted from
their horses when some who saw them hastened to the provost
and informed him that three ‘ strange sort of men ’ had come
to the King’s Arms. In a hurry the provost summoned his
officers and hastened with them to the inn. Wesley was just
coming out of the door ; but the provost ordered him back into
the house. Then he was subjected to a severe examination,
and matters began to look serious. But he remembered that
he had with him two letters he had lately received, one from
Dr. Barnard, the Bishop of Londonderry, and the other from
the Earl of Moira. The provost read them carefully; then
he apologized for the trouble he had given, and wished Wesley
a good journey. Wesley was amused at the incident ; but if
he had not kept the letters he and his companions might have
had to spend some time in prison.

Notwithstanding the disturbed condition of the country,
Wesley continued his work. In some places he found reasons

1 In a note in Wesley’s Journal, iv. 507, it is explained that Sive Oulteagh was the
assumed name of the Whiteboys’ chieftain.
3 Wesley’s Journal, iv. 507-508.
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for regret ; in others, he was made glad by the signs of steady
prosperity. It is only necessary that we should indicate two
places in which he met with great encouragement during this
visit. On Saturday, May 29, he rode to Limerick. The next
day he preached in ‘the old camp.’ He tells us that the
pleasantness of the place, the calmness of the evening, and the
convenient distance from the town, all conspired to draw the
people together. They flocked from every quarter. At this
service many military officers as well as abundance of soldiers
were present and behaved with the utmost decency. On the
following evenings he preached at the same place. He says
that he did so, in great measure, for the sake of the soldiers,
it being within a musket-shot of the place where they were
exercising. On two of the evenings an officer ordered a large
body of soldiers to exercise on the very spot ; but when Wesley
began his services the troops were ordered to lay down their
arms. They then joined the rest of the congregation. The
soldiers in Ireland were Wesley's steadfast friends. When he
saw them in the crowds in hostile neighbourhoods he knew that
he was safe from the adversaries who glowered at him from
a distance.?

It was during this visit to Limerick that Wesley went, on
June 4, to Ballingarrane and preached to a large congregatlon,
chiefly of Palatines. The next morning and evening he
preached to Palatines at Newmarket. He says of them:
‘ These have quite a different look from the natives of the
country, as well as a different temper. They are a serious
thinking people, and their diligence turns all their land into a
garden.” We look in vain for some reference to Philip Embury
and Barbara Heck in this notice of the visit to Ballingarrane.
We are indebted to Mr. Crookshank for his record of the fact
that, before Wesley left Limerick, he stated to the Society that
if they would procure a suitable site for building a preaching-
house, and send him word, he would return and spend four
days with them. They took up the matter at once. They
secured a piece of ground, near the old court-house, which was
in all respects suitable. True to his promise, he returned at
the end of June, met the Society, and inquired what each one

! On Sunday, May 2, when he preached morning and evening in the market-house
at Sligo, his note is : ’Abundance of the dragonns were there; so were many of the
officers, who behaved with uncommon seriousness.’
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was willing to contribute. In response a considerable sum was
subscribed, and the much-needed ‘house’ was afterwards
erected.*

On July 24 Wesley returned to Dublin, and a few days
afterwards held a Conference there. In his Journal there
is no record of its proceedings ; but, by the aid of Mr. Crook-
shank, we get information concerning some of those who
attended its sessions. He quotes certain notes from a diary
kept by Mr. Garrett, a well-known member of the Dublin
Society, which enables us to name some of the preachers who
were present. Mr. Garrett says: ‘ July 28.—Have had a
good time of it since Mr. Wesley and the preachers came
among us. 29.—Last night was a watch-night, when we had
nine or ten preachers, the greatest number that I remember
to have seen at one time—Messrs. J. Wesley, Manners, Kead,
Swindells, Deaves, Davis, Roberts, Guilford, Lee, and Harris.’*
Mr. Crookshank considers that these names represent nearly,
if not all, the preachers then in Ireland. Glancing over them,
we have some difficulty in understanding the abandonment
of open-air preaching in some parts of Ireland. Excluding
Wesley from our calculation, we find nine names of lay preachers
who are fairly well known to those who have made a study of
early Methodism. We may deduct from the list James
Deaves, who ‘ retired from the work ’ in 1768, and Mark Davis
and William Harris, who left in 1769. But all the rest died
in the work. When we look at their names we feel that we
are in the presence of heroic men, who, in the cause of their
Master, feared no foe. We wish that we could induce modern
Methodists to read The Lives of Early Methodist Preachers.*
Tennyson in one of his holiday homes spent hours in reading
these books. We unhesitatingly advise our readers to follow
his example. If we are asking too much, then we appeal to a
lover of the Yorkshire dales to put the fourth volume of the
series into his knapsack and make his way to Nidderdale.
Standing on the bridge at Pateley in the summer sunshine,
let him read the story of the assaults on Thomas Lee by the
mob that was usually led by a paid captain and, in his absence,
sometimes by the minister of the parish. After describing the
beginning of the assault on himself, during which he had been

1 Crookshank’s History of Methodism, i, 160-161. 8 Ibid., i. 165.
3 Now issued as Weslsy's Veterans.
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thrown over the bridge into the river, Thomas Lee continues :

My wife, with some friends, now came up. Seeing her busy about me,
some asked, ‘ What | are you a Methodist ? * gave her several blows,
which made her bleed at the mouth, and swore they would put her into
the river. All this time I lay upon the ground, the mob being undeter-
mined what to do. Some cried out, ‘ Make an end of him !’ Others
were for sparing my life : but the dispute was cut short by their agree-
ing to put some others into the water. So they took them away, leaving
me and my wife together. She endeavoured to raise me up; but,
having no strength, I dropped down to the ground again. She got me
up again, and supported me about an hundred yards; then I was set
on horseback, and made a shift to ride softly, as far as Michael Granger’s
house. Here I was stripped from head to foot, and was washed. I
left my wet clothes here, and rode to Greenhow Hill, where many were
waiting for me; and, though much bruised and very weak, preached
a short sermon, from Psalm xxxiv. 19: ‘ Many are the afflictions of
the righteous : but the Lord delivereth him out of them all.’s

Thomas Lee may be taken as a type of most of the Methodist
preachers of that day, and his courage is indisputable. He
was present at the Dublin Conference of 1762. We expect
that a conversation took place on the subject of open-air
preaching, and we may be sure that his opinions would be
in favour of Wesley’s protest against the ‘ cooping up ’ of the
preachers in the ‘ rooms ’ that were being multiplied in Ireland.
We will dismiss the suspicion of waning courage, and will look
in another direction for an explanation of the cause of the
diminution of out-door preaching in Ireland.

In the fourth edition of Myles's Chronological History of
the People called Methodists there is a list of ‘chapels’ in
England, Wales, Scotland, and Ireland. It gives us much-
needed insight into a subject on which we still need more
light. It enables us to trace the progress of Methodism, in
respect of chapel-building, to the year 1812. Its compilation
cost Myles much trouble. He does not pretend that the
list is complete. Those who have paid special attention to
the subject will sympathize with him in his failure to obtain
all the information he desired. But the value of his patient
work cannot be disputed. At this point we will attempt to
ascertain the number of Methodist preaching-houses built or
acquired in England and Ireland up to the year 1769. There
were ninety in England and sixteen in Ireland. We must

Y Early Methodist Preachers, iv. 158-159 ; Arminsan Magasine, 1780, 30.
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remember that an ever-increasing number of the chapels in
England were registered under the provisions of the Act of
Toleration. But that Act did not apply to Ireland; the pro-
tection of the Act of Toleration did not extend to chapels
built in that country. We have also seen that protection
was granted in England to preachers who, on certain con-
ditions, took out licences which could be produced in the case
of threatened assaults. In Ireland that resource was not
available. We<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>